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THE ADMINISTRATION OF THE BURGH OF GLASGOW, 1574-1586
SUMMARY

This thesis is concerned primarily with the activities of the
local civil administration in the burgh of Glasgow between 1574 and
1586. The choice of these years is determined by the nature of the
surviving records of the burgh as it is not until the extant minutes
of the court and council begin in January 1574 that a detailed study of
that administration becomes possible. For twelve years these records
maintain an unbroken run and there is the added bonus that they include
ten sets of common good accounts. After 1586 there are several gaps in
the minutes, while the next set of accounts to survive are those of
1605-1606.

All this is not to say that this work adheres rigidly to the topic
of administration or to the period 1574-86. Political, social and
economic questions are addressed and information is drawn from both the
earlier and later periods of Glasgow's development. Equally, while the
emphasis is upon the work of the magistrates and council of the burgh,
the role of the crown as ultimate superior, of the archbishops of
Glasgow as immediate superiors, of the regality officials, the university
and the kirk session are discussed so as to present as clear a picture
as possible of the administration of late sixteenth century Glasgow in

all its aspects.

In order to place the main period in context the opening chapter
discusses the general development of the burgh from its foundation in
the late twelfth century up until the 1570s, special attention being
paid to the early evolution of the administration and to the impact of
the Reformation. The remaining chapters deal in detail with the civil
administration of the burgh of Glasgow during the late sixteenth century,
with particular reference to the period 1574-86, in an attempt to assess
how that administration was organised, the scope of its activities and
its effectiveness in the face of a variety of political, social and

economic pressures.

The civil local authority functioned on three interrelated levels:

the judicial, the legislative and the executive. The burgh court
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represented the first of these and was central to the administration,
having probably been in existence since the inception of the burgh.
Through it the national law of the land was dispensed as also those
bye-laws or statutes promulgated by the burgh's legislature, the
council. Both court and council were served by a variety of executive
officials the most senior of whom were the provost, the bailies, the
clerk, the treasurer and the master of work. Councillors and officials
alike were drawn from the burgess class which possibly represented at
most about a quarter of the town's population and, as influence was
dependent on wealth, these men tended to be merchants. The
administration of Glasgow (in common with that of other burghs) was
thus a merchant-dominated oligarchy and close analysis of the elections
and appointments effected during the 1570s and 1580s shows that this
privileged and influential circle was itself dominated by an inner

group of men who were seldom out of office.

Yet the range of activities undertaken by the civil administration
shows that however oligarchic it was in composition it was not
neglectful of its duty to manage the burgh efficiently for the common
good not just of the burgesses but of the community as a whole. Such
evidence as there is with respect to conditions in the burgh suggests
that during the years which followed the cessation of the civil war,
Glasgow's markets flourished, its population grew and the built-up
area of the town expanded. Inevitably this placed several strains on
the magistracy and council, as evidenced by the plethora of minor
officials who were authorised to act under delegated powers in a
variety of fields of government. Examination of the council's
legislation shows a preoccupation with protecting the burgh's economic
resources (its markets and its lands) but also a considerable interest
in public health. Elsewhere the minutes and other documentation
reveal that the civil authorities were concerned that adequate provision
should be made for education, while the common good accounts record an
earnest desire to improve the overall amenity of the burgh through an
extensive programme of public works. If an awareness of the need for
social welfare was lacking this was only in keeping with the views
which were then prevalent, though it must be conceded that the

magistracy and council did not go as far in this sphere as they could
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have done, choosing instead to leave poor relief administration to the
kirk session and preferring to avoid the introduction of a compulsory

poor rate for fear of alienating the burgess community.

Just as the oligarchic nature of the civil local authority did
not result in an abdication of responsibilities, neither did it lead
to a high-handed or autocratic approach to governance. The magistrates
and council fully appreciated the need to maintain the co-operation of
the burgess community, particularly since it was sometimes necessary
to tax that group so as to augment the limited funds available from
the common good, the administration's financial base. Friction could
arise from time to time between the authorities and the burgess
community over such matters as the level of burgess admission fines or
astriction to the town's mills, but almost invariably the administration
responded to the burgesses' criticism. Indeed one of the most notable
features of the late sixteenth century period, the accretion of power
to the ruling elite at the expense of the burgess community (effected
through the phasing out of such burgess assemblies as the head courts
and the courts of perambulation), was achieved without upsetting the
essential understanding between the oligarchy and the burgess class,
the authorities ensuring that the craft deacons and the community were
still consulted when necessary. By involving the craft deacons ir the
decision-making process the merchant-dominated oligarchy also succeeded
in lessening the possibility of hostility breaking out within the
burgess community between the craftsmen and the less numerous but more
wealthy and hence more influential merchants. Such tension undoubtedly
existed but generally these two groups lived and worked together in
harmony. - It was only towards the close of the century that the
craftsmen, exasperated by the authorities' pricing policies, began
seriously to prosecute their ambitions for a greater say in the running

of the burgh.

Local political issues of this sort then were of little éccount
during the 1570s and 1580s. Instead the dominating features of burgh
politics in these two decadeswere the steady erosion of the archbishops'
authority as immediate superiors of the burgh and the equally steady
increase in the interest shown in the burgh's affairs by central

government. After archbishop Beaton's precipitant flight at the
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Reformation the crown had exercised its rights as ultimate superior

and notwithstanding the consolidatinn of episcopacy and the appointment
of James Boyd to the see of Glasgow in 1573, the government (no doubt
aware of Glasgow's strategic importance made manifest during the civil
war) determined to maintain a close watch on the town's affairs.
Consequently it was the regent Morton who chose Robert Lord Boyd to be
provost in 1573 and until 1578 Glasgow was ruled by provost Boyd and
his protégé Thomas Crawford of Jordanhill. Both men ostensibly served
the archbishop but he had no real say in their appointment; instead
Boyd and Crawford acted as the regent's agents in the burgh. Boyd
indeed was prepared to cultivate the burgesses' aspirations for a
greater say in the election of the town's bailies as a means of keeping
the authority of the archbishop, his nephew, in check. The palace
revolution of 1578 which brought about a temporary diminution of the
regent's powers precipitated Lord Boyd's removal from influence in the
burgh and the resurgence of the Lennox family which had enjoyed a
pre-eminent position in burgh affairs during the 1560s. Again,
archbishop Boyd had no choice but to accept the crown's nomination of
Robert earl of Lennox to the provostship in 1578 and 1579 and the
appointment of the king's favourite, Esmé earl of Lennox to that post

in 1580. Relations between the government and the kirk were already
strained when, in August 1581, the crown appointed Mr Robert Montgomery
to the see of Glasgow in succession to James Boyd, without reference to
the General Assembly. This choice was particularly obnoxious to the
kirk and provoked a confrontation between church and state.
Montgomery's failure to obtain consecration to the see and his eventual
excommunication ensured the eclipse of the archbishops' powers of
superiority and these were not restored until the first decade of the
seventeenth century. However the community was unable to take
advantage of this situation to press home its own ambitions with
respect to the election of the burgh's bailies, as the power vacuum thus
created was immediately filled by the crown, if anything even more
anxious than before to keep the burgh, which during the Montgomery

affair had become the focus of a national crisis, under close scrutiny.

From the point of view of the burgh's administration, earl Esmé's

policies were divisive. Determined to obtain a magistracy and council



compliant to his wishes he conducted a purge of the administration

in 1580, thereby (with the same finesse as was to be seen in his
conduct of national affairs) creating the nucleus of an opposition
group. These men came to associate with the presbyterians hostile to
archbishop Montgomery and for three years the administration was split
by rival factions vying for control of the burgh, an even more
comprehensive purge of the magistracy and council being carried out by
the presbyterians when they gained power in 1582 under provost Sir
Matthew Stewart of Minto following the Ruthven revolution. Although
the administration of the burgh did not break down, the factionalism
of this period inevitably affected the quality of governance and this
is borne out by an examination of the records. Stability in the
kingdom was restored under Arran's government and in the burgh by the
provosts who served that regime, John earl of Montrose and Sir William
Livingstone of Kilsyth. Under these men a balanced administration
representing a cross section of moderate opinion was re-established
with the result that, notwithstanding the coup of 1585 which saw the
fall of Arran, Glasgow politics would not again be subjected to divisive

factionalism until the opening years of the seventeenth century.

}he administration's recovery in the mid-1580s was well-timed for
it coincided with the beginning of a succession of harvest failures
with their attendant economic and social problems, most notably
escalating food prices and a sharp increase in the number of people
seeking assistance in the burgh. Setting aside the fact that the civil
authorities could have done more with respect to relieving the plight
of the poor, it is fair to say that the magistrates and council,
through their policy of holding down price increases irrespective of
the opposition this would engender among the craftsmen, adopted an
approach to this crisis which probably provided more constructive help
to the needy than even that which would have been derived from a
compulsory poor rate. Whatever the case, they succeeded (so far as
can be gathered from the records) in defusing a potentially explosive
situation, the repercussions of which could have been far greater than
the actual resultant tension between the merchant-dominated oligarchy
and the craftsmen. That merely resulted, albeit after some

difficulties, in the redistribution of influence within the burgess
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community which was effected under the Letter of Guildry of 1605
whereby the leading craftsmen achieved a more equal status with their
merchant brethren. The alternative could have been mass starvation,

food riots and widespread social upheaval.

The economic vicissitudes of the late 1580s and 1590s also placed
strains on the burgh's common good, the largest part of which was
derived from the customs of the ladle and the mill which were both
dependent on the maintenance of good supplies of grain. Accounts only
survive for the period 1573-85 but these indicate that the authorities
were fairly astute in their financial management; for, notwithstanding
the inherent inflexibility of this financial base, overall income from
the common good was increased during these years. Thereafter it is
less easy to determine how the common good performed but such evidence
as there is suggests that the magistrates and council by fore-mailing
the ladle and mill customs were able to protect if not slightly augment

the value of their financial base in the face of inflation.

To conclude, the available records indicate that the civil
administration of late sixteenth century Glasgow, though oligarchic in
its cémposition, was wide-ranging in its activities and genuinely
attempted to serve the best interests of the community as a whole. In
its routine management it was by and large efficient and effective,
notwithstanding a variety of political pressures, in particular the
factionalism of the early 1580s, and the severe economic and social

problems with which it was faced from the mid-1580s onwards.

X1i



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was six years in the making and throughout that period
I received help, direct and indirect, from many friends, colleagues
and associates too numerous to mention here. If I have failed to name
each one individually in the acknowledgements which follow my gratitude

to those who remain anonymous remains no less great.

I first became interested in the late sixteenth century period of
Glasgow's development during my time as an archivist with Strathclyde
Regional Archives and I owe a considerable debt to the staff of that
office. In particular Mr Richard Dell (Principal Archivist) gave me
special access rights after normal office hours which greatly eased
the problems of part-time study, while Mr Andrew Jackson (Deputy
Principal Archivist) allowed me sight of his unpublished work on the
pre-Reformation provosts of Glasgow and during many conversations
suggested several approaches to the topic of study which I had
undertaken. The staff at Glasgow University Archives, Glasgow
University Library, the Mitchell Library in Glasgow and the Scottish

Record Office in Edinburgh were also unfailingly courteous and helpful.

Overall guidance and encouragement was provided by my two
supervisors at the Department of Scottish History of the University of
Glasgow, namely Professor Ian B Cowan and Dr James Kirk. With their
help I trust I have produced a work of some merit; certainly without
their specialised knowledge of late sixteenth century Scotland (and in
particular of the ramifications of post-Reformation church affairs) I
would surely have perpetrated several errors of fact and interpretation.
These I hope I have avoided and accordingly my sincere thanks goes to

my supervisors for their patient instruction.

A special thanks must also go to Emeritus Professor S G E Lythe
of the University of Strathclyde who gave me good advice and provided
me with the details of Scottish commodity prices of the second half of
the sixteenth century which appear in Appendix 4.4 of this work. I
trust that the conclusions which I have drawn from these data with

respect to price movements in Glasgow do justice to his generosity.

xiii



Lastly I should like to acknowledge my gratitude to the team of
indomitable typists who had the enormous task of deciphering my
extensive manuscript and producing the excellently laid out typescript
which appears in these two volumes. If half of the success in
submitting a thesis lies in the presentation of that work then I am
doubly grateful to Mrs Sheila Macmillan, Miss Rowan Mackenzie,

Mrs Alice Macpherson, Mrs Cathy Smith and Mrs Gillian Tooth, all of
the University of Strathclyde.

James S McGrath
Archivist, University of Strathclyde
30 June 1986

X1v



FOREWORD

In a recent article for Scottish Economic and Social History,*

Michael Lynch commented that '1660 has for some time been the virtual
frontier of Scottish economic and social history' and that studies of
the early modern town have 'scarcely reached the currency of Scottish

historiography'. The same author's Edinburgh and the Reformation is

a significant move towards redressing this situation. There are of

course several other important works which examine medieval and early
modern Scottish burghs, among them W.C. Dickinson's Early Records of
the Burgh of Aberdeen, 1317 and 1398-1407 and G.S. Pryde's Ayr Burgh

Accounts, 1534-1624, while two more general works are W.M. Mackenzie's

The Scottish Burghs and D. Murray's Early Burgh Organisation in Scotland

as illustrated in the History of Glasgow and some neighbouring Burghs.

Yet much remains to be done, not least with respect to the burgh
of Glasgow. David Murray's important book is sometimes misleading

while of the first two volumes of the History of Glasgow by Robert

Renwick et. al., the earlier contribution by Renwick and Sir John
Lindsay covering the period up until the Reformation is much to be
preferred to that by George Eyre-Todd which continues the story of the
city's development to the accession of William ‘1I. Renwick, either
singly or in collaboration with Sir James Marwick, produced a large
number of volumes containing extracts from the burgh's records, the

most important being Abstracts of Protocols of the Town Clerks of

Glasgow, Charters and Other Documents relating to the City of Glasgow,

and Extracts from the Records of the Burgh of Glasgow, but none of

these provide the reader with an analytical introduction. Marwick's

mammoth 602 page preface to the first volume of Charters and Other

Documents relating to the City of Glasgow is an informative but largely

blow-by-blow chronological survey, while the important series of

Extracts from the Records of the Burgh of Glasgow gives practically no

background information whatsoever as to the nature of the administration

whose activities are recorded therein. The best books about Glasgow

*For the full titles of this and other works cited in the Foreword see

the Bibliography which is to be found in Volume II.
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tend to be concerned with the history of certain institutions within
the city, the two most notable and most recent additions to this corpus

of work being The University of Glasgow, 1451-1577 by J. Durkan and

J. Kirk and A.M. Jackson's Glasgow Dean of Guild Court - a History.

The city still lacks a good general history. Of the earliest attempts
at such a project, John M'Ure's A View of the City of Glasgow (1736)
has to be used with some caution, whereas John Gibson's A History of

Glasgow (1777) is more reliable and has the added advantage that the

author evidently had access to some burgh minutes of the mid-sixteenth
century which are now lost. During the nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries several histories appeared such as James Cleland's Annals of
Glasgow (1816), Glasgow, Past and Present by 'Senex' et. al. (1851-
1856), Glasghu Facies by J.F.S. Gordon (1873), 01d Glasgow, the Place
and the People by Andrew Macgeorge (1880), the publications of the
Regality Club (1886-1906) and Medieval Glasgow by Rev. James Primrose

(1913). These are works of variable quality, the more reliable
secondary sources tending to be those by Marwick and Renwick which
were based on their record collections above noted, namely the former's

A History of the City of Glasgow from the Earliest Times to the year 1611

(1911), Renwick's Glasgow Memorials (1908) and his posthumous first

volume of the History of Glasgow, mentioned above, produced by Sir

James Lindsay in 1921. Generally, however, none of these histories
praovide adequate analysis or address major social, economic, political
or administrative questions of the sources. More recently Andrew

Gibb's Glasgow, the Making of a City (1983) has appeared and has supplied,

albeit from the standpoint of an historical geographer, some of the much
needed analyses which have previously been wanting. Nonetheless it
remains for the urban historians to produce a full history of Scotland's
largest city. Significantly a project currently being undertaken
through the Department of History at the University of Strathclyde has
this end in view, though as its starting date will be 1660 this scheme
serves to support the view of Michael Lynch, quoted at the outset, that

the early modern burgh continues to be neglected.

The present work, as its title indicates, does not purport to
answer the need for a general history of the city of Glasgow. Instead,

like William Shepherd's unpublished thesis, The Politics and Society of

Glasgow, 1648-1674 (Glasgow University Ph.D., 1978) it attempts to
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examine a short period of Glasgow's development in some detail, in this
case the period at which the earliest extant minutes of the burgh court
and town council are to be found, the 1570s and 1580s. For the twelve
years from 1574 to 1586 the minutes are complete and also contain ten

sets of common good accounts; thereafter there are several gaps in

these records, while the next set of accounts which survive are those
of 1605-1606. Although the main theme of this work is the nature,
scope and effectiveness of the governance dispensed by the magistrates
and council of Glasgow with particular reference to the period 1574-
1586, discussion is not confined to the specific subject of local civil
administration nor to those years in isolation. Pelitical, social and
economic factors are considered and material is drawn from earlier and
later periods so as to provide as full a picture as possible of the
burgh's administration in the late sixteenth century as a whole. To
this end the data obtained from the court and council records (which,
it must be said, are not so complete as the equivalent record material
available for other burghs such as Edinburgh, there being, for example,
no surviving tax rolls whatsoever) are supplemented by other local
sources, most notably the records of the kirk session which survive
for 1383-1593 and the few minute books and registers of the Glasgow
crafts which date from this period. Such information as these sources
contain helps to flesh-out the picture of late sixteenth century

burghal society derived from the records of the civil local authority.

The opening chapter traces the burgh's development from its
foundation in the late twelfth century up until the 1570s. The second
chapter considers the burgh constitution, the composition of the
ruling elite and the main political issues of the 1570s and 1580s. The
next three chapters deal with the administration in detail, the workings
of the burgh court, the council's statutes and the common good accounts
being examined in turn. The sixth and last chapter summarises the
information obtained from the preceding sections and provides overall
conclusions with respect to the nature, scope and effectiveness of the

civil local authority in late sixteenth century Glasgow.
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ABBREVIATIONS AND CONVENTIONS

Unless otherwise stated all references are to £ Scots rather than

£ Sterling. Names have generally been modernised. With respect to the

identification of individuals and their occupations, special use has

been made of round and square brackets which is explained in the

introduction to Volume II, p. v. All dates falling between 1 January

and 25 March have been given in their modern form. The following

abbreviations and shortened titles have been used.

Ancient Burgh Laws

APS

BUK

Calderwood, History

Cowan and Easson,
Religious Houses

Dickinson, Aberdeen

Dickinson and Duncan,
Scotland

Dictionary of the Older

Ancient Laws and Customs of the Burghs of
Scotland, 1124-1424, ed. C. Innes, (Edinburgh,
1868).

The Acts of the Parliaments of Scotland, 1124-
1707, edd. T. Thomson and C. Innes, 12 vols.,
(Edinburgh, 1814-1875).

The Booke of the Universall Kirk of Scotland:
Acts and Proceedings of the General Assemblies
of the Kirk of Scotland, ed. T. Thomson, 3 vols.
and appendix vol., (Bannatyne and Maitland
Clubs, 1839-1845).

CALDERWOOD, David, The History of the Kirk of
Scotland, ed. T. Thomson, 8 vols., (Wodrow
Society, 1842-1849).

Medieval Religious Houses: Scotland, edd.
I.B. Cowan and D.E. Easson, 2nd. edn., (London,

1976).

Early Records of the Burgh of Aberdeen, 1317
and 1398-1407, ed. W.C. Dickinson, (SHS, 1957).

DICKINSON, W.C. and DUNCAN, A.A.M., Scotland
from the Earliest Times to 1603, rev. edn.,
(Oxford, 1977).

A Dictionary of the Older Scottish Tongue, edd.

Scottish Tongue

Diurnal of Occurrents

W.A. Craigie et al., 5 vols. to date, (London/
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CHAPTER I

THE ADMINISTRATIVE BACKGROUND AND THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE
BURGH OF GLASGOW FROM ITS FOUNDATION TO THE 1570s

1. Foundation and early administrative development

Burghs were introduced to Scotland during the twelfth century
as one of several measures adopted by the crown to achieve greater
central control over the still fragile Scottish kingdom. At first
most burghs were royal foundations and several were closely associated
with royal castles, the crown's intention being that burgh and castle
would combine to exert administrative influence over each adjoining
neighbourhood. However the desire to stimulate commerce was an
equally important factor behind these foundations. It was hoped that
they would enable Scotland to emulate the commercial vitality of the
English boroughs which David I had seen at first hand. Thus the
Scottish burghs were given privileges similar to those enjoyed by
their English counterparts: the right to hold markets and fairs,
exclusive trading rights in certain areas attached to each burgh, and
a monopoly in foreign commerce. Inducements were offered to settlers,
and the burgesses were to be subject to special laws which would be
different from the feudal law of the land, enabling them to have
freedom in their persons, possessions and transactions. As a
corollary to all this these burghs on the royal demesne would be of
direct financial benefit to the crown. Empowered to exact tolls
from unfree traders and providing rents from the burgage plots held
by the burgesses, the burghs were a means of providing a cash income

such as was not produced by the other royal estates.

The first foundations were burghs of the crown but the
ecclesiastical and lay baronage, anxious to share in the successful
trading infrastructure thus created, soon began to petition the crown
for the right to establish burghs on their demesnes. By the close of
David I's reign about eighteen king's burghs had been established
and about five burghs not directly dependent on the crown.? One of
this latter group was St. Andrews, dependent on the bishop of St.
Andrews and founded some time between 1124 and 1144. Possibly

anxious to emulate this example, bishop Jocelin of Glasgow petitioned



the crown and received a charter from William I which authorised the
bishop and his successors to have a burgh at Glasgow with a market on
Thursdays and guaranteed the king's protection to the burgesses of
the new foundation. The document can not be precisely dated but was

issued at some point between 1175 and 1178.°>

Two features of this charter deserve comment. Firstly, the grant
was made by the crown to the bishops of Glasgow and the burgh was to
remain dependent on the bishops, and subsequently the archbishops,
until it was erected into a royal burgh in 1611.% Secondly, although
not a burgh of the crown, Glasgow's charter of foundation was
drafted in such a way as to ensure that it possessed rights

commensurate with the king's burghs (cum omnibus libertatibus et

consuetudinibus quas aliquis burgorum meorum in tota terra mea ...

habet). The early medieval period was one which recognised 'the
universal validity of burgess-right, regardless of whether the

> The strict demarcation

superior was king, bishop, abbot or earl'.
between royal burghs and other burghs did not come about until the
fifteenth century by which time Glasgow had secured its position as

a dependent burgh worthy of being ranked alongside the foundations of
the crown. This position it owed as much to the nature éf its charter
of foundation as to the power of its superior or any commercial
success it had enjoyed and was demonstrated as early as 1226 in a
dispute with Rutherglen6 and in 1243 after an apparent disagreement
with Dumbarton’, both king's burghs and the former a burgh of

greater antiquity than Glasgow. In each case the crown upheld

Glasgow's rights.

The burgh's basic privileges, embodied in the charter of
1175 x 1178, were amplified by further grants in the late twelfth and
early thirteenth centuries. Between 1189 and 1198 the bishops of
Glasgow were authorised to hold an annual fair of one week's duration
in their new burgh.® Whereas the right to trade at a burgh's
market was restricted to the burgesses of the burgh, at fair time
traders could be attracted from throughout the land, these men being
permitted to buy and sell directly without having to use the

burgesses as middlemen.® Thus the grant of a fair was of considerable



importance in attracting custom. In a charter dated sometime before

1211, the king's protection (firmam pacem) was promised to all

attending the fair at Glasgow. '® Further grants designed to facilitate
trading followed and these together with the several crown charters

of confirmation issued during the thirteenth and early fourteenth
centuries were the means whereby the bishops of Glasgow, through the
agency of the crown, hoped to build up a flourishing trading community
which, as an adjunct to their other temporal possessions, would

provide (through burgage rents and market tolls) a constant and
sizeable source of income. The burgh's subsequent growth was to amply

repay their efforts.!’

How was the burgh administered? As in the case of other
burghs, Glasgow's charter of foundation made no reference whatsocever
to this matter, yet the establishment of some form of administration
must have been implicit in the act of foundation. The collection of
rents, whether for the bishops as superiors or for the burgh for its
upkeep, required some form of fiscal administration while the control
of laﬁd transfers, the protection of economic privileges and the
necessity of settling disputes required legal administration. The
little that is known about Glasgow's early governance co}responds to
the known developments in king's burghs during the thirteenth century.

In the king's burghs officials known as prepositi or ballivi were

employed whose functions were both fiscal and judicial and who, from
being crown officials, became the representatives of their burgh
communities. This move towards greater local autonomy in the king's
burghs (occasioned by the crown's increasing need for financial
support from these commercial centres) was also reflected in the

manner whereby in various burghs the ballivi and communitas burgi began

to grant lands to be held of them and their successors, as of a
corporation, and significantly this period also saw the appearance of

burgh common seals. 12

The earliest evidence for Glasgow's administration is derived
from a charter dated sometime prior to 1268 whereby Robert of
Mithyngby conveyed certain lands in the burgh to Mr Reginald Irewyn,
archdeacon of Glasgow. It is recorded that the proposed conveyance

was advertised 'in the court of Glasgow, at three head courts of the



year and at other courts often, accordirng to the law and custom of the

burgh' and that sasine was given in the presence of the prepositis et

ballivis de Glasgu and twelve burgesses and others of the said city.

The recipient bound himself to pay to the bishop as superior the rent
due on the property and for attestation the common seal of the burgh
(sigillum commune de Glasgu) was attached, together with the seal of
the bishop's official. 12

The sophistication of this transaction demonstrates that the
procedures of the burgh court of Glasgow were by this time already

well established. The document also shows the prepositi and ballivi

acting as legal officials, the recognition of the concept of a burgh
community embodied in the common seal, and the payment of burgage rents
to the superior which in itself presupposes the existence of a fiscal
organisation. Furthermore the idea of a burgh community suggests a
council representing the community of burgesses. Indeed it is likely
that at some early point in the burgh's development non-legal
administrative matters became so time-consuming that it was found

convenient to delegate such business to a council.

Town councils seem to have developed in the Scottish burghs
either through the gild merchant, an organisation representing the
wealthiest and hence the most influential burgesses, or through the
burgh court. Whereas gilds merchant can be found at burghs such as
Berwick and Edinburgh, there is little to suggest that Glasgow had such
an institution' and it thus seems likely that the origin of its
town council lay in its burgh court. In Peebles the council grew out
of the 'doussane', a consultative and advisory body associated with
that burgh's court15, and it is notable that the Robert of Mithyngby
charter of ¢1268 and another Glasgow charter of 1293 refer to sasine

being given in the presence of xii burgensibus et aliis eiusdem

civitatis and duodecim civibus respectively.'® Although essentially

assizes of the court these are probably also references to the
beginnings of the town council 7 and the close relationship between
court and council survived up to the early seventeenth century for

until that time the activities of the town council were recorded in

the court's act books. 18



In the mid-fifteenth century there is clear evidence of important
changes regarding the prepositi and ballivi, the burgh officials
already noted as active in Glasgow in the thirteenth century. In
February 1447 Sir Richard Gardenar, presbyter and keeper of the lights
at the shrine of St. Kentigern acknowledged that, in confirmation of
a previous agreement between bishop John Cameron and the town, two
pounds of wax had been received from the burgh for the shrine and that
consequently the burgh could construct amill on the Molendinar burn
'within the commonty of the said burgh belonging to the said burgesses
and community'. Apart from demonstrating that the concept of the
community as a corpoé%e legal body was clearly recognised, it is
notable that this authorisation was directed to the bailies, burgesses

and community, (ballivis, burgensibus et communitate) without any

reference being made to the office of prepositus. It is probable that
ballivi and prepositi had been synonymous terms in the thirteenth
century and that by this time the latter title had been dropped and
subsumed under the title ballivi. Furthermore the phraseology of the
authorisation of 1447 strongly suggests that by this date the

bailies were regarded as not only bishop's officers but also as the

representatives of the burgh community.19

However, soon after this grant there occurs the first indication
of a new senior official who was distinct from the bailies. In
December 1453 bishop Turnbull made various grants to the newly founded
university and, among other things, ordered that transgressors against
the assize of bread and ale should be reported to the prepositus or any
of the bailies.?® That document was in Latin, in which language
prepositus is used both for the earlier office of the same name and
the later office of provost. The fact that this prepositus was a new
kind of official, different from that of the thirteenth century, is
confirmed by an indenture in the vernacular recording a gift of
several lands made by John Stewart to the Friars Preachers in
December 1454. The grantor was specifically, indeed emphatically,

styled, 'the first prouest that was in the cite of Glasgw'. 2!

By the 1550s it is clear that there was an important distinction
(not just of seniority) between the provost and the bailies.

Together they were the burgh magistrates and the chief executive



officials, but whereas the community had some say in the appointment

22 However it

of the bailies, the provost was chosen by the superior.
is conceivable that for a short period (between ¢1450 and 1476) the
burgh may have had some say in the choice of its leading magistrate,
the provost. The evidence for this suggestion hinges not just on the
emphatic statement in John Stewart's gift of 1454 but on two importanf
charters obtained by the bishops of Glasgow, in April 1450 and July

1476.

The bishop's temporal possessions comprised several baronies, the
most important of which was the barony of Glasgow.z3 The burgh was
its caput but it embraced a wide area to the north, east and west of
the city comprising Cadder parish, Govan parish, much of 0ld Monkland
parish and what would later become the Barony parish.?* Over this
barony and their other temporal possessions the bishops extracted
revenues and exercised a power in civil and criminal matters defined
as .a barony jurisdiction. 2> This jurisdiction as it applied
to the barony of Glasgow (including the burgh) and the lands of
Bishopforest?® was elevated to that of a regality by a crown charter
granted on 20 April 145027 which was subsequently confirmed in 1476.%8
By these charters the bishops obtained very extensive rights over

their lands, equivalent to a palatinate within the kingdom.

It has sometimes been supposed that by these grants, the burgh of
Glasgow rose in status (from being a burgh of barony) to become a
burgh of regality.29 Neither term is accurate and although the burgh
was mentioned in both documents it must be stressed that the
beneficiaries were the bishops, not the burgesses, and (as before) it
remained at the discretion of the bishops to grant or withhold burgh

privileges as superiors. 30

One such privilege might be an element of latitude in the
appointment of officials. It is possible that bishop Turnbull, in the
flush of success following the 1450 regality grant and the 1451 bull
founding the university,31 permitted the burgh to chose a leading
magistrate such as was to be found in several of the king's burghs;

32

hence 'the first prouest that was in the cite of Glasgow'. However,

while the regality grant of 1450 made no mention of the burgh's



internal constitution or 'sett', the confirmation of 1476 to bishop
John Laing stated that the bishops were to appoint 'a provost, bailies,
sergeants and other officers as often as it shall seem to [them]
expedient for the rule and government of the same city'. Why was this
clause omitted from the 1450 charter and then specified in the later
document, together with a passage emphasising the bishop's power to
remove 'any person to and from the said offices as often as [they]

shall please'?33

There are two possibilities. The charter of 1476
may represent the end of an experimental period during which burghal
autonomy in the election of provosts had been permitted. The second
alternative, which does not preclude this possibility, is that the

1476 charter of confirmation was sought in response to an act of
Parliament of 1469 which had stipulated that burgh councils were to
elect the burgh officers. * Admittedly this act was aimed primarily

at the king's burghs and was in any case imperfectly implemented

even in those, but it may have been regarded at the time as a potential

threat to the regality power of the Glasgow bishops.

It can thus be argued that, far from enhancing the burgh's
position in terms of self government, the regality charters actually
diminished the burgh's ability to achieve a measure of éutonomy. The
1476 charter ensured that the control of key appointments within the
burgh was secured in the hands of the bishops. The subsequent
constitutional position of the burgh was established by this charter
and although the burgesses would from time to time attempt to gain
control of the appointment of the bailies (most notably in the 1550s),
the position of the provost as an appointee of the superior seems to

have been accepted without demur.

The provost's role as the superior's chief officer in the burgh
wasdemonstrated by another factor. The bishops administered their
regality through a bailie and this bailieship was closely associated
with the earls of Lennox by the sixteenth century if not before. In
1510-11 Matthew second earl of the Stewart line was provost of the
burgh and was also probably bailie of the regality. This type of
pluralism , however, was unusual and, sofar as is known, did not occur

again until the 1570s. The more common practice was that the bailie



of the regality acted through a deputy who was the provost of the
burgh. Thus John third earl of Lennox as bailie principal of the
regality entrusted the depute bailieship to John Shaw and George

Colquhoun, provosts of the burgh, between 1514 and 15247

Furthermore the distinction between the provosts on the one hand
and the other burgh officials was emphasised by the fact that the
provosts were not indwellers but 'outlandis' men. During the
sixteenth century attempts were made to stop this practice in the
king's burghs but in 1609 the stipulation that only merchants and
traffickers living in a burgh were capable to being its magistrates
had to be repeated. It was not until this act that the first known
merchant provost was appointed in Glasgow; prior to then holders of
the post had been local lairds or (particularly in the 1570s and
1580s) members of the nobility.>®

If the regality charters hindered the growth of autonomy in self
government, they nonetheless helped Glasgow to maintain its position
at a time when the demarcation lines between the king's or royal burghs
(as they were now known) and other burghs were being established,
particularly in the area of foreign trade. No doubt the terms of
Glasgow's original foundation would have stood it in good stead
during this period. However, in January 1490 the bishops of Glasgow
obtained a charter which not only increased their own revenues but

also secured the burgh's right to trade abroad.

This document confirmed the bishops in their spiritual and
temporal possessions and, in addition, granted them the right to have
a free tron at which 'all merchandise and goods that pertain to the
citizens and tenants of the city and barony of Glasgow may be there
troned, weighed and customed'. Once the goods had been weighed
and the customs paid, cockets (cokketas) were to be issued and the
said citizens and tenants were then to be free of all other customs
on their goods 'in all other towns, ports and places within our
kingdom, on their showing the said cockets'. The bishops of Glasgow
were thus empowered to collect for their own uses the great custom
on 'wool, skins, hides, cloth, bread, fish and other things as well

not named as named' and as a corollary to this the burgesses of



Glasgow were confirmed in their right to export such goods, in common
with the burgesses of royal burghs.37 Glasgow's rights regarding
foreign trade were further emphasised ten months later when the

crown stipulated that 'all manner of ships, strangers and others,
should come to frie burghs such as Dumbarton, Glasgow, Aire, Irvine,
Wigtown, Kirkcudbrugh, Renfrew and others sick burrowes and there make

merchandize'. 38

Thus the bishops augmented their income from the burgh. This
comprised firstly the customs of the tron (just noted) and probably
several other older customs extracted from the market, the exact
extent of which can not be determined. These market customs were
farmed out during the sixteenth century 39 until in 1581 archbishop
Boyd mortified 'all and hail our customis of our troneis of Glasgow,
great and small customes, fair or mercat customis, or of mett measure
or wecht perteining to vs' to the universityflO These customs were
distinct from those which the burgh was empowered to collect, most
notably the custom of the ladle, income from which was credited to the

burgh's common good throughout the 1570s and 15808.41

The bishops also received rents from the burgh. T@e Robert of
Mithyngby charter of c1268 stipulated that the rents due on the
property then being conveyed were to be paid to the bishops. The
same provision occurs in bishop Muirhead's confirmation of Mr Patrick
Leiche's foundation of a chaplainry in 1459, and in Lord Hamilton's
gift of property to the university the following year.“2 However
when the extant burgh accounts commence, in 1573-74, it is apparent
that the burgh's common good also received income from this source.”’?
The nature of the relationship between burgh and superior as to burgh
rents is not disclosed until November 1605 when it is recorded that
the burgh treasurer was to pay the archbishop's chamberlain forty-
eight merks 'for the burrow maillis of this burgh' for the years 1603,
1604 and 1605, and this annual payment of sixteen merks for the burgh
lands was specifically reserved to the archbishops when Glasgow
became a royal burgh in 1611.4# It would seem then that at some point
after 1460 the burgh had been empowered to collect the

'commone annuellis' for its common good in return for a fixed ferme

of sixteen merks due to the superior.4>



2. The burgh's development

Returning to the acts of 1490, although Glasgow was thereby
assured of its right to trade abroad, its actual ability to do so was
limited by a number of factors. For one thing, Scotland's trade was
primarily with the Baltic and the Low Countries and Glasgow was
obviously at a disadvantage compared to the burghs on the east coast.
However Glasgow overcame this difficulty by trading through Linlithgow

® Even as regards western trade, to

to gain access to these markets. *
Argyll and the Isles, Ireland and France, the burgh's position was
far from ideal, situated as it was over twenty miles up-river on the
Clyde which in any case was un-navigable beyond Dumbuck ford. 47
Furthermore, Glasgow had to deal with periodic interference from its
neighbours Renfrew and Dumbarton, particularly the latter. Friction
with Dumbarton, a king's burgh, is implied by the terms of two

48 and a specific dispute was

thirteenth century Glasgow charters,
recorded in 1469. 4° Significantly, on each occasion Glasgow's rights
were protected by the crown (further proof of the strength of its
charter of foundation) and this may have encouraged the two burghs to
agree in 1499 to 'ane mutuall complyance and correspondance and the
defence and maintenance of each of the utheris priviledge-é'.50
Nonetheless disputes continued ! and so Glasgow turned to Irvine as its
outlet on the lower Clyde, thereby effectively by-passing Dumbarton.>2
This arrangement however had disadvantages, chief of which were the
difficulties of overland transport. Thus the Glasgow merchants also
adopted the practice of meeting ships in the Clyde estuary and
unloading cargo on to smaller boats capable of navigating the upper
reaches of the river. More positive action may have been taken in

the sixteenth century for it is believed that in 1556 the inhabitants
of Glasgow, Dumbarton and Renfrew attempted to remove the ford at

Dumbuck, though without success.53

Despite the absence of firm evidence regarding Glasgow's economic
performance, there are sufficient indications to suggest that Glasgow
was already flourishing by the mid-fifteenth century. When in 1451
Pope Nicholas V founded the university and referred to Glasgow as a

city where 'the air is mild, victuals are plentiful and great store

10



of other things pertaining to the use of man is found', this was not

54

mere rhetoric: around the same time Jobn Hardyng, spying out the

country for his English masters, spoke of Glasgow in the same

glowing terms.””

Although, the university was small, it did give

the burgh added dignity and the influx of masters and students must
have had some effect on the local economy. The kudos of having a
university may even have assisted Glasgow in its commercial relations
with Europe. However still more important was the dignity bestowed
on the see of Glasgow in 1492 when Pope Innocent VIII erected it

into an archbishopric, with the bishops of Argyll, Dunblane,

Dunkeld and Galloway as the suffragans of the archbishop. > The
territorial jurisdiction of the consistory court at Glasgow was thus

widened and the consequential increase in business must have had a

beneficial effect on the burgh's market.

The late fifteenth and early sixteenth centuries also witnessed
an increase in the number of religious foundations in the burgh, a
phenomenon which was probably related in part to the increased
status of the see but which also suggests an expanding local
economy capable of supporting these foundations. Furthermore the
location of several of these new foundations indicates ﬁow far the

burgh's 'biggit' lands had spread by this time.

Although a charter of the late twelfth century refers to the

prima edificatione burgi 2/ it is probable that, before Glasgow

became a burgh in the 1170s, a settlement already existed in the
vicinity of the cathedral which had been consecrated in 1136.58

The reference to the first building of the burgh probably relates to
activity about a mile south of the cathedral in the area now known
as Glasgow Cross. Here High Street (the main axis of the burgh,
running southwards from the cathedral towards the Clyde) is
intersected by Trongate and Gallowgate and it is believed that this
was the site of the market cross from the time of the burgh's
inception, a view which is lent credence when the area's proximity

to the river is considered.” The burgh's terra burgalis or 'biggit

land' thus comprised two nuclei linked by the road later known as
High Street: the cathedral and its environs, and the area around the

Cross. Between and around these areas lay the terra campestris (the
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arable land) and the terra communis (the waste land, used for

pasturage and fuel), together with various lands held by rentallers
of the bishops. So far as can be judged the main impetus of growth
came from the southern nucleus around the cross and initially this
appears to have taken the form of movements southwards to the river
(the bridge, first mentioned in 1285, probably dated from much
earlier) and northwards towards the cathedral.fO As an example of
the latter, in 1246 the Dominicans (Black fFriars or Friars Preachers)
were granted property to the east of High Street®' but the fact that
the lands between the two built-up nuclei remained undeveloped for
several centuries is confirmed when it is noted that it was in this
same area that the university obtained its first settled accommodation
in 1460 and 1467.%2 Likewise the Franciscans (Grey Friars or Friars
Minor) were given lands almost immediately to the west, in the
1470s.63

Other religious foundations, of varying importance, date from
this period and their location indicates an expansion beyond both of
the built-up areas of the burgh. Two hospitals for the poor were
established near the cathedral: St Nicholas Hospital, founded by
bishop Andrew Muirhead around 1464 and Blacader's hospifél established
by Rolland Blacader, sub-dean, around 1524.%% Further north still
was the chapel of St Roche founded by Thomas Muirhead, rector of
Stobo, around 1508.6> The leper hospital of St Ninian was
established on the fringes of the burgh at the south end of the bridge,

66 However

its location obviously being determined by its function.
other foundations in the southern half of the burgh show signs of
development towards the east and west. In 1500 David Cunningham,
archdeacon of Argyll, established the chapel of Little St Kentigern
on the Gallowmuir, east of the Cross.®’ Twenty-five years later the
collegiate church of St Mary and St Anne (later known as the new
kirk) was established by Mr James Houston; sub-dean of the cathedral,

west of the Cross on the southside of Trongate.68

Apart from these foundations, this period of Glasgow's
development was also marked by the establishment of several
chaplainries and the enrichment of the church's endowments by other

gifts from both clerics and lay men.6? These phenomena were not
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unique to the burgh, but considering Glasgow in isolation and setting
aside the various personal motives which prompted these donations,
the concentration of all these foundations and endowments within a
relatively short period reflects confidence based on a flourishing
local economy. Furthermore the placing of these hospitals and
churches on peripheral sites suggests population pressure on the

burgh's existing 'biggit lands'.

Any attempt to gauge thérggbulation of the burgh is severely
limited by the complete lack of such evidence as tax rolls or lists
of burgesses. Nonetheless, on the basis of the extent of the burgh
and the moderately large number of religigﬁf establishments within
its bounds it has been suggested that aupopulation of about 1,500
in the late fourteenth century had risen to between 2,500 and 3,000
by 1500. 70 Around this time there is evidence of alienations of
small parcels of common land to the south of the king's highway from
the Barrasyet to the bridge (the Briggate, near the river), indicating
a desire to obtain land for development, a need probably occasioned
by a growing population requiring more housing.71 On the basis of

1mllar evidence to that mentioned above it has been estlmated that
theApopulatlon had reached about 4,500 by 1560. 72

The level of contribution to national taxations expected of
Glasgow gives some indication of its wealth, both in relation to
other burghs and, to an extent, in real terms. The domination of the
burghs on the east coast (in particular Edinburgh, Aberdeen and
Dundee) because of their easier access to European markets is
confirmed by the exchequer accounts of the fourteenth and fifteenth
centuries and the later burgh tax rolls of the sixteenth century.
Nonetheless it is possible to trace Glasgow's progress through
these sources. Payments by Glasgow are recorded in the chamberlains'
accounts during the period 1366 to 1374. 73 In 1366 it stood in
twenty-first place, with a contribution of £5 10s 1d (0.9%) towards
a total from thirty-four burghs of around £586. 7%
it contributed only £2 0s 11d (0.3%) towards the sum of about £730

collected from twenty-six burghs and stood in twenty-fourth place.

Eight years later

75
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Yet by the early sixteenth century Glasgow was clearly regarded
as capable of shouldering a greater proportion of the taxes falling
on the burghs. In the first complete surviving stent roll of the
burghs, compiled in 1535, Glasgow was placed eleventh and contributed
2.01% of their assessment.’® In 1557 it moved to ninth place, but
fell back to tenth position in 1564:77 however neither of these
changes affected the level of its contribution which remained at
slightly more than 2%, a figure which would not increase until the
1580s. 7 Of more general significance was the fact that, although
not a royal burgh, Glasgow was regarded as such for taxation purposes
throughout the sixteenth century if not before. Commensurate with
its position as what might be termed a de facto royal burgh, Glasgow
was represented in Parliament from 1546 and on the Convention of
Royal Burghs from at least 1552.7° This status it owed not only to
the terms of its foundation charter but also to its taxable capacity

based on its prosperity.

The expansion in wealth which seems to have marked the period
1450-1550 was obviously of benefit to the indwellers of the burgh.
However it was the burgesses who gained the most from these
developments as only they were permitted to engage in trade and
manufacture. Burghal society was divided between these men and the
unfreemen, a class which comprised the bulk of the population,
namely the labourers and servants and beneath them the ubiquitous
'lumpenproletariat'. Apart from access to the burgh courts these men
had no rights and left no records. Access to burgess-ship was by
inheritance, marriage or purchase, or via an apprenticeship in one of
the crafts. Nonetheless, the inability of the unfreemen to trade

ensured that few could buy their way into the ranks of the burgesses.

The burgesses or freemen of the burghs may be divided into two
broad groups, the merchants and the craftsmen with their respective
monopolies of trade and manufacture.8 Although there were gradations
of wealth in both groups, the very nature of these two monopolies
ensured that the craftsmen were dependent on the merchants for access
to a market. This became even more marked as foreign trade developed.

Compared with its European neighbours, including England, Scotland was
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economically backward, an exporter of raw materials such as hides
and wools in exchange for manufactured goods. So long as the native
crafts remained undeveloped a high level of imports was maintained

and the superiority of the merchants was assured.

The accrual of wealth brought influence and power. In several
of the king's burghs the merchants formed gilds, the earliestﬁ%&%mple
being at Perth in 1209. The extent to which these gilds merchant
controlled town councils varied, but even in burghs where these
institutions were not found, local political power gravitated to the
merchants as the wealthiest members of the burgess community.
Similarly, the taxable capacity of the burghs resulted in their being
represented in Parliament from the early fourteenth century onwards.
As the wealth of the burghs was‘tgsed on the activities of the
merchants, it was their interest which was advanced in Parliament and

it was they who acted as the burghs' commissioners. 81

Although the craftsmen shared with the merchants the ability to
hold land by burgage tenure (one of the fundamental rights of a
burgess) their attainment of the same real quality of burgess-ship as
that enjoyed by their neighbours was to be a prolonged and difficult
struggle. Like the merchants, the craftsmen originally drew together
in religious fraternities which looked after the spiritual and
material welfare of their members. However this latter function
provided a source of conflict both with the ruling burghal oligarchies
and Parliament, particularly regarding such matters as price control
and the quality of workmanship. During the fifteenth century a
solution was adopted whereby some burghs began to grant seals of

82 0On the one

cause incorporating these combinations of craftsmen.
hand these grants showed some willingness on the part of the merchants
to allow the crafts a greater degree of independence but more
importantly they also allowed the burgh authorities to delegate to

the deacons and other craft leaders responsibility for the good
behaviour of their members. Maintenance of the crafts' monopolistic
privileges, embodied in these seals of cause, became dependent on a

continuation of that good behaviour. 83
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Yet even these modest developments were soon regarded as dangerous
by the merchants who, using their position in Parliament, secured
several pieces of legislation aimed at controlling these craft
organisations. These efforts culminated in an act of 1555 which forbad
the election of deacons and craft meetings, instead ordering that the crafts
were to be controlled through the magistrates and town councils by
means of 'visitoures' who were to inspect the standards of workmanship.
No craftsmen were to hold office, though two would be allowed to sit on
the councils. In fact this act was hassly repealed , the crown (anxious
to secure the support of the now numerous craftsmen as a counterbalance
against the merchants) confirming the crafts' rights in 1556.84
Nonetheless these phenomena testify to a prevailing tension within
burgh communities, which could not easily be dissipated despite the

intervention of the crown.

It is difficult to assess how far these developments were mirrored
in Glasgow. The only specific references to the existence of an
organised body of merchants are found in an instrument of July 1569
which relates the sale of property to James fFleming 'as president and
in name of all the merchants of the burgh' and in a minute of July 1582
which records the election of the president of the merchants.

Although it is conceivable that these details relate to a once
influential gild merchant, it is evident that by the late sixteenth
century this body of merchants, whatever its former history, played no
ré6le in burgh elections and instead appears to have been little more
than an economic confederation. Yet it is equally clear from the
surviving council minutes which commence in 1574 that the merchants in
Glasgow had, as elsewhere, secured a dominant position in the
governance of the burgh, a position which they had no doubt enjoyed

for several centuries. 85

If, as has been suggested 86, economic activity in Glasgow
flourished in the late fifteenth and early sixteenth centuries, a
prerequisite of this success was not just an active merchant community
but also an expanding and more self-assured craft community. Such
conditions would tend to encourage craft combinations and in order to
control the activities of these ad hoc groupings, the magistrates and

council began to grant seals of cause incorporating the trades,

16



confirming their monopolies of manufacture in return for their

obedience to strict rules regarding their operations.8”

The first of these was granted in May 1516 to the skinners and
furriers.88 The clauses of their seal of cause reflect the religious
nature of the craft, the strengthening of the monopoly of manufacture,
and the obligations incumbent on the crafts' officers to maintain
quality control. Thus the fees collected from new members were to be
used for the upkeep of divine service at their altar of St Mungo and
each master was to pay a penny weekly towards the adornment of that
altar; no one was to be allowed to practice as a skinner or furrier
unless they were freemen and capable workmen; and no substandard work
was to be sold under the penalty of one pound of wax for each offence.
These and other requlations contained in the charter were to be
monitored by the kirkmasters of the craft in conjunction with the
magistrates and council of the burgh. Similar grants to other trades
followed: the tailors in 1527 and again in 1547?9 the websters in
'1528,9D the hammermen in 1536,91 the masons in 1551?2 the baxters by
1556,%> the cordiners in 15594 and the coopers in 1569.95 During
the 1570s and 1580s only the fleshers were added to the body of
incorporated crafts.’® The bonnetmakers followed in 1597 and the

wrights (formerly associated with the masons) in 1600.%7

There thus existed within the burgh a merchant-dominated
magistracy and council on the one hand and, on the other, groups of
increasingly self-assured incorporated craftsmen. Ffriction must have
arisen periodically between the council and the crafts over such
sensitive issues as price control, particularly in times of scarcity
such as the late 1540s when the wholesale prices of meal and barley
in Glasgow rose from £1 and 24/- to £2 and 48/- respectively.98 Later
evidence shows that although incorporation made a craft eligible for
representation on the council through its deacon, such representation
was haphazard and by no means guaranteed each year.99 It is likely
that the frustration of the incorporated crafts (and still more of
those still to be incorporated) at the council's policy of holding
down retail prices during periods of scarcity and inflation became
channelled into a desire for a greater say in burgh affairs. Elsewhere

at least, it appears to have been tension of this sort which provoked
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the short-lived act of 1555 prohibiting craft associations.'0C

Such may have formed a backdrop to a disagreement which arose
in the 1550s between the burgh and archbishop Beaton, its superior,
as to the method of appointing the bailies, although it must be
conceded that there is no evidence of a craft input to this dispute.
Instead the root cause lay in the unsettled nature of burgh politics
in the late 1540s and early 1550s. After the 'battle of the Butts' in
1544 the Lennox interest in the burgh had been ousted and the
Hamiltons had risen to prominence. Indeed the Hamiltons had attempted
to have one of their family chosen archbishop in succession to
archbishop Dunbar who had died in April 1547, and their failure to do
so may have prompted local hostility to Beaton who was not consecrated
until August 1552.7%7  Whatever the case for five years there had been
a power vacuum, the authority of the superior had been undermined, and
the burgh oligarchy now attempted to challenge the archbishop's
authority.

The point at issue was not the appointment of the provost. It was
accepted that he was chosen by the archbishop (though how far this was
actually the case is open to doubt since the provostship-was held
throughout the 1550s by a Hamilton).'0? Instead, the leading
burgesses disputed the archbishop's right to nominate the bailies.

The case is particularly well documented and, after the regality
charter of 1476, provides the earliest detailed information

regarding the sett or constitution of the burgh.

In October 1553, on the Tuesday following Michaelmas 'on which
day every year the new ... bailies are wont to be elected' Andrew
Hamilton of Cochno, provost, and 'a full meeting of the magistrates'

met with the archbishop in his palace and after

'much discussion on both sides regarding the
election ... they presented to him a schedule of
paper wherein were written down the names of some
[eight] of the most worthy and eminent men of the
city, asking of him which two of them he ... willed
to admit as councillors or bailies for the next

year ... he nominated two of them, to wit, Master
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[John] Hall and John Mure ... pointing out with his
finger their names written in the said schedule to
the said provost and magistrates [who] ... faithfully
promised to elect them so nominated ... as the
custom is using these words, "We shall do your

lordship's will".'

After the departure of the provost and the delegation Beaton decided
that the outcome of the meeting should be recorded 'for the removal
of all further contention respecting the nomination and election of
councillors [ie. bailies] of our city of Glasgow that shall happen to

arise in time to come'. 103

The tenor of this document, indeed its very existence, indicates
that there had already been a dispute over this question,’04 but
matters came to a head when, in the following October, John Muir and
Andrew Dunlop usurped these offices without the consent of the arch-
bishop, but apparently with the full support of the old council of
1553-54. On 12 February 1555 a royal commission was issued, with the
consent of the duke of Chatelherault as bailie of the regality,
empowering Robert Heriot and others to hold regality courts in
Edinburgh to examine the complaint brought before the P}ivy Council
by archbishop Beaton regarding these events. The fact that it was
thought expedient not to hold this inquiry in Glasgow indicates how
far the archbishop had lost control of his burgh. 0% The affair
dragged on, the council continuing to elect its bailies in October
1555 and 1556, but by this time the dispute had reached the Lords of
Council and Session. Between December 1556 and May 1557 they inter-
rogated thirty-four witnesses and their depositions and other material

submitted on behalf of the archbishop have survived. 106

The archbishop's case rested on the clause in the regality charter
of 1476 which had empowered him to appoint the magistrates of the
burgh, and the procedure which was described in the instrument of
October 1553, just noted.’”  This view was borne out by the
majority of the witnesses, including John Stewart of Minto (named in
the commission of February 1555 as heading the. council of 1553-54

which had initiated the dispute). He stated that he remembered
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'in his fetheris tyme and in his awin that the auld
baillies and counsale usit yerlie to cum up to the
bischop and presentit certene litis to him, quhilkis
lities wes in noumber 8 or 10, and the bischop

ressavit the litis and quhen he considerit thame he
wuld sey I commend these twa to be ballies for this

yeir'.

A more difficult point was whether the presentation of leets was done
out of 'favour or benevolence' or 'use and wont' or because the old
bailies and council were 'oblidged and subiect to make this
presentatioun'. Even those witnesses sympathetic to the archbishop's
case tended to the second but not the third interpretation. All were
agreed that although previous disputes had been known the archbishops
had always 'got their will', and that the dispute in question was a

more serious affair than earlier disagreements.

The only testimony against the archbishop's view came from Henry
Burrell and Mr David Wilson (though the evidence of William Hegate,
another member of the1553-54 council, can best be described as
ambivalent). Burrell denied all knowledge of the bishops' rights,
admitting that leets were presented to the palace but ciaiming that
he did not know for what purpose. Alone of all the witnesses he also
stated that he did not realise that Muir and Dunlop had taken office
in 1554 without the consent of Beaton. Mr David Wilson went so far
as to assert that he had been unaware that leets were presented
to the archbishop or that the archbishops had ever nominated any of
the town's bailies. He then went on to contradict this statement,
though in a declaration which helps to explain why Beaton Pad e}
alienated the burgess leaders: 'syn this [Beaton] came to the
archbischopric, that the old baillies and counsale presented leets to
him and than the bischop refused to gife or name ony of them that the
toun desired and said plainly that he would have them of his own
inputting and na otherwise'. 108

Judgement in favour of the archbishop was given by the Lords of
Council and Session in late May 1557. The council was ordered to

'gif up fra choising of the baillies ... for thame and thair successouris
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cetenoris of Glasgw at thair awin handis without the chesing and
neming of thame be the said [archbishop and his successors] in
tyme cuming'. The bailies then in office were to stand down. '%°
Accordingly David Lyon and John Muir ceased to be bailies in early
June 1557, being replaced by George Herbertson and Mr John Hall,

nominees of the archbishop. 110

3. The post Reformation period

The evident friction between the burgh and its superior may in
part explain the bond of maintenance concluded between Beaton and
Chatelherault in February 1558 though its primary concern was the
'perillous and dangerous tyme quhair detestabil heresies ryses and
increasis in the diocy of Glasgow'. "' The part played by the burgh
in the religious and political revolution of 1559-60 is unknown,
though its acquiescence was assured when Chatelherault, who was bailie
of the regality, defected to the Lords of the Congregation in the
autumn 0f 1559, By July 1560 the archbishop's castle was in the hands
of the Lords, archbishop Beaton had fled the country and the

Reformation had been allowed to succeed in Glasgow, almost by default.

Apart from the dispute of 1554-57, further detailed information
about the governance of the burgh does not appear until the 1570s and
thus it is difficult to determine the exact impact of these events on
the local administration. The available material for the 1560s
consists of charter documentation and the instruments (almost
exclusively titles to land) which were recorded in the town clerks'
protocol books. Using this limited material it is however possible
to examine some of the more salient features in the burgh's development

during this period.

It has been suggested that the 1560s saw important developments
in the burgh's quest for greater autonomy in its affairs.’? In 1557
the burgesses of Glasgow were ordered to desist from choosing their
bailies without the consent of the superior. Did the burgesses take
advantage of archbishop Beaton's flight to press home their claims to
a say in the election of the bailies? The available evidence suggests

that they were reluctant to do so. On 30 September 1561 Robert
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Lindsay of Dunrod, provost, 'with ane grit part of the counsale and
communitie' went to the castle with their leet, being 'willing to
obtemper and obey the decreit of the lordis of counsale and letteris

of four formes rasit thereupon at the instance of ane reverend fader
James archbischop of [Glasgow]'. Only after they had thus 'done their
exact diligence' and determined that neither the archbishop nor

anyone having his authority was there did they feel able to proceed to
elect their bailies and even then they felt obliged to record their

13 The details

of other elections in this period are unknown. Perhaps in the early

attempt to gain consent in a notarial instrument.

1560s the burgh was allowed some latitude. However the return of
Matthew earl of Lennox from exile, his appointment as bailie of the
regality in place of Chatelherault in July 1565, the immediate appoint-
ment by earl Matthew of Sir John Stewart of Minto as depute bailie of
the regality and the simultaneous appearance of Minto as provost of the
burgh suggests if anything a tightening of control over the burgh. 114
Although Beaton was absent he continued to enjoy the fruits of the see
until 1570 when he was forfeited. The burgh was part of his temporal
possessions but neither he nor his agents who remained in Glasgow could
have had any influence in its governance which now fell under the

sway of the Lennox family and their associates. William Walker, one

of Beaton's servants, graphically summed up his difficulties in a

letter of April 1569 addressed to his master:

'I haif bene in great trublis as is knawin utuarlie
be the changeing of the colouris of my hair quhilk
was blak and now is quhyte ... For I duell
instantlie under the seit of thame that I dar nocht
saye quhais servand I am ... bot alwayis passis

oure the tyme the quietest maner I may’.115

Probably the most telling indication of how burgh government was
controlled during these years is obtained from an examination of the
size of the burgh council in 1553-54 with its next known successor,
that of 1574-75. The former numbered thirty-five while that of 1574-75
numbered only fourteen; only in the 1580s did numbers again exceed
thirty.116 This reduction in council membership was probably caused

by the succession of political emergencies, culminating in civil war,
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which punctuated the 1560s and early 1570s and it would be encouraged
by the authorities (Lennox as bailie of the regality and later as
regent) because the retention of power in the hands of a few whose
loyalty could be depended upon was preferable to widening the power
base which might produce less predictable policies. This is not to
say that wider consultation would not take place: later evidence
discloses that in 1568 decisions regarding alienations of the burgh's
common lands were taken with 'the consent of the haill toune at the
Symmerhill conwenand'. ' The Summerhill meetings were probably of
some antiquity and it was politic to have such matters endorsed by the
community; but, in general, it was more convenient to restrict the

power base.

The Reformation must have caused divisions among the ruling
burgesses and produced factions either sympathetic or hostile to the
changes in politics, religion and society then occurring. The absence
of burgh minutes and contemporary commentaries on events in Glasgow
precludes any detailed examination of parties and their interests at
the Reformation (such as has been accomplished for Edinburgh).118
Friction undoubtedly existed: in December 1564 William Hegate (then
town clerk and probably a Catholic) was accused of slandéring James Law,
bailie of the burgh by 'speaking of diverse despitfull and injurious
words ... contempnand and vilipendand him'; 1% and, although the
burgh appears to have been loyal to the king's cause, among those later
pardoned for their part at Langside was John Boyd, burgess of Glasgow,
probably the same man who appeared on the list of councillors in

office in 1553-1554,120

Although the councillors appointed during the 1560s are unknown
the bailies can be identified.?! Examination of these magistrates
shows that in 1559-60, no doubt in response to the tensions of the
period, three bailies held office instead of the usual two. This
practice was adopted again in the civil war period, and later in the
1580s and thereafter because of pressure of business. These three men,
James Fleming, John Muir and Mr Adam Wallace were not re-appointed in
1560. Such lack of continuity was not without precedent but in this

instance was probably occasioned by the Reformation. Muir was not to
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be re-appointed under the new régime, perhaps through age or his
unsuitability for office. Fleming was not re-appointed until 1570,

an unusual but not exceptionally long period out of office, and
(although he was treasurer in 1567 and president of the merchants in
1569) there is a suggestion in this that he was slow to conform to

the new régime. 22 Wallace was re-appointed in 1563 (embarking
thereafter on a public career which lasted until the 1590s) and thus
seems to have quickly shaken off any associations with the old régime. 123
Returning to 1560, Muir, Fleming and Wallace were replaced by James Law
and David Lyon. Law's antecedents are unknown but Lyon was one of the
bailies removed from office by Beaton in June 1557. Lyon was not
reappointed, though Law served once more, in 1564-65. 124 Their
successors in 1561-63 were Archibald Lyon and John Wilson (a craft
bailie) and significantly, like Law, neither had been bailies before.
It is also notable that, like David Lyon, both were involved in the
opposition to Beaton during 1554-57  (having been on the 1553-54
council) but while it might be conjectured that there was some link
between that earlier opposition and an embryonic Protestant party, the
more likely explanation is that, given the existence of a small ruling
group, some of these men were likely to become bailies, whatever
happened: the evidence of the 1570s and 1580s shows that the bailies

were recruited exclusively from the membership of the council.

More significantly, of the nine men who served as bailies in the
1550s six were reappointed after 1560 though most were out of office
for several years, perhaps until they conformed (David Lindsay, for
eleven years, 1553-64; George Herbertson, for eight years, 1558-66;

Mr John Hall, for ten years, 1559-69; and James fleming, for ten years,
1560-70). Only Andrew Dunlop, John Muir and Michael Lindsay were not
reappointed. Likewise, of the twelve men who served as bailies during
the 1560s six had served before while six were 'new' men, led by a
seventh, Sir John Stewart of Minto who became provost by 1565. 125

Thus on the limited information which is available it appears that
although the Reformation witnessed the rise of a new group, many of
the leaders of the pre-Reformation burghal oligarchy conformed to,

and were accommodated by, the new régime, while the 'new' men (to

whom may be added Mr Adam Wallace, who quickly became a prominent bailie

24



in 1563 after only three years out of office) formed the core of what

might loosely be termed a Protestant party.ﬂzﬁ

Although the effects of the Reformation on burgh politics can only
be inferred from indirect evidence, the process whereby church lands
in the burgh were alienated is better documented and deserves
examination since it materially affected not just certaim well
placed individuals but also the finances cf the burgh itself as well as,

of course, the resources of the old church and the new ministry.

The dilapidation of the church's wealth was well under way before
the Reformation. Crown and nobility had come te regard the major
benefices as part of their patrimonies, while the clergy, faced with
heavy taxation, had turned to long tacks and feu charters as a means
of raising cash. 0Originally such feu charters had been forbidden
by canon law, since the grant of lands in perpetuity for a fixed duty
was obviously not to the church's advantage, but as the papacy had
authorised the taxations which had brought about this phencmenomn
the Scottish church could only enjoin the clergy in 1549 not to thus
alienate property 'unless for good reasons ... found to tend to the
benefit of these same churches and not only to the private advantage
of the individual possessors'. However little could be done to stem

the tide of alienations, despite further injunctions in 1552 and 1552,

although it was obvious that many of these transactions were motivated
by purely private gain as clerics, sensing the approaching revolution,

attempted to ensure for themselves a comfortable future.127

It is difficult to assess how far the process of alieration amnd
secularisation had proceeded in Glasgow prior to the Reformatiom.
The available evidence suggests that, although some dilzpidation took
place before 1560, the church's property in the burgh remained
relatively intact until the Reformation perhaps because of the

128 on the basis of the instruments recorded in the

presence of Beaton:
tewn elerks' protocol books, there is evidence of at least sixteen

feu eharters affecting church lands in the burgh during the 1550s, but
these and ether sources record about seventy such conveyances, or
re-conveyances of these 'first generation' alienations, in the

follewing decade. 1t is notable that the beneficiaries of many of
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these transactions were people like provost Minto and his associates,

or other men who would later become prominent in burgh affairs. '%°

Nationally these private transactions threatened to diminish
the already depleted endowments of the church so seriously that the
ministry, the crown and other lay interests (including the burghs)
stood to gain very little. Eventually in 1563 an act of Parliament
asserted that all such alienations had to be validated by crown
confirmation, though how far this succeeded in stopping dilapidations

is to be questioned. 10

Meanwhile, in February 1562, agreement had been reached at
national level regarding the endowment of the new church. Too many
vested interests were involved to permit the sanctioning of the
proposals urged by the reformers, whereby almost all of the old

31 Instead

church's wealth would have passed to the new ministry. '
two-thirds of the old church's revenues were to be retained by the
existing holders of berefices during their lifetimes. The remaining
third was to be collected by the crown for its own uses and those of
the reformed church. On this basis the Privy Council also stipulated
that all annuals and duties pertaining to chaplainries and friaries
within burghs were to be administered by 'such as the Queen should
depute thereto' for the support of hospitals and schools and that
those burghs (among them Glasgow) where the friaries remained
intact were to maintain those properties for these 'godly uses'.'??

Although the friary of the Franciscans in Glasgow appears to
have been destroyed around 1560 the larger property of the
Dominicans fared better and the manse and 'kirkroom' were still
intact when they were conveyed to the college by the crown in July
1563, together with other lands of the Dominicans around the burgh
and elsewhere. Never well endowed, the college was then in such a
serious condition that it was described as 'the decay of ane
Vniversitie nor ony wyse to be reknit ane establisset fundatioun'. 133
Although the university was thus granted respite from its financial
difficulties it soon became clear that further action was required
to provide the local ministry with an adequate endowment. ' The

problem was not confined to Glasgow and in February 1567 the crown
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began to issue a series of charters gifting ecclesiastical properties

within their bounds to the burghs. 135

By acharter issued on 16 March 1567 the crown granted to the
magistrates and council of Glasgow the lands, houses, churches, rents
and duties pertaining to all chantries, altarages and prebends of
any church, chapel or friary within the burgh. The revenues thus
obtained were to be used to meet the stipend of the minister and the
salaries of readers and other ecclesiastical officers. They were also
to be employed in furnishing the burgh with a hospital for the
impotent poor and orphans. Acknowledging the fact that since the
'change of religion' many clerics had alienated much of this property
'into the hands of certain particular (or private) persons ... which
has happened partly through the negligence of the officers or our
said city and partly through the collusion of the said prebendaries,
chaplains and friars', the crown now rescinded all such dispositions.
Sasine of these properties, known as Queen Mary's foundation of the
ministry and hospitality of Glasgow, was effected on 13 May 1567.136

The good intentions of this charter were undermined by a number
of factors. It granted to the burgh, for 'godly purposes', the
'two-thirds' of church property within the burgh, to which the new
ministry had previously had no access but also stipulated that the
existing incumbents were still to enjoy these properties during their
lifetime, a situation which continued until the test act of 1573
deprived non-conforming holders of benefices. Secondly the evidence
of the town clerks' protocols shows that the charter was not all
embracing. After 1567 feu charters of certain church lands granted
by churchmen without reference to the magistrates and council continue
to be found. Although the charter covered 'any chaplainries,
altarages and prebends founded in any church, chapel or college', there
was an important exception, the prebendal properties of the cathedral
canons. Lastly the reference to 'the negligence of the officers of
our said city' could well have read 'wilful negligence', for the
magistrates and (probably) the council figured prominently among
those 'particular (or private) persons' referred to in the text of
the 1567 foundation and, not surprisingly, these previous alienations

do not appear to have been rescinded.'?’
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Thus the funds available were insufficient to meet the 'godly
purposes' for which they had been intended. No hospital was built
and Mr David Wemyss, the minister, remained without an adequate
stipend. In July of the same year (1567) the Privy Council ordered
the burgh to pay part of this out of its common good and the remainder
(plus the fees of the other kirk officers) out of Queen Mary's
foundation. '® This was still not enough and on 5 June 1568 the
crown confirmed the grant of March 1567 and extended it by appointing
the magistrates and council intromitters of the thirds of these
benefices for the benefit of the new ministry. For greater assurance
it was stipulated that the incumbents were not to have access to the
'twa pairt' of the revenues until the thirds had been collected.'?
Nonetheless the minister, Mr David Wemyss, continued to have
difficulties regarding the inadequacy of his stipend which were not
resolved until the parson of Glasgow, Mr Archibald Douglas, consented
in January 1572 to the payment of a stipend of £200 out of the

parsonage teinds. 140

The burgh was thus released of its obligations in this respect
and could devote the revenues over which it had obtained superiority
in 1567 to the needs of the still ailing college. Despite Queen
Mary's foundation of July 1563 and two minor dispositions by Mr Andrew
Hay (parson of Renfrew and rector of the college), the financial

141 Accordingly in

position of the university remained very fragile.
January 1573 the magistrates and council granted to the college

the revenues which had been assigned to the burgh in 1567 to support
a principal (who would be a professor of theology) two regents (who
would teach philosophy) and twelve poor students. Conditions of
service for staff and a code of discipline were laid down and the
bailies of the burgh were to be closely involved in their enforcement.
The man behind this rescue and re-constitution of the university was
Mr Andrew Hay whose 'exhortation, persuasion and advice' was
acknowledged in the charter. 142 Mr Adam Wallace, a graduate '’ and a
sitting bailie at the time, was no doubt sympathetic to this grant
which appears to have been motivated by genuine concern, a sense of
civic pride and a recollection of the instructions of the Privy

Council which in 1562 had identified education as one of the 'godly

purposes' to which the old church revenues might be dedicated. The
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burgh's gift helped to ensure the university's future. This was

followed by the Nova Erectio of 1577 (probably masterminded by Andrew

Melville, who was appointed principal in 1574) which established an
adequately endowed collegiate institution and thereby laid the

foundations for future academic development.144

However, not only was the university to experience difficulties
extracting income from the properties it received from the burgh in
1573145 but in any case the extent of these resources had already
been undermined by a number of factors. Despite the provisions of
Queen Mary's foundation of 1567 on which the burgh's gift of 1573 to
the university was based, the earlier alienations of church property
to individuals do not appear to have been rescinded. Indeed the
process had continued especially since after 1567 the magistrates and
(presumably) councillors, who had as individuals already benefited
from several of these transactions, found themselves as superiors of
these properties in the position of being able to convey several

6 Furthermore

parcels of church lands to themselves as individuals.™
the burgh's grant to the university specifically excluded those
chaplainries and prebends over which the magistrates and council had
exercised rights of patronage prior to Queen Mary's gift, revenues
from which were to be used tec provide bursaries for the sons of

poor burgesses attending the burgh's schools. 147

As has been noted, archbishop Beaton continued to derive income
from his lands in the archdiocese until his forfeiture in 1570. 148
These properties were not affected by the transfers previously
discussed and they seem to have remained relatively intact until
the episcopate of James Boyd in the 1570s. However there was some
dissipation of these resources. Most obvious was the extraction of
the thirds for the benefit of the crown and the ministry, but there
is also evidence to substantiate the tradition that, following the
battle of Langside, the regent Moray rewarded the Glasgow baxters
by allowing them to build a mill on the archbishop's land at the
Kelvin. 42 At the same time (May 1568) the regent Moray placed the
archbishop's castle in the hands of Sir John Stewart of Minto who
obtained for its support (and no doubt his own) several revenues

extracted from the bishopric.'® It was not surprising that Minto
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(in whose hands all local power was now concentrated and who had
already profited from the disposal of other church lands) should
now turn his attention to the archbishop's burgh of which he was
provost. The alienations of burgh common land during 1568 and 1569
(though carried through with the consent of the 'haill toune at the
Symmerhill conwenand') '°' were effected without the permission of
the archbishop, a fact which upset Beaton's agent, William Walker.

On 6 April 1569 he wrote to his master, then in France, that

'all the borrow muir of Glasgow on the Southe syde
of the towne and als Garngad hill on the north part
. ar distribuit be provost, baillies and
communitie of the towne to the inhabitaries thairof,
every ane his awin portioun conforme to his degrie
..., bot I walde have na parte thairof ..., be
ressoun I knewe thai had na power to deill your
lordechips lands withoute sum consent of youre

lordschip or sum utheris in youre lordschips name'. 152

The process of alienating the burgh's common lands continued through
the 1570s until, in 1576 the 'haill deaconis and communitie' success-
fully petitioned the magistrates and council to stop the practice. 1%
A few of these alienations were recorded in the protocol books of

the town clerks and these leave no doubt that among the main
beneficiaries Sir John Stewart of Minto and his associates loomed

large.154

Returning to the politics of the 1560s, the compromise reached
over the endowment of the new church, whereby holders of benefices
were protected in their possessions during their lifetimes even if
their support for the new faith was suspect, effectively produced a
situation which promoted the survival of Catholicism. It persisted
in rural areas such as Ayrshire where Protestantism was strong and
although recusancy might be more easily controlled in the burghs, there
is evidence of Catholic activity in the towns. Thus in Edinburgh
the survival of the old faith was nurtured by the presence of a

Sps . 155
Catholic queen and the activities of the craft gilds.

However in Glasgow the influence of the royal court was less



immediate and archbishop Beaton's self-imposed exile deprived local
Catholics of any leadership. Beaton was also chancellor of the
university and althouch that institution's records for this critical
period are missing there can be little doubt that the vacuum created
by the chancellor's departure facilitated the changeover to the new
régime.156 All this may go some way towards explaining why the
Glasgow craft incorporations did not respond in the same way as their
counterparts in the capital. It has already been noted that the
baxters appear to have actively assisted the regent's forces in the
preparations which culminated in the queen's defeat at Langside.157
Furthermore at least three of the incorporations obtained revised
seals of cause in 1569-70 allowing them to divert funds from their

altars to their common charges. 158

On the other hand, although the mass had been banned in 1560,"?
much of the infrastructure of the old church remained intact and was
indeed replenished. Thus some presentations and collations are
recorded in the early 1560s.'® More significantly, as late as 1564
John Smith, chaplain of the chaplaincy of St Mungo,erected a new
chaplainry at the altar of St Nicholas.16? By way of contrast, in
1567 sir Mark Jamesoun made alternative arrangements regarding
certain masses and services contained in his foundation of 1539, the
endowments now being directed towards the alms houses and the leper
hospital. Jamesoun's charter provides the key to the activity of
the Catholic clergy in the immediate post-Reformation period as it
stipulated that if 'the Scottish church shall come to its former state
and the solemnization of massesand suffrages in manner used of old
shall be celebrated therein' then the former terms of the foundation

were to be implemented. 162

The success of the Reformation was by no means a foregone
conclusion in the 1560s and many must have believed that the old
faith would return. Only after the flight of the queen and the
subsequent defeat of the Marians (and therefore of the political
wing of the Catholic interest) in the civil war of 1571-73 did the
new régime feel sufficiently confident to introduce a religious test

for existing benefice holders: they could either accept the reformed

faith or suffer depriva’cju:m.“s3
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There is nothing to suggest that Glasgow was anything but loyal
to the king's party during the war. Indeed, in view of the burgh's
strong associations with the Lennox family, it provided a useful base
for operations against Dumbarton castle and was itself subject to
attacks from that quarter.‘é4 Thus, although the regent Matthew earl
of Lennox was assassinated in September 1571, Stewart of Minto remained
in control of Glasgow as keeper of its castle, depute bailie of the
regality and provost of the burgh until the end of the civil war.
However by that time his usefulness to the then regent, Morton, had
ceased for during the war Robert Lord Boyd had been seduced from the
Marian cause, and Morton now wished to secure that magnate's
loyalty.'63 The transfer of power from Minto to Boyd was bound up

with the succession to the archbishopric of Glasgow.

Following archbishop Beaton's forfeiture in September 1570
preparations were put in hand to fill the vacancy and a style for

166 By the autumn

presentation to the see was drawn up in January 1571.
of that year the temporalities were in the possession of John
Porterfield. He attended Parliament in September, and in October
consented to the alienation of the parson of Glasgow's manse. '’
How far his appointment contributed to the controversy over John
Douglas' presentation to St Andrews in August is not clear. That
dispute, occasioned by the crown's unilateral action and the church's
objection that it had not been consulted, led to the compromise
reached at the Convention of Leith in January 1572 whereby the
church, in return for assurances that it would have access to the
major benefices, consented to the maintenance of episcopacy. This
agreement was subsequently accepted by the full General Assembly

in August 1572 until a more acceptable solution could be found. 68

In accordance with the Leith agreement, the composition of the
Glasgow chapter was altered so that it comprised only ministers of
the reformed faith, and in February 1572 a licence, declaring the
see vacant on the basis of Beaton's forfeiture, was issued to this
new chapter to elect an archbishop.16? The licence omitted the
name of the crown's nominee, but it would seem that an endorsement
of Porterfield's appointment was sought. However, although Douglas'

appointment to St Andrews was ratified that same month, Porterfield
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was not elected to Glasgow and no more is heard of this

archbishop. 170

The next incumbent at Glasgow was James Boyd of Trochrague who
was nominated, elected and consecrated archbishop between September
and November 1573. On 9 November he received the temporalities of
the see from the crown and Sir John Stewart of Minto handed over
the castle to him. 1! The Lennox-Minto alliance of interests was
now replaced by the nepotism of the Boyds, for the archbishop was
the nephew of Robert Lord Boyd whom the regent Morton had appointed
provost of the burgh one month earlier, again displacing Minto. 172

The situation was later summed up by James Melville.

'This Mr James Boid was a gentle man of the Lord
Boids kin, a guid man and lover of lerning and
lernd men inducit be his cheiff to tak the
bishopric, the gift wharof the said Lord Boid
being a grait counsallour to the Regent haid

purchassit for his commoditie'. 17

The process was completed when Lord Boyd removed Minto from the
depute bailieship of the regality and had himself appointed full
bailie. This was done in November 1573 and ratified by the
archbishop in January 1574."7%  On the occasion of his reappointment
to the provostship in the following October it was stated in Lord
Boyd's commission from the archbishop that 'the office of prouestrie
of the burcht and cietie of Glasgw has newir or seyndill been
separatit in sindry persounes handis fra the baillierie of oure
baronie foirsaid', a statement which bent the truth to fit the

prevailing situation. 172

With the close of the civil war, the temporary eclipse of the
Minto and Lennox interest in the burgh and the rise to power of the
Boyds, Glasgow entered a new period in its development. The
Reformation was secure as the outcome of the war had ended the hopes
of the Catholics that the changes brought about by the revolution
of 1560 had been no more than a temporary aberration. Glasgow, like
the rest of the country, could now attempt to recover from the

divisive political, economic and social effects of the preceding
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troubles. The surviving burgh court and council records commence

in January 1574 and maintain an unbroken run until April 1586.
Through these minutes it becomes possible for the first time to
examine closely the machinery of local government, the composition of
the burgh's administration and the manner whereby the apparent
consensus in burgh politics during the Boyd régime came to be upset

by the advent of new issues of contention in the late 1570s.
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J. Stuart et. al., 23 vols., (Edinburgh, 1878-1908), ii, 257, 342, 354, 418, 432.
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Ibid., 431-432. By way of comparison Edinburgh paid £157 or 21.5%.

Records of the Convention of the Royal Burghs of Scotland, 1295-1738, 5 vols.,

ed. J.D. Marwick, (Edinburgh, 1866-1885), [hereafter cited as RCRB], i, 514-515.
By way of comparison Edinburgh paid 27.7% of the national total, and its
contribution would remain at around 30% during the sixteenth century.

Ibid., 526, 530-531.

Ibid., 173-174,253-254. (3.5% in 1583;3.25% in Nevember 15¥7),

APS ii, 471; RCRB, i, 2. Glasgow was not alone in being treated as a royal burgh
for taxation purposes. The 1535 stent roll (RCRB, i, 514-515) also included
Arbroath, Brechin, Dunfermline, Dysart, Kirkcaldy and St. Andrews, none of which

was then a de iure royal burgh: see G.S. Pryde, The Burghs of Scatland ~ A Critical

List, (London, 1965), 3-4, 31-33 (passim) and the same author's 'The City and
Burgh of Glasgow, 1100-1750' in The Glasgow Region, edd. R. Miller and J. Tivy,

(Glasgow, 1958), 140.

There were of course other burgesses apart from the merchants and craftsmen.
Notaries and servants of the nobility, for imstance, might purchase burgess-
ship or receive it gratis.

Duncan, Scotlard, 469; Nicholson, Scotland, 115-116, 283, 445-446.

Duncan, Scotland, 488-489; Mackenzie, Scottish Burghs, 104, 114-117; Nicholson,
Scotland, 308-309, 446-452 (passim), 563-564.

M. Lynch, Edinburgh and the Reformation, (Edinburgh, 1981), 53-62 (passim). The

magistrates of Glasgow demonstrated their authority in November 1582

when they ordered John Wise, skinmer, to deliver to the skinmers' deacon 'ane box with

charter conforme to the lettir of deckinhead ... under pane of ane new upsett to the

crofte' : SRA MS C1/1/2 f55r.

Mackanzie, Scottish Burghs, 119-120; Dickinson and Buncan, Scotland, 288; APS ii,

497-498; Registrum Magni Sigilli Regum Scotorum: Register of the Great Seal of

Scotland, 1306-1668, edd. T. Thomson et. al., 12 vols.,(Edinburgh, 1814-1914),

[hereafter cited as RMS], iv, no. 1054.
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On supremacy of the merchants see P73-76. 0On one other possible reference to the
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86. See P8-14.

87. The existence of craft organisation prior to incorporation is verified by a
reference in 1577 to an officer to the fleshers, three years before this
craft received its seal of cause: SRA MS C1/1/1 f134r; Glas. Chrs., i, pt.i, 28
and Glas. Recs., i, 80.

88. Glas. Chrs., i, pt.i, 12. The skinners were a composite craft as were many of the
early crafts. The best example of such a craft was that of the hammermen which
included blacksmiths, goldsmiths, lorimers, saddlers, armourers, pewterers and

others: see H. Lumsden and P.H. Aitken, History of the Hammermen of Glasgow,

(Paisley, 1912), [hereafter cited as Lumsden and Aitken, Glasgow Hammermen], 5.

89. Renwick and Lindsay, Glasgow, 349-350 and Glas. Chrs., i, pt.i, 16-17.
90. Glas. Chrs., i, pt.i, 14.

91. Lumsden and Aitken, Glasgow Hammermen, 251-252.

92. Glas. Chrs., i, pt.i, 17.

93. 1Ibid., 1xxviii.

94, Ibid., 18-19.

95. 1Ibid., 23.

96. 1In October 1580: SRA MS C1/1/1 f265r (and Glas. Recs., i, 80).°
97. Glas. Chrs., i, pt.i, 40, 43-44.

98. SRO MS RH 11/32/1/1 no.3.

99. See P78-75.

100. See P16.

101. Renwick and Lindsay, Glasgow, 367-373, 379-381; D.E.R. Watt, Fasti Ecclesiae

Scoticanae Medii Aevi ad annum 1638,(SRS, 1969), [hereafter cited as Watt,

E§§Ei], 149-150. Apart from the attempt to have James Hamilton, brother of
Chatelherault, appointed archbishop, also nominated was Alexander Gordon,
brother of the earl of Huntly,who was installed as archbishop elect in March
1550 but who had resigned the see by September 1551. On this period see also
P91-52.

102. Andrew Hamilton of Cochno. See Appendix 1.1 in Vol.II, P1.

103. Glas. Chfs., i, pt.ii, 119-121. Mr John Colquhoun in his evidence on 20
January 1557 referred to this election, stating that Hall tried to avoid
appointment. The astute Beaton 'said to him becaus ye refuis I think you maist

liable': SRO MS RH 11/32/1/1 no.S.
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nos. 7-9.

105. Glas. Chrs., i, pt.i, p.dx1i.

106. SRO MS RH 11/32/1/1. See Appendix 1.2 in Vol.II, P8-9 for the bailies and
councillors involved.

107. See P7.

108. SRO MS RH11/32/1/1 nos. 7-9 passim.

109. SRO MS (CS7/15 ffér-10r.

110. Compare Prot. Bk. Glasgow, ii, nos. 316-363 with nos. 364-395, which record the

bailies giving sasines during 1556-1557.
111. Glas. Chrs., i, pt.ii, 125-126.
112. A.M. Jackson, Glasgow Dean of Guild Court - A History (Glasgow, 1983), 2-3;

G. Eyre-Todd, History of Glasgow - Volume II: From the Reformation tc the Revoluticn

(Glasgow, 1931) [hereafter cited as Eyre-Todd, Glasgow], 1.
113. Glas. Chrs., i, pt.ii, 126-129.
114. See Appendix 1.1 in Vol.II, P1.

115. The decree of forfeiture was pronounced on 18 September 1570: A Diurnal of

Remarkable Occurrents that have passed within the country of Scetland, since the

death of King James the Fourth till the year 1575, ed. T. Thomson, (Bannatyne

Club, 1833), 188, [hereafter cited as Diurnal of Occurrents]. The fact that Beaton

continued to enjoy the temporalities until 1570 is confirmed by the rental book

of the see, 1509-1570: Prot. Bk. Simon/Glas. Rent., i, 29. For William Walker's

letter see Miscellaneous Papers principally illustrative of events in the Reigns

of Queen Mary and King James VI, ed. W.J. Duncan (Maitland Club, 1834) [hereafter

cited as Miscellaneous Papers, Queen Mary and King James VI], 23.

116. Appendix 1.2 in Vol.II, P8-9 and Glas. Recs., i, 24, 81, 117.
117. Glas. Recs., i, 51.
118. M. Lynch, Edinburgh and the Reformation,(Edinburgh, 1981), especially 171-199.

119. Register of the Privy Council of Scotland, 1545-1625, edd. J. Hall Burton and D. Manson,

14 vols., (Edinburgh, 1877-1898), [hereafter cited as RPC], i, 302. William Hegate
was born c1521, (Prot. Bk. Glasgow, i, p.x). In his testimony during the

election dispute of 1554-1557 he stated that he had been town clerk since the
battle of Pinkie, 1547 (SRO MS RH11/32/1/1 no. 8) and he appears to have

remained in office until 1568, (Prot. Bk. Glasgow, iv, p.vii). As to his

Catholicism, later evidence shows that certain church silver was put into his
safe keeping at the Reformation (SRA MS C1/1/1 f123v) while in 1586 he was

accused.before the Glasgow kirk-session for having commented that 'the ministrie
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120.
121,
122.

123.

124,

125.

126.

was wrakeris and demoleteris of the kirk', (SRA MS CH2/550/1 f50v). His son
Archibald was a prominent recusant and in an anonymous letter of 1588 written to
the exiled Beaton, the writer commented that 'I heav gottin William Hegait and
his soune (quha baith laikkis na affectioun to do you service)i. (Miscellaneous

Papers, Queen Mary and King James VI, 48). See also P&1, 103.

RMS, iv, no.1969.
From the town clerk's protocols: see Appendix 1.1 in vol.II, P1.

SRA MS C1/1/2 f123v and Prot. Bk. Glasgow, vi, no. 1662.

James Fleming was prominent in burgh politics during the 1570s and 1580s
although after 1573-74 he did not become a bailie again until 1588 despite being
leeted several times in the interim (see Appendix 1.1 in Vol. 1I, P1-2). As in
the 1560s, there is the impression that although his status qualified him for
office he may not have been acceptable to his colleagues and the superiors. The

reasons remain a mystery. Married to Lord Boyd's daughter (Prot. Bk. Glasgow,

vii, no. 2006), he was one of the councillors removed by Esmé earl of Lennox in
1580 (see P10C-101; alsn Appendix 2.12 table 7 in Vel.II, P111-114), but although
this would place him within the 'presbyterian' group, be is conspicuously absent
from the kirk session during 1583-86 (on this point see below P105), his first
recorded appearance as an elder being in 1587 (SRA MS CH2/550/1 f80r). He died
in February 1593 (SRO MS CC8/8/25 f89r).

Mr. Adam Wallace was probably the same Wallace who matriculated“in 1539 (Glas,

Mun., ii, 291), though graduation details are missing between 1555 and 1578.

In the 1570s and 1580s he was rarely out of high burghal office. In January
1579 his son, John Wallace, was presented to the vicarage of Galston as a reader:

Registrum Secreti Sigilli Regum Scotorum : Register of the Privy Seal

of Scotland, 1488-1584, edd. M. Livingstone et.al., 8 vols., (Edinburgh; 1908-1982)
[hereafter cited as RSS], vii, no.1761. He was promirent on the Glasgow kirk
session during the 1580s (SRA MS CH2/550/1 passim). He had died by May 1599
(Prot. Bk. Glasgow, xi, no. 3555).

David Lyon appears to have continued in burgh goverrment in a minor capacity.

He was leeted master of work in 1574 and was appointed to the council in

October of that year, but had died by February 1575: SRA MS C1/1/1 ff15r, 29v.
Minto had been provost in the 1540s but following the battle of the Butts, 1544,
and the demise of the Lennox interest, he lost his position. See SRA A&GN 1541,
(notes on the pre-Reformation provosts of Glasgow by A.M. Jackson), p.53.

This assumes that David Lindsay and D.L. of Kittochside were the same person
(otherwise only five of the pre-Reformation bailies were re-appointed after 1560).

In the 1570s a prominent burgh politician was D.L. 'elder', who in October 1578
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128.

129.
13Q.

131.

132.
133.

while acting as bailie was referred to as 'of Kittochside', so the assumption
seems reasonable (SRA MS C/1/1 f209v).

It may also be noted that although Andrew Dunlop was not re-appointed, he was
leeted for a bailieship in 1561 (Glas. Chrs., i, pt.ii, 127).

Apart from this broad outline of politics during the 1560s it is not possible
to explain other phenomena, e.g., the long period out of office of two of the
'new' men, Archibald Lyon and John Wilson. (See Appendix 1.1 in Vol.II, P1).

G. Donaldson, The Scottish Reformation, (Cambridge, 1960), [hereafter cited as

Donaldson, Scottish Reformation], 37-44; Statutes of theScottish Church, ed.

D. Patrick,(SHS, 1907), 97, 141-142, 179-181. Note for example a Glasgow
alienation of 1551 justified as being 'for augmentation of the rental': Prot.
Bk. Glasgow, i, no.141.

The crown could not treat the bishoprics in quite the same way as the abbeys,
otherwise the ecclesiastical administration would have collapsed: Donaldson,

Scottish Reformation, 38. Thus Beaton and not Hamilton was preferred to the

see of Glasgow (see above P18 and note 101) and if his determination to control
the pretensions of the burgh is any guide (see above P18-21 ) then he probably
exercised quite a strong restraining influence on matters closer to the church.
See Appendix 1.3 in Vol.II, P10-25.

APS, ii, 540. The act was to run for three years and appears to have lapsed
thereafter. This may explain why there are relatively few crowfi confirmations
under the privy or great seals for the alienations which took place in Glasgow
(see RMS vols. iv-v and RSS vols. v-viii passim), while in March 1580 the
university complained to the Privy Council about fraudulent alienations continuing

(RPC, iii, 274). See alsc Donaldson, Scottish Reformation, 194-195.

It was tacitly accepted that the temporalities of the monasteries could not be

recovered: The First Book of Discipline, ed. J.K. Cameron,(Edinburgh, 1972),

27-32, 156-164 (esp. 160-162); G. Donaldson, Scotland: James V to James VII,

(Edinburgh, 1971), [hereafter cited as Donaldson, Scotland, James V-VII], 143-144.

RPC, 1, 201-203.
Glas. Chrs., i, pt.ii, 129-131; J. Durkan and J. Kirk,The University of

Glasgow, 1451-1577,(Glasgow, 1977), [hereafter cited as Durkan and Kirk, Glasgow

Universityl, 229-230. However within six weeks the baillies had to force
certain citizens to pay the rents formerly paid to the Dominicans to the
College: Glas. Chrs., i, pt.i, 20. On the cispersal of the Franciscans and the

destruction of their friary see Prot. Bk. Glasgow, v, nos. 1370 and 1374; on

the dispersal of the Dominicans see ibid., iii, no. 924 and v, no. 1425 and

also RMS, iv, no 1790.
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134.

135.

136.
137.

138.

129.

140.

141,

142,

143,
144.

David Wemyss became minister in c1562-1563: RPC, ii, 114. Prior to then services
were probably conducted by John Willock, who became superintendent in the west

in September 1561, and Mr James Hamilton, a prebendary of the collegiate church
who embraced the new faith and was a reader in the kirk of Glasgow by 1561:

Calendar of State Papers relating to Scotland and Mary Queen of Scots, 1547-1603,

edd. J. Bain et. al., 14 vols., (EZdinburgh 1898-19€9), i, 555; RPC, i, 498-499;

Durkan and Kirk, Glasgow University, 231-232.

RPC, i, 497-498; RSS, v, pt.ii, nos. 3273 (Dunbar, 20/2/1567), 3334 (Edinburgh,
13/3/1567), 3342 (Glasgow, 16/3/1567)etc., Donaldson, Scottish Reformation , 152.

Glas. Chrs., i, pt.ii, 131-137, 444,
On the 1573 test act see APS, iii, 72.
For examples of post 1567 alienations without reference to the magistrates and

council, many by cathedral canons, see Prot. Bk. Glasgow, iii, nos. 957-959, $70;

ibid., iv, no. 983; ibid., v, nos. 1570 and 1571; ibid., vi, nos. 1649, 1676,
1734; Glas. Chrs., ii, p.606; RMS, iv, no. 2068; RSS, vi, nos. 868, 1662.
Similar conveyances continue to be found after 1573 when the burgh transferred

to the university the properties it had obtained in 1567: see Prot. Bk. Glasgow,

vii, nos. 1980 and 1981; ibid., viii, nos. 2324 and 2390; RMS, iv nos. 2664 and
2954; ibid., v, no. 545; RSS, viii, nos. 1565 and 2616. See also Appendix 1.3
in Vol.II, P10-25.

RPC, i, 508-509. To defray the costs to the burgh, this act also authorised
the magistrates and council to levy a tax on the inhabitants.

Glas. Chrs., i, pt.ii, 137-140.

RPC, ii, 114-115; R. Renwick, Glasgow Memorials,(Glasgow, 1908), 270, 273-274.

RSS, vi, no. 868 and Prot. Bk. Glasgow, vi, no. 1794; Durkan and Kirk, Glasgow

University, 244-247. On Queen Mary's foundation of 1563 see P26.

Glas. Chrs., i, pt.ii, 149-162. Although only Queen Mary's foundation was
specifically mentioned in the charter, ie. the two-thirds obtained by the burgh
in March 1567, the thirds obtained in June 1568 must also have been included

as the subsequent accounts of the burgh record that the university was
uplifting these between 1574 and 1579 from those churches properties retained
by the burgh: see Glas. Recs., i, 452; see also Glas. Mun., i, 159-177 passim.
See n.123 above.

Durkan and Kirk, Glasgow University, 249-254, 283-292 passim. On the 1562 act

of the Privy Council see P26.
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146.
147.

148.
149.
150.

151.
152.

153.
154.
155.

156.
157.
158.

159.

On these difficulties see J.D. Mackie, The University of Glasgow, 1451—1951’

(Glasgow, 1954), 61-62 and also n. 130 above. On the properties received by

the university see Glas. Mun., i, 159-177. Also discussed in Chapter V, P350-
353.

See Appendix 1.3 in Vol.II, P10-25.

Glas. Chrs., i, pt.ii, 161 and see P310-311. Most cf these properties

pertained to the new kirk but among properties not transferrec in 1573 was the
hospital and chaplainry founded by Roland Blacalder. This seems to have remained
with the incumbent, Sir William Crawford, until his death in 1589, when it passed

to the burgh: see Prot. Bk. Glasgow, ii, p.115; Glas. Recs, i, 147.

See P22.

Eyre-Todd, Glasgow, 26-27 and Glas. Chrs., i, pt.i, 24.

Eyre-Todd, Glasgow, 27 and RPC, ii, 302. The castle had been seized by
Chatelherault at the Reformation and had subsequently passed to Lennox and
Minto as bailie and depute bailie of the regality. This act merely confirmed
an existing state of affairs.

Glas. Recs., i, 51; see P23.

Miscellaneous Papers, Queen Mary and King James VI, 24. An instrument of March

1566 records what was probably the proper mode of alienation. William Hegate
obtained common lands in Cowcaddens from the magistrates and council 'with
consent of ... James by divine mercy archbishop of Glasgow or of’a venerable

man Mr James Balfour dean of Glasgow and vicar general thereof during the

absence of the said most reverend father in parts beyond the sea' : Prot. Bk.
Glasgow, v, no. 1527. Of the post 1568 alienations of common lands recorded

by the town clerk, only one records a similar authorisation : ibid., vi, no. 1606.
Glas. Recs., i, 50-52.

See Appendix 1.4 in Vol.II, P26-29.

I.B. Cowan, Regional Aspects of the Scottish Reformation,(Historical Association,

1978), 30-33; M. Lynch, Edinburgh and the Reformation, (Edinburgh, 1981), 56-59. In

£dinburgh Cathalicism appears to have been particularly resilient among the hammermen
but was also found among the baxters, goldsmiths and skinners.

Durkan and Kirk, Glasgow University, 237-238.

See P29.
The coopers in 1569 (Glas. Chrs. i, pt.i, 24); the tailors in 1569 (Renwick and

Lindsay, Glasgow, 350); the hammermen in 1570 (Lumsden and Aitken, Glasgow
Hammermen, 8).

APS, ii, 535.
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160. Prot. Bk. Glasgow, v, nos. 1382, 1384, 1398, 1399. Also GUA MS 16471-16473

(Blackhouse Inventory nos. 273-275). See also Durkan and Kirk, Glasgow
University, 238.

161. GUA Blackhouse Inventory no. 272. The original is missing but the catalogue
entry is very detailed.

162. Prot. Bk. Glasgow, iv, p. 121n.

163. APS, iii, 72.

164. RPC, ii, 140, 146, 150; Mitchell Library MS SR 143 586930, letter from John,
earl of Mar, April 1570. (See P294).

165. The Scots Peerage, ed. J. Balfour Paul, 9 vols., (Edinburgh, 1904-1914), [here-

after cited as Scots Peeragel, v, 159.
166. RSS, vi, no. 1107.
167. APS, iii, 69-70; RMS, iv, no. 2068; Watt, Fasti, 150.
168. The Booke of the Universall Kirk of Scotland : Acts and Proceedings of the

General Assemblies of the Kirk of Scotland, ed. T. Thomson, 3 vols. and

appendix vol., (Bannatyne and Maitland Clubs, 1839-1845), [hereafter cited as BUKI,
i, 207-236, 246; Donaldson, Scottish Reformation, 160-171; The Second Book of

Discipline, ed. J. Kirk, (Edinburgh, 1980),23-26. Access to the lesser benefices

had been assured in 1566: APS, iii, 23; Donaldson, Scottish Reformation, 152-153.

169. On the Glasgow chapter see BUK, i, 224-226 : of the then chapter only six were
ministers and fifteen ministers were added to form the new electoral chapter.
On the licence, see RSS, vi, no. 1472 and Watt, Fasti, 150.

170. Donaldson, Scottish Reformation, 163; Watt, Fasti, 150. The see being vacant

again, the crown made further encroachments on its temporalities. There is
evidence of crown grants of pensions from this source in 1572 (RSS, vi, nos.
1769, 1791) while in March 1573 Lord Boyd's nephew, Robert Boyd of Baddinheath,
was put in possession of the archbishop's mansion at Lochwood (ibid., no. 1874).

171. Watt, Fasti, 150; RSS, vi, nos. 2142, 2175, 2192. Also RSS, vi, no. 2229, a
discharge by the archbishop of his uncle's intromissions as chamberlain of the
archbishopric during the vacancy, a post which Lord Boyd had presumably received
from the regent Morton.

172. See Mitchell Library MS SR 143 586930, letter of 11 October 1573 by which
Morton appointed the bailies of the burgh, proving that prior to November 1573
the crown was acting for the superior and confirming that Lord Boyd must have
received the provostship through the same source, ie., the regent.

173. The Autobiography and Diary of Mr. James Melvill, ed. R. Pitcairn, (Wodrow

Society, 1842), 47-48.
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174. RPC, ii, 697-698 and RMS, iv, no. 2407.
175. Glas. Recs., 1, 22. It will be recalled that the more usual practice was for
the provost, or some other person, to be depute bailie, distinct from the

baillie : see P7-8 and Appendix 1.1 in Vol. II, P2-7.
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CHAPTER II

THE BURGH CONSTITUTION, THE RULING ELITE
AND BURGH POLITICS, 1574-86

1. The Burgh Constitution

When archbishop Beaton and the leading burgesses of Glasgow
disputed the method of choosing the burgh's bailies in the 1550s
neither party to the contest could produce a written sett or
constitution of the burgh to substantiate their claims. This was
particularly a problem for the burgesses, for the archbishop was
able to cite the regality charter of 1476 which supported his view
that the final choice in the election of the bailies rested with the
superior. Yet this document in itself was not sufficient, for
recourse had to be had to the testimony of thirty-four leaders of
the community before judgement could be given by the Lords of

Council and Session in favour of the archbishop in May 1557.

This decreet was to be for many years the sole written element
in the burgh's constitution. In the first decade of the seventeenth
centufy matters were put on a more formal basis by the Letter of
Guildry of February 1605 (which established and requlated the dean
of guild and his court, the deacon convener and other officials) and by a
royal letter of November 1606 which decreed that the burgh council
was to be made up of an equal number of merchants and craftsmen.?
However a comprehensive sett, detailing the mechanism employed in
the election of all major officials and councillors, would not be

recorded in the town council's minute books until 1711.3

The absence of such a document and the consequential reliance
on custom and 'the memory of man' help to explain why, despite the
settlement of 1557, constitutional difficulties continued throughout
the late sixteenth century. These are recorded in the burgh court
and council minutes which are extant from 19 January 1574 but apart
from affording evidence of discord these records make it possible
for the first time to reconstruct the burgh sett as it operated

prior to the reforms of the early seventeenth century.
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Broadly speaking there were each year three sets of elections
or, to be more precise, meetings at which burgh officials were
appointed. Taking these chronologically and in increasing order
of importance, the first to be noted occurred before Easter, at a
time which varied between five weeks to only four days before that

feast. At these meetings (usually routine sittings of the burgh

4 These were minor

court) the poinder and the herdsmen were chosen.
officials and there is nothing in the minutes to suggest that they
were elected. Instead they were probably appointed by the
magistrates, perhaps in consultation with certain members of the
council. On first sight it might appear odd that these officials
were chosen at the same time but in fact their functions were

related. The herdsmen's task was to ensure that the town's herds

did not stray onto arable land when they moved to the common
pasturage in early spring. Owners of livestock which was not

placed in their care and which damaged crops risked having the
offending animals escheated by the poinder on behalf of the community.
It might also appear odd that when the office of calf herd was
instituted in 1576 appointees were not chosen at the same time as

the herdsmen. However the very nature of the job was determined

by the time at which the calves could be separated from their

mothers and consequently the calf herds were appointed later,

in May.?

The second group of appointments was effected at the court of
the perambulation of the marches held at the Milndam on the first
Tuesday after Whitsun, a meeting also referred to as the 'Witsondaye'
court.® Unlike the routine sittings of the burgh court it would
seem that a larger body of the burgesses was expected to attend this
meeting, if not in fact all the burgesses. Thus, when in June 1578
a statute was passed which attempted to counteract non-attendance,
those who were supposed to attend were defined as 'all honest men
of counsell and counsell peris, dekyn and dekyn peris' plus all
men 'abill and sufficient to be unlawit ilk persoun for viii s'. 7/
The inspection of the burgh's boundaries was carried out by the

magistrates assisted by a group of individuals called the outlandmen
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whose function was to report damage to the marches and encroachments
on the burgh's stock of common land. The names of the appointees

are recorded in the minutes but how they were chosen or by whom is not
disclosed, although it is conceivable that some form of election took

place. 8

Also appointed at the Whitsunday court were the town's minstrels,

two in number. However in 1575 it was decided to defer their appoint-

ment until the later Summerhill court, 'quhen the haill communite salbe
present to give thair votis thairanent’. ? This comment, taken in
conjunction with the above mentioned statute of June 1578, might suggest
that the definition contained in that statute did not encompass all

the burgesses; it is highly unlikely, however, that it meant that the
unfreemen would be involved at the Summerhill court, for the concept

of the burgh community embraced only the burgesses, the freemen. The
action adopted in 1575 may simply have been occasioned by the

perennial problem of low attendances by the burgesses at the Whitsun
perambulations, a problem which the 1578 statute was designed to
remedy. However that may be, the minute of 1575 proves that the

minstrels were elected by the 'communite'.

The attendance of some of the wealthier members of the community
at the Whitsun court could probably be guaranteed for at these
meetings the farms of the three tolls (the bridge toll, the ladle and
the mill) were rouped and farmed to the highest bidders. Although
neither appointed by the magistrates nor elected by the community
these men were in effect acting as officials on an agency basis,
paying a lump sum to the burgh's common purse and recouping this
outlay from the dues which they personally collected. On the one
hand this arrangement speeded the burgh's cash flow and eased the
difficulties of the treasurer while, on the other, it gave the
individual farmers ample scope in a good year to cream off a sizeable

profit into their own purses.0

Besides the appointments already noted as being effected at
the Whitsunday courts, three officials were invariably chosen, the
treasurer, '’ the master of work'2 and the common clerk.'? These were

men of considerably higher rank than those thus far noticed and they
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received a salary from the common good commensurate with the fee
enjoyed by the bailies.' They were definitely elected, for the
minutes almost always record not just the appointees but alsc those
men who were leeted unsuccessfully for these posts. It seem highly
probable that at this time the electorate comprised those men who

were ordered to attend these meetings, as defined in the 1578 statute.’

The third set of appointments was conducted shortly after
Michaelmas 1in the first week of October and commenced usually
(but not always) on the Tuesday immediately following that feast.
This was not the Michaelmas head court which tended to be held either
a week or a fortnight later. In 1469 Parliament had transferred the
election of burgh magistrates to the old councils, thus depriving the
Michaelmas head court of one of its prime functions, and reducing the
influence of the 'haill communite'. Although this act was directed
at royal burghs (and imperfectly observed even in them) it had
probably influenced the practice adopted in Glasgow.16

The first official to be appointed was the provost who, as senior
magistrate and leader of the administration, was chosen by the superior,
a right which was not openly challenged by the burgesses during this
period. Prior to 1609 the provost was not a burgess but a member
of the local gentry or even, for a short period, a member of the
nobility. He was also associated with the bailieship of the regality.
These factors, together with the method of his appointment,set him
apart from the burgesses and all other burgh officials. He was
primarily an officer of the archbishop. However, as shall be
demonstrated, during the 1570s and 1580s the control of the burgh,
and with it the loyalty of the provosts, was to move from the

archbishops to the crown.

The election of the bailies was usually effected on the same day
that the provost was appointed. Whereas the burgesses had no say in
the appointment of that magistrate, the method of choosing the bailies
involved both the community and the superior, an arrangement which
reflected the fact that these magistrates were both leaders of the
community and officers of the archbishops. Thus the new provost,

the old bailies and the old council drew up a leet which was then
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presented to the superior who chose from it those who would be bailies
in the ensuing year. The new bailies (and the new provost) would
then be formally sworn in by the old bailies and council, receiving
their commissions and giving their oaths 'for leill and trew
administratione in thair offices during the tyme thairof'. '®

It is not known how the leets for the bailies were drawn up.
In 1607 the candidates were exclusively of the merchant rank and
numbered seventeen, but this seems to have been an exceptional
procedure.'” During the 1570s and 1580s there is clear evidence that
craftsmen were leeted and that on one occasion a craftsman bailie

) 20 Similarly,

was appointed (John Wilson, pewterer, in 1576-77
between 1574 and 1586 the number leeted varied from six (1576, 1577)

and seven (1582) to eleven (1581) but the usual figure was eight

(all other years). The number of appointees also varied, from two
(1575, 1576, 1577 and 1579) to three (all other years). Nor was

there a reqular practice regarding whether or not the old bailies

were included on the leet. These grey areas, caused by the absence

of a written sett, led to several difficulties between the superior

and the leaders of the burgh community as to the precise interpretation
which.was to be placed on the 1557 decreet of the Lords of Council

of Session.?!

The election of the burgh council normally took place two days
after the appointment of the provost and bailies and was conducted
by the provost, the new bailies and the old bailies.??2 But was there
an election as such or were the councillors merely appointed? It would
seem that they were elected, although the term appears only twice,
in 1575 ('electit and chesit') and on 20 October 1580 ('chosin and
electit').?®> The minutes do not however disclose how the election was
conducted. The sett of 1711 describes how the merchant and craft
councillors of the preceding year were to be leeted, together with
others of the same rank who had not been councillors, to produce a
council of thirteen merchants and twelve craftsmen. It is conceivable
that a practice akin to this was used in the late sixteenth century,
although the particular division of the council as described in 1711

did not come into operation until 1606.2
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Once the council had been elected the remaining appointments
were made, presumably by the new magistrates and councillors, although
this was never specified. The officials concerned were the keepers
of the keys (almost invariably leading councillors who acted as
custodians of the town's muniments), the liners (who dealt with
boundary disputes), the common procurator (who prosecuted actions
on behalf of the burgh), the water bailie (who controlled fishing),

- the collectors of seal silver and burgess heir fines, and the
officers.?’ There is no evidence that elections were conducted
for these posts during this period save in the case of the officers

for whom leets were recorded in 1574, 1578 and 1583.

Because of the absence of a written sett, the foregoing general
analysis of the burgh's constitution and method of appointing
officials in the late sixteenth century is, of necessity, a
reconstruction based on the surviving minutes. It should be noted
that it excludes a variety of minor or ad hoc officials, evidence
for whom is found elsewhere in the minutes or from passing
references in the accounts. These officials can be divided into

several categories according to their duties.

Firstly there were officials associated with the burgh court
and its legal functions. In the case of the dempster (who 'confermit'
the court, called the suits and pronounced doom or sentence as
directed by the magistrates or the clerk) no appointments were
recorded but the office holders can be identified through the
minutes of the burgh court. Evidence as to the post of hangman
or executioner is confined to the burgh's accounts which include
references to the scourging of felons by Malcolm Hamilton who,
though never referred to as the hangman or executioner, obviously
held this position. The burgh gaol was in the tolbooth. The burgh
employed sir Archibald Dickie to look after the tolbooth clock, but
it is evident that the kirk session also used him as their gaoler.
In all likelihood he worked in this capacity for the burgh court as
well. Lastly the officer to the university had a specific remit
regarding the prosecution of the university's interests in the burgh

and was sworn into office usually, but not always, after the main set
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of Michaelmas appointments. The surviving minutes show that he
was appointed by the magistrates and council at the request of the
university and had the same powers as the burgh's own officers, within

his special area of interest.?®

The second group comprises those minor officials whose duties
related .to the burgh's markets. The common 'mettar' or weigher appears
to have been primarily concerned with the measurement of malt bought
or sold within the burgh, but his exact remit is uncertain and he is
referred to only twice in the minutes during this period. The
keeper of the grass market is also mentioned only twice, this time
in the burgh accounts and again his remit is uncertain although it
was probably similar to that of the other market inspectors.
Supervision and inspection of the markets was usually delegated to
thé bailies and the burgh officers but on occasions visitors to the
meal market and the corn market were appointed. Similarly groups
of ale tasters were sometimes employed to examine the quality and
price of ale being retailed in the burgh and to ensure that unfreemen
were not usurping the privilege of brewing which was confined to
burgesses. These occasional appointments of market visitors and ale
tastérs (which occur in 1574, 1577 and 1581) were effected through
the annual set of statutes passed at Michaelmas after the October

elections.?’

J

Finance is the common bond linking the third group . Ordinary
income was derived from a variety of sources, including land rents. In
the mid-1570s part of the burgh's stock of common muir land in
Garngadhill and Gallowmuir was feued out and the accounts disclose
that at first 'males of the new rewin furtht muris' were taken up by
a special collector who assisted the treasurer with this element of
the common good. Extraordinary income, on the other hand, was
raised through special taxations or stents. Twice, in 1574 and
1577, the magistrates and council authorised the levying of stents
to assist with public works then in hand, on each occasion appointing
groups of stenters whose names were recorded in the minutes. Related
entries in the accounts show that the treasurer was not involved on

these occasions: instead the monies taken up by the stenters appear
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to have been the responsibility of an overseeer or collector. 28

Minor public health officials were also employed, the keeper of
the Gallowgate well, the keeper of the kirk yards of the High Kirk
and the keeper of the burial bell. More important were the ad hoc
groups of officials appointed during the plague emergencies of 1574
and 1584, but the most notable 'public health' official was the
surgeon retained by the burgh. Two are noted in the minutes,
Alexander Hay, who was in receipt of a fee in 1577-78 of £6 13s 4d,
and Thomas Mylne who succeeded him and was retained for £20, a
remarkably high sum since it was equalled only by the fee paid to

the provost.?’

The last official to be noted was the keeper of the tolbooth
'knok' or clock who, as already mentioned, may also have acted as
gaoler. In his capacity as keeper of the knok, however, he was in
receipt of an annual fee from the common good and, although it was
never stated,may have been responsible to the master of work while

acting in this capacity.?0

FClearly the administration of the burgh was, even at this
early date, quite sophisticated and its complexities had grown as
the town had prospered. It has been estimated that the population
of Glasgow was about 3,000 in 1500 and had risen to 4,500 by 1560.
In the following forty years it may have risen to around 7,000.31
The sasines engrossed in the town clerks' protocol books indicate
considerable development in the Stockwell and Mutland croft areas
of the burgh from about 1575 onwards and the arrangements made in
1574 and 1584 to cope with the threat of plague appear to substantiate
the population estimates. In the former year thirty-eight officials
had been deemed sufficient but ten years later the number had risen
to fifty-five. Furthermore, as these officials were arranged by
districts, some indication of relative population density may be
obtained by comparing the number of appointees chosen in each of
these years. Examination of these figures indicates that, as might
be expected, the population was at its densest in the areas
adjoining the Cross and that these districts may have experienced

2

a dramatic population increase during this decade.? This general

54



impression, that the burgh's population was expanding in the decade
after the civil war, is corroborated further by the sinking of a
new well in the Gallowgate in 1575. *® An increase in population
implies an increase in prosperity and the sharp rise during these
years in the income which accrued from the petty custom of the
ladle (levied on all victual coming to the market) confirms this
phenomenon. ** Glasgow's market, 'the maist renoumed market in all

the west, honorable and celebrate', was flourishing.??

A rising population and a busy market place put considerable
pressure on the administrators of the burgh. The traditional
officials, formally chosen at Whitsun and Michaelmas, had found it
necessary to delegate certain duties to a plethora of minor officials
as business became more involved and time consuming. The appointments
of some of these men (such as the herdsmen and poinder at Easter)
had become integrated with the sett and were recorded reasonably
regularly. Many of the other minor appointments were simply not
recorded at all and this survey, being dependent on chance references
in the minutes and accounts, may not embrace all the officials who

were in operation during this period.

Common to several of the minor appointments was the practice
of employing cautioners who stood surety for the good behaviour of
the officials concerned. This was of obvious importance in the case
of the farmers of the town's petty customs where a guarantee had to
be provided to ensure that income accrued to the common good. The
use of this device in other cases reflected the need to provide
security when duties were being delegated without adequate control
and it is found being employed with the poinders, herdsmen, calf herds
and (most notably) the officers, the system being introduced in their

6 In some

case after a case of maladministration in the mid 1570s.°
respects the cautioners can be regarded as quasi-officials since they
acted as sureties on behalf of the burgh administration, although
they were not of course office holders per se. Significantly,
however, many of the men who stood surety for burgh officials were
themselves either prominent office holders or councillors and their

importance was demonstrated in 1580 when, with the advent of Esmé
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earl of Lennox as provost, many officials and councillors were removed
from office: although the officers were not purged in October 1580

a new set of cautioners was appointed to them. >/

2. The ruling elite

Having outlined the burgh sett and the range of official duties
which existed in Glasgow in the late sixteenth century, a number of
factors require consideration before the politics of the period can be
examined. In particular, how representative of burgh society were the
men who served in its administration and how did they attain office

(particularly high office)?

Burgh society was strictly demarcated between the burgesses or
freemen and the unfreemen. The former had the right to deal in commerce
and to manufacture goods and to hold property by burgage tenure but
their unfree neighbours had no such rights. The unfreemen were the
unskilled labourers, journeymen, servants, seamen and the like, while
beneath them were the urban lumpenproletariat, the vagabonds, thieves
and prostitutes. Together they may well have comprised about 75% of the
population (if not more) but because they had no rights they have left
little evidence of their activities save when their misdemeanours
caused them to be summoned before the burgh court or the kirk session.
All wealth, status and local influence accrued to the burgesses and it
was they and they alone who could serve in the administration of the
burgh. At a very rough estimate, if thérﬁgbulation of Glasgow during
the 1570s and 1580s is set at around 5,000, 75% of whom were unfree,
then there may have been about 1,250 burgesses. The number may have
been even greater for during the period 1574 to 1586 524 new burgesses
were created, yet when those involved in some way in local government
are considered (all of whom, save perhaps the town executioner, were
almost certainly freemen) only about 240 men are found. Clearly many
burgesses were not involved in the administration but although the
above calculations must be treated with the greatest caution it is

already obvious that sixteenth century burgh government was oligarchic.

The nature of this oligarchy can be more clearly defined when it
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is noted that of these 240 men only 92 held senior positions (either
as councillors or as senior officials). Setting aside the seven
provosts who were members of the gentry and nobility, the governance
of the burgh rested with a small group of men at the core of which
were the bailies and councillors. All the bailies, all bar one of
the common procurators and most of the key keepers and liners were
drawn from the body of councillors, while most of the treasurers and
masters of work became councillors after their appointment. The
remaining senior official, the common clerk, did not sit on the
council although during this period two former clerks became

councillors.

An analysis of the general trend in council appointments during
these years suggests that there was an annual turnover of about one
third of the membership, with two thirds being retained. These figures
are however deceptive. Being an average they exclude years when as many
as 88% were retained the followingyear (as in the case of the 1576-77
council) or as few as 37% were continued in office (as in the case of the
1581-82 council), The figures also exclude men who, though not
reappointed immediately, nonetheless returned to the council at some
subsequent election. If account is taken of this factor the average
continuity figure of 66% rises to 85%, Similarly the average influx

of 'nmew blood' was only 23%.38

The full extent of the self-perpetuating nature of the council
becomes apparent when the pattern of appointments is examined more
closely. Between 1574-75 and 1585-86 the size of the council rose
from fourteen to thirty-three. In all there were 295 council seats
in this period, held by seventy-nine men. Thus on average these men
were councillors four times. However if the men who served only once
are discounted, forty-five councillors remain, or a ratio of one man
to five seats. This can be refined further. If all those who served
five times or less are removed, eighteen men remain holding 145 of
these council positions. On average these men were councillors eight times.
Put another way, 23% of the total number of councillors held 49% of
the available council seats. Obviously there was within the group of
senior officials and councillors an inner group which dominated the

oligarchy. To identify these men it is necessary to turn to the bailies.
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Promotion from the council to the bailieships was open to a
select few. During these twelve years a total of twenty-eight men
(all councillors) were nominated to these prestigious posts but only
twelve were successful, sharing between them the thirty-five bailie-
ships which were authorised by the superior. Frequency of leeting
did not guarantee success. James Fleming was leeted seven times
unsuccessfully, although he had been and would again be a bailie
outwith this period. George Herbertson was nominated six times without
success but his failure to be elected may have been due to his
reputation as a troublemaker. His attacks on two bailies (George
Elphinstone in 1580 and Robert Stewart in 1581) can hardly have
impressed the superior who would have sought reliable and compatible
magistrates. If the appointees are examined it can be seen that the
bailieships were dominated by John Graham (chosen three times),
Robert Rowat and Mr Adam Wallace (four times), Robert Stewart (five
times), George Elphinstone (six times) and William Cunninghame

(seven times).>?

There was a clear system of rotation between the bailieships
and the council. Thus Mr Adam Wallace was a bailie in 1574-75,
a councillor from 1575 to 1577, a bailie in 1577-78, a councillor
from 1578 to 1582, bailie from 1582 to 1584 and a councillor from
1584 to 1586. If the appointees to the bailieships and the council
are considered in conjunction it becomes possible to identify the
inner group within the senior officials and councillors which
dominated burgh government during the period 1574-1586. 1In this
twelve year period there were thirteen sets of appointments to the
bailieships and the council (because of the double set of elections
in October 1580 occasioned by Earl Esmé's quest for a compliant
magistracy and council). The following inner group emerges: Andrew
Baillie and Mr Adam Wallace (never out of office as bailies or
councillors); William Cunninghame and Archibald Lyon (twelve terms
of office as bailies or councillors); Robert Stewart and George
Herbertson (eleven terms; the latter as a councillor only, his wealth
and status no doubt over-riding any unpopularity caused by his
quarrelsome disposition); Robert Adam and James Fleming (ten terms,

as councillors only); George Elphinstore and Robert Rowat (nine terms
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as bailies or councillors); John'Graham, younger, David Lindsay,
elder, John Lindsay and John Clerk (eight terms, the last

two as councillors only); George Burrell, Gavin Graham, James Lyon,
Robert Muir and Matthew Wilson (seven terms, all as councillors); and
Hector Stewart and John Wilson (both of whom served six terms, once
each as bailies) and John Anderson, John Fleming and David Hall (who

each served six terms, all as councillors). 40

Almost all of the bailies were drawn from the inner group, the only
exception being Colin Campbell (bailie in 1581-82, and a councillor
on two other occasions). Likewise all bar one of the common procurators
who can be identified during these years were derived from this group.
Here the only exception was Robert Lord Boyd who, in 1575-76, combined
this post with the provostship.4! The domination of councillors, and
in particular these leading burgesses, can be detected in other
senior appointments especially those effected at Michaelmas, namely

the key keepers and the liners.

The position of key keeper seems to have been a sinecure
reserved for senior councillors, including those who had not become
bailies. Twelve sets of appointments survive which record that
twenty-one men were appointed to a total of seventy-seven places.
All bar one were councillors or holders of senior posts on their
appointment and fifteen belonged to the inner group, some of whom
(for example Andrew Baillie and Archibald Lyon, keepers ten times

each) monopolised these posts. 42

The appointments of liners reflect the same features, albeit to
a slightly lesser degree. Over thirteen sets of appointments there
were a total of eighty-eight places held by only twenty-one men.
Sixteen were councillors or senior officers at the time of their
appointment, while another (James Braidwood, liner in 1576-77) had
been and would againbe a councillor. Eleven of these men belonged
to the inner group and once again several of these men dominated
the office, in particular James Fleming, Robert Muir and Matthew
Wilson who were each appointed liners on ten occasions. However
councillors did not monopolise this post to quite the same extent as

they did the posts of key keepers principally becausg unlike those
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posts, the liners had a quite specific and active role to fulfil

which called for some degree of expertise. Thus, with one possible

exception (in 1574-75), the liners always included a mason. Neither

Walter Johnstone nor James Wilson, both masons who served seven

and six times respectively as liners, were councillors. 43
Nonetheless the liners were mostly councillors. An obvious result

of the council's very real control over these and the other senior

posts noted thus far was pluralism. Except when acting as bailies

men could hold several posts simultanecusly. For example James

Fleming was a councillor, common procurator and key keeper in 1574-75.

In the following three years (1575-78) he was successively leeted

(unsuccessfully) for a bailieship but was appointed a councillor, key

keeper and liner,44 while on each occasion he had already been

appointed master of work at Whitsun.

Of the three senior offices filled at Whitsun (the others being the
posts of the treasurer and clerk), that of the master of work most displayed
the features common to the later Michaelmas appointments, namely
caouncillor domination and pluralism.45 During this twelve year
period seventeen men were leeted for this post. All were established
office holders, nine from the inner group. Frequency of leeting
did not guarantee an appointment, the more so since only five men
succeeded in becoming masters of work. Of these five appointees,
four were members of the inner group, one of whom in particular
dominated this position (James Fleming, master of work five times).

As to pluralism, the master of work appears to have been ex officio

a liner; every year bar three he became a key keeper and with

only four exceptions a councillor. It should be noted however that,
although on one occasion (in 1584) the treasurer was leeted master of
work, there appears to have been an accepted rule that the posts of
master of work, treasurer and clerk should not be combined. Similarly,
they could not be combined with a bailieship: in October 1580 Gavin
Graham was specifically barred from the election of the bailies because

he was already master of work. 46

The treasureship was more unusual.?’/ A unique feature of this

post among the senior positions (caused, no doubt, by the financial
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responsibility placed on the incumbent) was the fact that no man was
elected treasurer more than once. Only slightly less remarkable was
the pattern of leeting. Between 1574 and 1585 there were thirty-
eight candidates but only twelve were already established office
holders, six being members of the councillor inner group. Of these
twelve men three became treasurers but only one (Robert Adam) belonged
to that inner group. The other nine successful candidates were drawn
from the remaining twenty-six 'new' men. Thus the post was relatively
free from the influence of established officers and councillors.
Similarly it did not provide much opportunity for pluralism. Only
once (and that in exceptional circumstances - the death of an
incumbent) *®  did a treasurer become a key holder and they were never
involved in the lining function. In part the pressures of their job
(and in the case of key keepership perhaps questions of financial
security) explain these phenomena. However it may also be noted that
nine of the twelve treasurers in this period were, subsequent to their

appointment, elected to the council.

The clerkship was unique in that this senior official was never
a councillor. Furthermore because the clerk had to be an expert in
the law there was no input to the leets from the senior officials
and councillors thus far mentioned.49 This in itself helps to explain
why only eight men, seemingly all notaries, appeared on the leets for
the clerkship. Yet just as all the posts discussed (with the exception
of the treasurership) were dominated by a small group of influential
men, so too was the clerkship. Indeed two men monopolised this office
during these years: Mr Henry Gibson (clerk from about 1568 until 158190
and Archibald Hegate (clerk from 1581 until 1588)?1However it is noteworthy
that Hegate's father, William Hegate (who had been clerk in the
1560s prior to Gibson),52 was leeted continually and without success
between 1574 and 1580. As soon as Archibald Hegate became clerk in
1581 it would appear that family ambition had been satisfied for
in the subsequent elections William did not compete with his son.
Instead he joined the council in October 1581 as did Mr Henry Gibson
whom the younger Hegate had displaced five months previously. Thus
there was a 'conciliar' 1link even with this post, albeit of a

retrospective nature: both men were prominent councillors up until
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the mid 1580s at least, and Gibson was elected to the 1589-90 council.’>

In conclusion the senior officials and councillors (eighty-five
men, excluding the provosts, two of whom nonetheless were also
councillors) may be viewed as two groups. An inner cabal of twenty-
four men dominated the council and the most senior posts in the
administration while the remaining outer group consisted of men who
served on the council less than six times and who were less prominent
in these other positions. Yet together they formed a fairly close
knit and self-perpetuating body which comprised about 35% of the total
number of men (240) found involved in the burgh's affairs during these
years. They were an oligarchy within a wider group of men which

: adult .
itself may have represented only about 5% of theApopulatlon.54

The distinction between these senior officials and the other men
employed in the administration was quite pronounced. Minor officials
such as the dempsters, poinders, herdsmen, water bailies and burgh
officers never enjoyed higher office and, as a corollary to this,
senior officials and councillors did not serve in these positions.
However senior men were to be found, in varying numbers, acting
alongside their junior colleagues in such administrative groupings

as the outlandmen, but they were never in the majority.

Between 1574 and 1584, fifty-three outlandmen can be identified
of whom twenty-three were also at some time senior officials or
councillors, eighteen were holders of other minor posts and the
remaining twelve appeared in this capacity only.?®> Similarly, of
the thirty-eight plague officials appointed in 1574 eleven were then
senior officials or councillors; nine were then holders of other
minor posts; eighteen held no other post at the time of their
appointment and of these men ten held no other posts at all during
this period. This division was even more marked ten years later.
Forty-nine plague officials appointed in 1584 can be identified.
Only six then held office (five at a senior level), forty-three held
no other post at the time of their appointment and of these twenty-
nine held no other post at all during these years. 6 The same
phenomenon is observable to varying degrees among the market

visitors and stenters and indeed the same men reappear in these minor
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positions to an extent which strongly suggests that outwith the

group of leading officials there was another group of lesser burgesses
who were called upon to fulfil minor administrative duties. Thus,

for example, of the thirteen ale tasters appointed on 6 October 1574,
eight were also employed as plague officials three weeks later;

these plague officials in turn included six of the stenters appointed
earlier on 21 August. Similarly, four of the twelve ale tasters
appointed in October 1577 were chosen as stenters one month later.

And, as already noted, in times of emergency, such as the plague crises
of 1574 and 1584, an even wider group of burgesses would be called

upon to assist the administration.®’

Examination of the careers of the men who served the burgh
administration emphasises the distinction between these two groups.
Few minor office holders went on to become senior officials. There
are some examples of men rising through the ranks (for example John
Hamilton, outlandman and stenter in 1577, later councillor in 1585-86
or Mungo Wilson, outlandman in 1576, leeted for the treasurership
unsuccessfully in 1581, a plague official in September 1584 and
appointed to the council the following month) but these men were very much

the ekceptions. The two groups were largely independent of each other.

Minor officials, so far as can be judged, were nominated to serve
the administration by their senior colleagues, the magistrates and
council. Their positions were not salaried and could be onerous if
not (as in the case of the plague searchers) dangerous. Burgh service
at this level must have been unpopular although no examples of men
refusing their appointments are recorded. Membership of the senior
group on the other hand brought status, a degree of influence and
(in the case of the bailies, common procurator, clerk, master of work
and treasurer) sizeable salaries from the common good.”® Returning to
these senior officials and councillors, how and on what basis were

these men recruited?

Wealth was undoubtedly a key factor and some indications of the
financial circumstances of these men can be obtained from testamentary
evidence. ?® It will be recalled that there was an inner group of

about twenty-four men which dominated the council and senior positions
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60 Ten of these men died before 1601 (a useful

in the administration.
cut-off date which helps to minimise distortions caused by inflation).
Their legacies, which range from £276 (Robert Stewart) to £3426 (George
Elphinstone) but which tend towards the latter figure, average out at
£1588. Testamentary evidence for thirteen other senior officials and
councillors, not members of the innmer group, survives and produces
figures ranging from £163 (Robert Fleming) to £2795 (Patrick Glen).

On average these legacies amounted to £810. Patrick Glen's wealth

in this outer group was exceptional; most of the inner group were much
wealthier than these men (by 86% on average, based on the above figures)

and it would seem incontrovertible that membership of the influential

inner group was governed to a large extent by wealth.

If the above figures are combined the average legacy left by men
who had been senior officials or councillors is found to be £1148.
By way of comparison the average legacy of minor officials whose
testaments can be traced was £670. In order to put these figures into
some context a random sample of non-office holders whose testaments
were registered in the same period was taken and produced an average
of £517. Expressed in percentage terms the senior officials as a
whole were on average 72% wealthier than the minor office holders and
they in turn were about 23% wealthier than the group of non-office
holders. It must be stressed that, because of the incompleteness of
the material and the random nature of the last sample, these figures
must be treated with great caution. Nonetheless they do suggest that

the burgh oligarchy was based on a steep gradation of wealth,

In this respect it is rewarding to re-examine the post of burgh
treasurer, both in terms of the appointees and those who were leeted
unsuccessfully for this position. As this office carried an inherent
financial risk it can be argued that the men who were leeted for
this post wished to show themselves willing and capable of taking
this risk.®' Even if they were not elected they might thus be brought
to the attentidn of the ruling oligarchy. During this twelve year
period, as already noteds,2 a total of thirty-eight men were leeted for
this post and twelve became treasurers. These thirty-eight men can be

divided into two main groups. Firstly there were those who had
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probably already held high office or were in office when they were
leeted,63 a total of twelve men, three of whom became treasurers.

The second group of twenty-six men were, at the time of their leeting,
new to burgh politics. From this group the remaining'nine treasurers
were recruited plus another five men who, though not appointed
treasurers, nonetheless later became councillors. The most striking
example of advancement by this route was Robert Rowat who was leeted
unsuccessfully in 1575, successfully in 1576, became a councillor in
October 1576 and by the following year was a bailie. He remained

an important figure in burgh politics until at least 1601. %%
Testamentary evidence survives for some of these men. Unsuccessful
candidates (albeit men who were already established in the admini-
stration) were Andrew Baillie, £2181, David Hall, £1520, and John
Lindsay, £2473. A successful candidate, who had already been a
councillor, was Robert Adam who left £866 while of the new men who
became treasurers Robert Boyd left £1294, David Donald £959, Patrick
Glen £2795 and John Temple, £1212. Despite some variations it can
be seen that several aspiring treasurers were on a similar financial
footing to those men already established in the burgh's government
and their wealth may have made them suitable for candidature to the

oligarchy.65

Since wealth was important it is appropriate at this juncture to
examine in more detail the financial activities of some of these
leaders of burgh society. Testamentary evidence is the main source
for the details which faollow but this type of information has two
major drawbacks. Obviously it represents a person's wealth only at the
time of his death, the extent of the legacy being governed by the
life style adopted by each individual. Secondly it covers moveables
but excludes landed wealth. Both these difficulties can be
circumvented to some extent by supplementing the testamentary details
with information extracted from the act books of the burgh court and
the protocol books of the town clerks about the activities of these

men while they were still alive.

There are clear indications that several senior officials and
councillors (both of the inner and outer groups) were engaged in

foreign commerce, in particular with France and Flanders, although
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occasional references to Danzig iron point also to a Baltic
connection. ® An action of slander regarding the activities of his
wife while he was abroad proves that John Temple (treasurer and
councillor) was in France in 1582, while his will discloses that

at the time of his death he was trading in Flanders.®’ Other
references, chiefly to disputes over the disposal of cargoes, disclose
that John Lindsay (councillor, liner and twice leeted bailie),

Hector Stewart (bailie and councillor), David Wilson (councillor),
Convell Struthers (councillor and treasurer) George Elphinstone
(bailie and councillor) and Robert Boyd (treasurer) were trading to
France between 1579 and 1585, exporting herring and hides and
importing iron and wine, chiefly from Bordeaux.68 These men were
merchants but a reference in 1583 shows that George Burrell, saddler,
(councillor, leeted treasurer), who presumably could not have traded
directly abroad, was nonetheless owed 351 merks (c£234) by Colin
Campbell for nine tuns of wine which Campbell (bailie and councillor)

had bought from Burrell.®

More significantly there is considerable evidence of commercial
partnerships between these men and other councillors. Foreign trade
carried a very high risk and few of the Glasgow merchants were
capable of raising the requisite capital alone. However, in 1581
the court minutes do record that Hector Stewart (bailie and councillor),
who had been in partnership with Robert Stewart (bailie and councillor),
Colin Campbell (bailie and councillor) and Barbara Hegate spouse to
John Farquhar (councillor), bought out their shares in the Salamon
for £280. 'O Hector Stewart died in 1597 leaving £2753 and may have
been in a position to finance voyages alone but it is more likely that
he was here rearranging his affairs prior to attracting other
shareholders for a more ambitious project than his erstwhile partners

were capable of financing.

Frequent references occur to 'the gudeschip callit the george
of glasgw'. In May 1583 George Elphinstone (bailie and councillor)
bought an eighth share of the George from Catherine Burrell, widow
of Alexander Symonton burgess of Irvine and a kinswoman of George
Burrell, saddler, whose interest in foreign trade has already been

noted. The cost was £200.77 By the time of his death in 1585 he had
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increased his share to 'ane quarter and the third of half ane
quarter', valued at £603. His testament records that the ship

was factored by William Simpson (leeted treasurer) who had assisted
Elphinstone in his negotiations with Symonton and the Burrells. ’2

Four years later Colin Campbell (bailie and councillor) died vested

in an eighth of the George valued at £266 and in 1592 Patrick Glen
(treasurer and councillor) left as part of his legacy an eighth share

in the ship, valued at the same level.’’ Obviously these trading
connections were not confined to Glasgow burgesses. The case noted
above is but one of several examples of links with Irvine which,

until the development of Port Glasgow in the 1660s, was Glasgow's chief
outlet for foreign commerce. The George appears to have been quite

a large ship and was presumably harboured there. Commercial links

did however exist with other burghs, at least between individual
merchants. On his death in 1588 John Lindsay (councillor, liner and

twice leeted bailie) owned a quarter of the Robert of Dumbarton.74

Apart from involvement in European trade, the Glasgow merchants'
main spheres of commercial interest (besides retailing locally) lay in
Argyll and the Isles, and Ireland. Of the men already noted as
having been engaged in foreign trade, Robert Adam, Colin Campbell,
John Lindsay, Archibald Lyon and Hector Stewart were obtaining hides
and whisky from these areas in exchange for finished articles of
clothing, fine cloths, foodstuffs, wine and iron which they had
brought from abroad. Also involved were other councillors
including Robert Boyd and Mungo Wilson and, once again, a craftsman,
John Wise (sometime deacon of the skinners) who, in 1583, was
abtaining Irish hides through the services of Wilson and others.
George Herbertson, to judge by his testament, specialised in trading

with Argyll.”?

The testaments provide an unequalled source for an examination
of the commercial links which existed between individuals, not only
with respect to foreign commerce but also more locally. The wealthier
merchants would distribute their imports through other dealers or
exchange commodities with each other prior to sale on the general

market. Thus, on his death, John Lindsay was owed various small sums
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for goods supplied to Hector Stewart, Robert Boyd, James Lyon,
Colin Campbell and Robert Fleming, all of these men having been,

at one time or another, councillors. /6 Similarly George Herbertson
on his death owed John Angus, Ninian Darrocht, Gavin Graham and
Andrew Baillie payments for wine; again, all these men were

councillors. ”/

Many of these leading burgesses extended their financial
activities by providing loans to fellow citizens or local lairds.
George Elphinstone lent to George Herbertson and Mungo Wilson,’8
while the latter also borrowed from David Donald. ’® All were
colleagues in the administration. Elphinstone also lent to
archbishop Boyd 80 and several local lairds including John Colquhoun
of Kilmerdinny. 81 James Fleming, Robert Fleming and Gavin Graham
lent to James Hamilton of Bardowie, James Forret of Barrowfield,

82 yhile

the laird of Houston and Walter commendator of Blantyre,
Andrew Baillie lent to the lairds of Stevenstonand Robertland. 83

The testamentary evidence for debts on loans is frequently unclear

as they are not easily distinguished from payments due on merchandise
(the above are all specific instances involving 'borrowit money')

but it is not unlikely that several lairds in Argyll also became
indebted to the Glasgow merchants in this way, as money lending would

tend to become part of the commercial network.

Diversification of this nature had an added incentive, for loans
would be secured on the debtor's property with failure to meet the
loan repayments resulting in the creditor obtaining a heritable
right to the land concerned. The loans referred to above were not
for large sums and there is nothing to suggest that the Glasgow
burgesses obtained estates through these means during this period.
Yet it is clear that many lairds were becoming increasingly dependent
on the merchants of Glasgow not just for merchandise but also for

ready cash.

However there is considerable evidence to show that these leading
Glasgow merchants did invest their profits in property. Many of the
testaments of the individuals already mentioned record that these

men were owed substantial quantities of house maills from several
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burgesses including men of their own rank. For example George
Herbertson was owed several rents by James Braidwood, cordiner,
and Archibald Lyon (both fellow councillors) as well as by John
Watson, elder, and John Steven: in turn he owed rent to Robert
Adam (another fellow councillor) and William Fleming, merchant. 8%
James Fleming was also owed a large number of house maills on

his death,85 while another councillor, Gavin Graham, appears to have
used his property as a boarding house for students. On his death

he was owed £100 by John Graham of Kirkdoliane for the board of
Robert Graham of Auchinhowie; £45 by Lord Graham 'for William Graham
and his pedagoge their burde'; and £52 by Lady Maxwell of Nether

Pollok for her son's board. 86

More significantly many of the leading burgesses active in
burgh politics during this period had been among those who had
benefited from the post-Reformation dispersal of church lands
in the burgh, men such as Andrew Baillie, James Braidwocod, William
Cunninghame, George Elphinstone, James and John Fleming, Mr Henry
Gibson, Gavin Graham, George Herbertson, Archibald Lyon, Robert
Muir, John Stewart of Bowhouse, Malcolm Stewart and Mr Adam Wallace.
All Qere councillors and leading burgh officials during the 1570s
and 1580s and several had prcbably acted in the same capacity during
the 1560s. There can be little doubt that some of these men used
their public position for private gain, particularly after Queen
Mary's foundation of 1567 vested the magistrates and councillors
in most of the church's property in the burgh and before 1573 when
that superiority was transferred to the university. Thus, for example,
attention may be drawn to the feu charters issued by the provost,
bailies, council and community in favour of Mr Adam Wallace, James
Fleming and Archibald Lyon (all of whom are known to have been
leading bailies and councillors during the 1560s, 1570s and 1580s)
whereby they obtained the chapel of St Roche, the ruinous 'new kirk'
(the former collegiate church of St Mary and St Anne), St Tenew's
kirk and the chapel of St Kentigern, properties ripe for

development .87

While the 1560s and early 1570s saw the disposal of prebendal

properties, chaplainries and the like, the temporalities of the see
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remained relatively intact. However certain encroachments were
made8 and among these may be counted the alienations by the
magistrates and council of certain burgh common lands, (the burgh
being part of the archbishops' temporalities). The beneficiaries
again included leading burgh politicians, among them George

Elphinstone and James Fleming.89

The archiepiscopate of James Boyd, 1573 to 1581, witnessed
further diminutions of the resources of the see,?0 one example of
which was the process whereby many rentallers converted their
rental rightsinto feu holdings. About fifty such transactions were
effected between 1577 and 1581.27 Thus in November 1579 George
Elphinstone obtained from archbishop Boyd a feu of the lands of
Gorbals and Bridgend and half of the lands of Woodside of which he
had been previously a rentaller.’? Mr Henry Gibson, common clerk
and a colleague of Elphinstone's on the council, obtained a similar
feu of part of the lands of Linningshaw, Possil and Meikle Govan in
1581.93

George Elphinstone, bailie and councillor, was the archetypal
example of a man whose wealth was based on commercial success and
sound investment in land. In 1563 he had obtained from the rector
of Erskine, David Stewart, the £3 lands of Blythswood (estimated at
around 150 acres), Stewart having been compelled to the sale because
of debts which he had incurred during the preceding turbulent years.94
Although generally referred to simply by his name, Elphinstone was
described as 'of Blythswood' at a meeting of the burgh court over
which he presided in 1579 and in his testament where he was styled
'ane rycht honorabill man George Elphinstone of Blythswood baillie
of the burcht of Glasgw the time of his deceis'. 95 His commercial
activities as recorded in his testament have already been noted, as
also his purchase of further church lands, his purchase of common
lands and his transforming of his rental of Gorbals, Bridgend and
part of Woodside into a feu holding.’® As a further example of his
financial activities he obtained in 1577, while bailie, the farm of
the lucrative ladle custom for a down payment of £120, thereafter

sub-letting the farm, no doubt at considerable profit to
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himself. 7 His status as a leading merchant was confirmed when,

in July 1582, he was elected president of the merchants. 8 Above

all his will of 1585 confirms the ethos which he (and no doubt many

of his colleagues) followed, for he ordained that his son's
inheritance, £1142, was to be 'set to the availl and the money obtenit
for the samyn to be laid upon land to his weill and utilitie... as

it sall happin to arryse'.?? His son, also named George, was

knighted in 1594 at the baptism of prince Henry and in 1595 obtained

a crown charter of the combined lands of Blythswood, Woodside and
Gorbals, subsequently becoming provost on at least four occasions in

the first decade of the seventeenth century.'00

Returning to the question as to how office, particularly high
office, was obtained it has been demonstrated that wealth, derived
from commercial enterprise, was of critical importance. It was
not however the sole factor and its possession did not guarantee
placement. Examination of the testaments of men who died prior to
1601 reveals seven individuals whose legacies exceeded £2000: five
were members of the 'inner group' (members of which, it will be
recal%ed, dominated the senior posts in the administration); Patrick
Glen Who died in 1592 was the second wealthiest yet held office
only in 1577-78, as treasurer and councillor; and John Finlay, the
fourth wealthiest, held no office whatsoever during the period under

101 Finlay is particularly interesting since it seems

consideration.
likely that there were other wealthy merchants who either eschewed

or were excluded from office. A fuller examination of all available
testaments would be required to substantiate this argument but this
one exception is enough to show that wealth did not automatically
ensure a place on the council. It is equally obvious from the
testamentary evidence that, although holders of high office tended

to be wealthier than their colleagues in minor posts, there were men
in the latter group who were, on their deaths at least, apparently
better off than certain councillors. Thus Gilbert Hall (market
visitor, stenter) James Taylor (plague official), John Young

(a co-farmer of the ladle) were appreciably richer on their decease

in terms of moveables than four very prominent councillors and members

of the inner group, namely James Fleming, Gavin Graham, Robert Muir
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and Robert Stewart.102 The first three (especially Fleming) had
property interests03 but Robert Stewart does not appear to have
been particularly active in that sphere. A bailie and councillor,
Stewart was one on the leading burgh politicians. Like George
Herbertson (who did not become a bailie), Stewart was out of office
only twice during this period: 194 vyet, while Herbertson left
£2065, Stewart left only £276.105

Apart from wealth another consideration appears to have been kin
relationships. Confining examination of this question to the
councillors, among seventy-nine men there are thirty-eight examples
of shared family names: Fleming (three), Graham (three), Herbertson
(two), Lindsay (two), Lyon (three), Muir (four), Ritchie (twa),

Rowat (two), Stewart (eight), Wilson (seven), and Young (two). Of
these men it is known that John Fleming was the father of James and
Robert Fleming;1% John Lindsay was the son of Michael Lindsay,
probably the same Michael Lindsay who was a bailie in the 1550s;197
Robert and Thomas Muir were father and son;'9® and Robert Rowat

was the eldest son of William Rowat.'0? Malcolm Stewart was the
uncle of Matthew Stewart of Minto, "0 while Robert '"" and James
Stewart 2 were Matthew's brothers. Relationships through marriage
can also be traced: William Cunninghame was the step-father of
George Elphinstone; '’ bailie James Fleming married Agnes Livingstone,
the daughter of provost Robert Lord Boyd, in 1574; 14

Gavin Graham was married to Janet Stewart who, though not one of
the Minto branch, may possibly have been related to one of the

other Stewarts who appear on the council;'’® similarly Robert
Stewart was married to Agnes Hegate, probably a relation of William

and Archibald Hegate. 116

The Hegates, William and Archibald, present perhaps the best
example of kin interests in operation. William, it will be
recalled,!’”” had been common clerk in the 1560s but was replaced
by Mr Henry Gibson in 1568. Hegate tried throughout the 1570s to
regain this position and only gave up when his son Archibald was
nominated to the clerkship in May 1581 by the provost, Esmé earl

of Lennox. Earl Esmé and his predecessor Robert earl of Lennox
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clearly favoured kinsmen, which explains the influx of Stewarts
and Grahams, particularly noticeable in earl Robert's first council
elected in October 1578.118

Thus kinship could play an important role in the attainment
of influence within the administration of the burgh, especially
if the families concerned were considered useful to the political
régime then in power. Such was the case with the Hegates whose
Catholicism made them attractive to Esmé earl of Lennox.
Ultimately a person's suitability for office rested not just on
their family connections or their affluence but also on their
acceptability to the provost and the superior. Their influence
was paramount and all pervasive: the council was elected by the
provost and bailies and those magistrates were, in turn, appointed
by the superior. The crucial relationship was that which existed
between the provost and the superior, which determined not just the
composition of the burgh's administration but also the political

developments of the period.

However, before proceeding to an examination of the politics
of the 1570s and 1580s one further element in the composition of
the burgh's ruling elite requires consideration, namely the
;espective roles played by merchants and craftsmen who together

comprised the majority of burgesses.!1?

Because of the nature of their respective monopolies of
commerce and manufacture, the merchants in Scottish burghs had
accrued wealth and power at the expense of their craftsmen neighbours.
The subsequent willingness of the merchant controlled authorities
to grant seals of cause incorporating igaft fraternities (a process
which began in Edinburgh in the mid—Fifteenth—eermtury- and can be
traced in Glasgow from 1516 onwards, when the skinners were
incorporated) did not represent a positive desire to widen the
power base within the burghs (though such might be the result) but
rather a wish to achieve greater control over the crafts. By
delegating authority to the craft leaders, the merchant controlled
councils hoped to draw these men, the deacons and masters, within

the orbit of the ruling oligarchy.120 Simultaneously, although the
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merchants as a whole remained more affluent, the gradations of wealth
between merchants and craftsmen became more complex, between merchants
trading abroad and small retailers in local markets, between master
craftsmen who employed several apprentices and journeymen and the
single craftsman with no such assistance, between craftsmen who
belonged to incorporations and those who did not. By the sixteenth
century, if not before, the wealth of some leading craftsmen might
easily surpass that of some of the merchants and their interests
would be drawn towards those of the leading merchants rather than
those of their lesser craft brethren. This phenomenon, the growing
mutuality of interest between wealthy merchants and craftsmen,

was recognised in Edinburgh by the Decreet Arbitral of 1583 and in
Glasgow by the Letter of Guildry of 1605, both of which effectively
strengthened the oligarchic and plutocratic nature of burghal
government by distinguishing between the wealthy gild brethren
(irrespective of occupation) on the one hand and, on the other hand,

the less wealthy merchants and craftsmen.

Three questions may thus be posed. How far was the administration
in Glasgow during the 1570s and 1580s dominated by merchants? To
what éxtent were craftsmen involved in that administration? How
far is it possible to detect wealthy craftsmen who were on an

equal footing with the leading merchants?

The ratio of merchant and craftsman involvement in the burgh's
affairs can not be determined exactly because the clerks did not
always record occupations. This in itself may be indicative of
a blurring of the two socio-economic groups or, simply, of the fact
that when individuals were well known to the clerks they did not need
to identify them further than by their names. However, using other
sources to supply some of these deficiences and allowing for the
number of 'unknowns', it appears that the merchants predominated.

Of the seventy-nine councillors during this period, thirty-six
(or 46%) were merchants and. tw%pty three (or 29%) were craftsmen ;
the occupations of eleven (or,ZSm) can not be identified while the

21

remainder comprised lairds, notaries and the like. Analysed

annually the details are even less easy to calculate because of
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the spread of the 'unknowns', but throughout the merchants were

in the majority. In the case of one council, that of 1582-83, it
is possible to suggest the occupations of all the members: assuming
these to be correct, this council comprised fourteen merchants and
six craftsmen together with one notary and two college or
presbytery representatives. It is possible that this ratio,
roughly two merchants to one craftsmen, was employed each year but,
as already noted, because of the proportion of 'unknowns' this

cannot be verified.122

Turning to the senior posts, although the same difficulties
arise, a similar interpretation seems to apply. Twenty-eight men
were leeted for the bailieships of whom thirteen were merchants and
six were craftsmen; twelve men were successful, of whom seven
were merchants but only one can be identified as having been

a craftsman. 2%

Thirty-eight men applied to be treasurers, of whom
twenty-four were merchants and six were craftsmen; twelve men were
successful, ten of whom were merchants, none of whom can be
identified as having beena craftsman. 124 Since wealth still
depeqded much on commerce and this post did involve financial risk,
these figures are not sUrprising.125 Seventeen men attempted to
become masters of work, nine merchants and five craftsmen; five
were successful, three of whom were merchants, none of whom can be

126

identified as having beena craftsman. Fourteen of the twenty-one

key keepers were merchants and of the remaining seven only one can

27 The liners however

be identified as having been a craftsman.
present a somewhat different picture. Of the twenty-one men

who held this position the occupations of only four can not be traced;
of the remainder ten were merchants and seven were craftsmen. It is
conceivable that on this group representation may have been equal

in the 1570s but in the 1580s began to mirror the proportions found
on the council (roughly 2:1 in 1582-83). Although the liners were
heavily weighted in favour of the merchants in 1575, merchants and
craftsmen were equal in 1576 and 1577 and craftsmen in the majority
in 1578; however in 1582, 1583 and 1585 the craftsmen were heavily
outnumbered. 128  Masons were almost always employed as liners as

befitted a post which required some expertise in building matters
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but this and all the other senior positions show an overall

preponderance of merchants.

Were the merchants organised? There was some form of merchants'
body in existence in the mid-sixteenth century. In July 1569 property
was purchased by James Fleming 'as president and in name of all the
merchants of the burgh', 129 while in July 1582 the act book of the
burgh court and council records an election to this presidency. 130
Whether or not these references relate to a once influential gild
merchant it is clear that by this time this body was little more
than a confederation bound together for commercial rather than
political purposes. The 1569 transaction concerned an annual rent
sold by John Campbell and his wife to Fleming and his colleagues
for relief of a debt owing on wine supplied by the merchants to
Campbell; there is no evidence to suggest that this body exerted

any collective influence on elections.

Nonetheless as individuals the men associated with this
organisation were among the leaders of burgh government: James
Fleming, president in 1569; George Elphinstone, president in 1582;
and Hector Stewart, John Lindsay and Robert Adam, unsuccessful
candidates in 1582, All five were members of the inner group of
senior officials and councillors which controlled the administration
during the period 1574 to 1586, a group which it will be recalled

31 The occupations of six of these

consisted of twenty-four men.
men are unknown but fourteen were merchants and only four were craftsmen.
It is not surprising to find that the overall preponderance of

merchants in the administration was mirrored in this inner group.

Turnihg to the second question, to what extent were craftsmen
involved in the administration, four such men have just been
identified in the inner group. John Clerk, tailor, was a councillor
eight times during these years, George Burrell, hammerman-saddler,
seven times and John Anderson, cordiner, six times. All are also
known to have been deacons at some time between 1574 and 1586, but
in the absence of craft minute books for these incorporations it
is impossible to be more specific, especially since such evidence

as does survive (for the skinners, websters and coopers) shows
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that deaconships changed hands regularly. The fourth man was John
Wilson, pewterer. He was almost certainly a deacon of the

hammermen craf’t,132 although this can not be verified. Allowing

for the 'unknowns' he is the only example of a craft bailie: he acted
in this capacity in 1561-63, 1571-72 and once within the main period
under discussion, 1576-77. He was also during this period a

councillor on five occasions.

Other leading craftsmen can be identified. In all seventeen
deacons have been traced during these years, thirteen of whom held
high office at some point (all as councillors, some as liners,
one as a key keeper). '?> Four held no office in the burgh's
administration and thus it is clear that deacons did not
automatically become councillors or officials. Three of these
men belonged to the skinners, whose minute bock is the only craft
record which survives for this period. It seems likely therefore
that many more deacons than these seventeen men remain undetected
among the other incorporated crafts. Turning to the burgh council, 134
a total of twenty-three men representing the crafts are found on the
council lists between 1574 and 1585: the thirteen deacon councillors
and gen others, who, if not deacons, must have been craft masters
or auditors (as they were termed in the cooper trade), men of
deacon rank. These twenty-three men were the leading craftsmen,
and at their head were bailie John Wilson and his three colleagues
of the 'inner group', John Anderson, John Clerk and George Burrell.
Anderson and Clerk also tried to become bailies as did James
Braidwood, sometime deacon of the cordiners, John Wise, sometime
deacon of the skinners and John Muir, flesher, who was, like
Wilson,.probably (although not definitely) a deacon. Braidwood,
Wise and Muir may thus also be considered leaders of the craft

aristocracy. 133

If there was an aristocracy among the craftsmen there was also,
it would appear, a hierarchy among the incorporations. By the 1570s
eight crafts had been incorporated: the skinners, the tailors, the
websters, the hammermen, the masons, the baxters, the cordiners and

the coopers. These were joined by the fleshers in October 1580, 126
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The fleshers immediately appeared on the council and were continually
represented thereafter on each of the remaining councils of this
period. However it seems clear that incorporation, while it

brought eligibility for a place on the council, did not automatically
ensure representation. Such in any case would have been impossible
(or at least highly unlikely) during the 1570s when there were

eight incorporations but only small councils of between fourteen and
nineteen seats. In no one year were all the incorporations
represented and during the whole period neither websters nor masons
appear to have sat on the council. Indeed, whereas masons do appear
among the liners, websters are conspicuously absent from all the
senior positions. In terms of regularity of representation, the
tailors and the hammermen appear on all but two of the councils,

the cordiners on all but three, and the fleshers on all the councils
which followed their incorporation. In terms of numbers of seats
on the thirteen councils elected in this period, the hammermen had
sixteen, the cordiners and tailors eleven each, the baxters ten,

the coopers and fleshers six each and the skinners five. Taking
these figures in conjunction with the leets for bailieships, the
craft.incorporations with the most political influence (and

probably therefore the most wealth) appear to have been (in
descending order) the hammermen, the cordiners and tailors (about
equal), the baxters and (allowing for the late date of their
incorporation) the fleshers; however all of these calculations must
be treated with caution because of the presence on the council of men

whose occupations remain unknown. 1%/

As a corollary to the above, it is obvious from an examination of
the council lists that representation of the crafts was haphazard:
three were represented on the councils elected in 1576, 1578, 1579
and the first council of 1580; four on the councils of 1574, 1575
and 15773 five on the second council of 1580 and the councils of
1582, 1584 and 1585; and six on the councils of 1581 and 1583.'%8
As in the case of individual representation (where wealth and kin
were important but not the sole considerations) political expediency
and the policies of the superior and the provost may have been the

ultimate governing factors. For the moment, the general increase

78



in representation during the 1580s may be noted. This will be

returned to later. 139

Having demonstrated that the merchants dominated the governance
of the burgh but that certain craftsmen were also closely involved
in the administration, the third question which was posed remains
to be answered. How far is it possible to detect wealthy craftsmen
whose affluence might draw their interests away from their lesser
brethren towards the leading merchants? In short, can the political
craft aristocracy be distinguished financially from their

colleagues?

In order to answer this question it is first necessary to
define the affluence of the merchants. In part this has been done
already when the wealth of the senior officials was discussed. '40
However that analysis included several men whose occupations are
unknown or whose status as merchants can only be determined from
sources other than the appointment lists (men such as George
Elphinstone, James Fleming and Hector Stewart). Confining the
study to men who died prior to 16071 and who were definitely
merchants, the average wealth of thirty-two merchants whose testaments
have been examined was about £837. 41 At the upper end of the
scale were men such as David Hall (£1520) John Lindsay (£2473) and
Patrick Glen (£2795).

Unfortunately there is very little testamentary evidence for
the craftsmen. Restricting examples again toc men who died prior
to 1601, only ten testaments have been traced. One man, Andrew
Mackay, tailor, left only £71 while another, John Young, webster,
left £1528, a sum commensurate with the wealth of the leading
merchants, such as David Hall. Only one of these testaments belongs
to a craftsman councillor, James Braidwood (deacon of the cordiners),
who left £675, a sum not too far removed from the suggested average

2 Sych evidence need not however be

wealth of the merchants.®
confined to testaments. As already noted Braidwood was, like many
of the merchants, investing in land, 143  while George Burrell
(deacon of the hammermen)'*® and John Wise (deacon of the

skinners)'®® were closely (albeit not directly) involved in
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commercial enterprises. John Wilson, pewterer and craftsman bailie,
loaned a substantial sum to the burgh in the mid 1570s. 146  These
examples suggest that there was a close affinity, a mutuality of
interests, between the leading craftsmen and the wealthy merchants.
However the interests and loyalties of the deacons and other leading
craftsmen were split. On the one hand, as individuals they sought
personal advancement in the burgh hierarchy, but as deacons they also
sought a greater say for their crafts within the govermment of

the burgh. These two desires would not have been difficult to
achieve had not the merchant-dominated oligarchy wished to maintain

its entrenched position.

3. Burgh Politics

It has recently been suggested that the friction between
merchants and craftsmen in Scottish burghs during the sixteenth
century has been over-emphasised by historians. 47 While there are
some grounds for accepting this re-appraisal of the period, the
experience of Glasgow in the last quarter of the sixteenth century
suggests that in the case of this burgh friction between these two

groups was a recurring problem which became increasingly serious.

It has been shown that the burgh's administration in the 1570s
and 1580s was dominated by the merchants. Earlier in the century
they had adopted the policy (in common with other burghal oligarchies)
of granting seals of cause to combinations of craftsmen so as to
draw the leaders of these crafts within the sphere of the
administration and thereby control the crafts through these men, the
deacons. As a result some of these deacons had become councillors
and senior officials and had come to identify both with the burgh
administration and their crafts. Yet their taste of burgh politics
was spasmodic and seemingly governed by the desires of the superior,

148 The members

the provost and the(predominantly)merchant bailies.
of their crafts must have been even more irritated at this lack
of representation, which failed to reflect either the apparent

predominance of the incorporated craftsmen over the merchants in

numerical terms 149 or the fact that the financial differential
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between the two groups had been closing. This sense of frustration must have
been still more exacerbated when, for instance, the ruling merchant oligarchy
strove to control prices artificially in times of scarcity or regulate the
craftsmen'stradinghoursandotherbusinesspractices.‘150 The craftsmen
must have regarded such recurrent economic pressures as problems which might

be remedied if they could attain an established place within the rulingoligarchy.

Evidence for friction between the merchants and craftsmen can be
detected at various intervals during this period. The 1573-74
accounts record that George Elphinstone, then bailie, was sent to
Edinburgh 'at the baillies command and counsale ... about the

151 The nature of their

craftismenis complaynt to the regent'.
complaint is unknown though it is tempting to suggest that it bhad
something to do with the question of representation for at Michaelmas
1574 provost Boyd requested the bailies and council 'to suffer certane
dekynnis of craftis to be admittit to cum in the counsalhous to stand
and heir the lytis of the baillies chosin and nominat this yeir'.

The request was couched in terms designed to allay any fears on the
part of the ruling merchants. If granted it was not to be to the
prejudice 'of the priuilegis, liberteis or vse in votyng owther

of craftis or merchandis in ony yeir thereftir'. The provost's
supplication was granted and three deacons were allowed to be present,
but for 'this yeir onelie sua that induce no practick in tymes
thereftir'. 2 There can be little doubt that Boyd could have,

had he desired, rode roughshod aver these 'priuilegis' and'liberteis’
but instead he avoided antagonising the bailies and council. Perhaps
he was courting the craftsmen so as to counter some residual support
for Sir John Stewart of Minto, whom he had ousted from the

provostship and bailieship of the regality in late 1573.1%3

However almost twelve months had elapsed since those events and

it seems more likely that Boyd, appointed to the provostship by the
regent Morton, was, at the regent's request (following the craftsmen's
complaint) attempting to pacify the aggrieved crafts. After the

recent civil war confrontations were to be avoided.

The absence of an alliance between Boyd and the deacons was

confirmed in June 1576 when a petition was presented to Boyd (who was
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still provost), the bailies and the council by 'the haill deaconis
and communitie of this gud toun' requesting an immediate stop to

the alienation of parcels of common lands and claiming that the
transactions had been 'set furth to sum particularis be your
lordschip prouest and baillies and certane of counsale'. In
response the magistrates and council (with all the deacons and those
members of the community there present) agreed that no further
alienations should be permitted, either by themselves or their

SuUcCCessors. 154

The deacons were clearly among the leaders of this opposition.
They claimed that they had not been consulted properly as a group
regarding the alienations. Instead their consent had been obtained
'seuerallie in private houssis, quhair the haill suld be callit to
geve our consentis togidder'.1®> This is significant, for it not
only shows the influence of the deacons in the administration of
the burgh, but suggests that (in their opinion at least) they
could meet as a group to discuss how the burgh was being managed.
The magistrates and council tcok a contrary view: the deacons were
assuming a position beyond their status. Four months later the act
book’records that all the deacons had consented that 'thair be na
nouationes, bandis nor wtheris contractis maid among thame bot safer
as is contenit in thair letteres of dekynheidis gevin to thame be the

toun'.156

The minute records that they had sworn to abide by this
agreement. The formality of this arrangement underlines the
seriousness with which the magistrates and council had viewed recent

developments.

Difficulties between the deacons and the administration subsided,
yet there are indications of continuing tension. The council's
attempts to regulate the trading practices of the craftsmen met with
individual and collective opposition.’’ The most striking example
concerns the fleshers who, throughout the 1570s, were enjoined by
the council to cease the practice of 'breding' or bleeding livestock
prior to sale. Individual prosecutions are recorded in 1574 but in
1575 all of the fleshers were amerced. The dispute dragged on and

in 1578 they were all fined again. The magistrates and council's
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final solution to this problem was, it appears, to grant a seal of
cause to the fleshers for, in October 1580, they became the

8 Perhaps the fleshers

ninth incorporation within the burgh.15
had been agitating for this status all along but whatever the case
this example is a clear instance of the means whereby the oligarchy
could undermine craft opposition by attracting to its membership the
leaders of a craft and making them responsible for the behaviour

of their lesser brethren. Thzreafter (for the remainder of the
period under consideration at least) the fleshers were continually
represented on the council. However another mass fine was levied

on the fleshers in November 1588 and again the offence was
'bowbreding of flesche'. ' These disputes between the fleshers

and the council demonstrate the underlying economic tension between
merchants and particular craftsmen which might encourage the

latter to seek, as a remedy for their difficulties, greater

representation and status within the burgh.

On 3 July 1582 'the haill bodye and number of mechandis of this
toun' appeared before the magistrates and council and petitioned that
they be allowed to elect one of their number 'in the office of ane
presedent, according to the aulde obserwit custome'. George
Elphinstone was accordingly elected president with the 'faucrable and
willing consent' of the magistrates and council and was promised
their assistance and support 'in all and sindrie thingis perteining
to the office of presedent'.'%0 As has already been noted, only one
other reference to this office has been traced, in 1569.161 Its
resurrection at this point may have been linked to an (apparent)
increase in craftsman representation on the council around this time
which, though slight, could have been regarded as a potential threat
to the hegemony of the merchants.'$2 Certainly, the formality of
the procedure adopted, election before the magistracy and council,
is striking and underlines the affinity between those men and the
merchants. Not surprisingly the crafts were apprehensive and a
fortnight later James Ritchie appeared before the council and on
behalf of the deacons protested that until the return of the provost
nothing should be done regarding the office of president of the

merchants (probably a direct reference to Elphinstone's request
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for an 'autentek evident and write' describing the remit and powers

pertaining to his position).'6?

Tension erupted exactly one year later, in July 1583, Was
it coincidence that the same year marked the issue of Edinburgh's
Decreet Arbitral whereby the craftsmen in the capital (or at least
their leaders) increased their representation on that burgh's council?
The Glasgow incorporations cannot have been unaware cof the events in
Edinburgh and just as the craftsmen there increased their status,
it is significant that the respective status of the merchants and
craftsmen lay behind the contemporaneous events in Glasgow. On
6 July a riot had occurred at a wapinschaw (held on the eve of the
fair). The deacons of the hammermen, tailors, cordiners, fleshers,
baxters, skinners and websters (that is, of seven of the
incorporations: the masons and coopers were not specifically referred
to in the relevant minutes) were called before the bailies on
7 July to answer for the 'trublance and tumult' caused by the
craftsmen. They were asked to become sureties for the good behaviour
of their respective members 'in particular' until a court could be
held on 16 July, once the time of fair was over. But the deacons
answéred 'that it was nocht in thair power to ansuerfor ewirie membir
in particular of thair craftis'. The deacons, and thus the
magistrates, had momentarily lost control and there is more than
a hint of desperation in the remedy which the bailies and the
deacons then adopted: anyone, merchant or craftsman, who disturbed
the peace was to be fined £100 and banished from the burgh. Further-
more the statute of 1574 ordering all able bodied men to be in
readiness with arms at fair time was suspended: all arms were to
be put aside ('ordanis... euirie man put fra him in the meanetyme
his armouris and that nane be fund with armour by accustomit manir').w4
For 'pacifeing of thee trublis betwixt the merchandis and
craftismenis' 16> the provost returned to the burgh and the dispute
was heard at a court held on 16 July by provost Minto and bailies
Cunninghame and Wallace. The accusation was presented by the common
procurator against 'the haill estaites of merchandis, deacones and

craftismen of the towne ... so far as may concerne the ... commoune
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iniurie done to the magistratis'. It was agreed to refer settlement
of this action and the complaints brought by the merchants and the
craftsmen against each other to the judgement of the provost and
bailies who were also briefed to devise some means of preventing
similar dissensions occurring in the future, 'betuixt the said

bayth estatis conernyng thair ranking and placeing thame selfis in

tyme of mustouris'. 166

The magistrates were to give judgement on 23 July but no more
is heard of this dispute in the minutes. In the act book at that
date several blank pages were left, presumably for insertion of their
decision. The 1583-84 accounts record that William Cunninghame,
bailie, was paid &4 10s 0d 'for the copie of the appointment brocht
furtht of Edinburcht be him betwixt thee merchandis and crafts-
men'. 67 This may refer to an agreement between the Glasgow
merchants and craftsmen but it may equally mean that the Glasgow
magistrates and council obtained a copy of the Edinburgh Decreet
Arbitral in the hope that it might help solve their problem.
How the perpetrators of the 'tumult' were punished or how the
questions of status which led to the riot were remedied is unknown,
though on this latter point it is perhaps significant that the
arrangements for a wapinschaw in 1601 stipulated that the deacons were

to accompany the provost, bailies and council 'on horsbak' . 168

Yet the deacons were in an ambivalent position. On the one hand
they were the leaders of their crafts; but they were also included
from time to time on the merchant controlled council and collectively
were involved in some items of burgh legislation. Their spasmodic
involvement with the council in the issuing of statutes (on a
variety of subjects ranging from taxation to the control of weights
and measures) reflected their role as craft leaders, as
representatives of an important section of the community. For, it
must be stressed, no matter how oligarchic the composition of the
administration was, government rested to a great degree on consent
and on occasions the community and the deacons could be called upon
to give their assent to items of legislation.' However a feature

of the main period under discussion is the manner whereby the
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administration appears to have been dispensing with the assent of
the community as a whole. The Summerhill meetings (which it seems
all the burgesses had attended) were falling into desuetude and
instead the community of burgesses had to make do with
representation on the councill!’® Yet the craftsmen were treated
as a special case in so far as their deacons were from time to
time consulted separately. It can thus be argued that the
merchant oligarchy was attempting to defuse opposition from the
craftsmen while simultaneously hoping to bring the deacons to

identify more with the administration than with their crafts.

Probably the clearest example of the council's attempts to
bring the deacons within the orbit of the oligarchy is to be seen
in the progress of the policy of alienating parts of the burgh common
lands. In 1568 alienations were approved at the Summerhill meeting
by 'the haill communitie of the towne', but eight years later a
petition was presented by the deacons and the community complaining

7 Their

that the provost, bailies and council had gone too far.
petition was for the time successful in its purpose and the practice
of alienation was formally prohibited. However further alienations
became necessary to raise funds to allow the town to pufchase
Archibald Lyon's Kelvin mill, and these transactions were authorised
between October 1588 and January 1589 by several statutes which
effectively ignored the prohibition of 1576.172 The assent of the
community was referred to in only one of these,”3 but the deacons
were involved in each enactment alongside the magistrates and council.
The role of the 'haill communitie' was being diminished but the

deacons' assent was evidently regarded as essential.

In 1600 it was proposed to alienate more parcels of common
land. As before the magistrates approached the deacons for their
consent to these proposals. However on this occasion they refused
and cited the prohibition of 1576: 'they disasentit that ony
commone land suld be delt ... conforme to ane act sett done in my
lorde Boydes tyme'.'74 The council's policy of trying to draw the
deacons towards the interests of the administration and away from

those of their fellow craftsmen had failed. It was still the case

86



75 yet

that not all the deacons were on the council simultaneously,1
their appetites for power and influence must have been whetted by

" their irregular involvement in council affairs. Pressured on the one
hand by their merchant councillor colleagues'tobehaveresponsibv and
on the other both by the desire of their craft brethren for greater
representation and their own personal ambitions, they were

increasingly succumbing to these other influences.

During the 1590s there are several gaps in the act books but a
few indications of the deteriorating relationship between merchants and
craftsmen can be detected or inferred from these and other sources.
Following the riot of July 1583 the next serious upset appears to
have occurred in 1595 when cautioners were appointed to each of the
deacons to ensure their appearance before the burgh court to answer
the 'accusationes laid to thair charge for contraventioune of thair

76 The same minute refers to craftsmen 'insolent and

craftis’'.

trubleris of the quiyetnes of the towne' whose names the deacons

were to give up on pain of a fine of £500, a very large sum which

shows that there had been serious trouble. This unrest may have

arisen in response to the severe economic problems of this period.

A succession of bad harvests had led to sharp increasesiin wholesale

prices which the craftsmen were unable to pass on to the townspeople

because of the council's determination to maintain low retail prices.!’’

However a more immediate cause was probably the increasing pressure

being placed on Glasgow by the Convention of Royal Burghs to

establish a burgh sett similar to Edinburgh's which, with the

inclusion of gild brethren, would ensure the leading craftsmen the

place in the burgh's administration which they sought. On 1 June

1595 the Convention had issued an act criticising the magistrates

and council of Glasgow for having failed to introduce either a dean

of gild or elected gild brethren, just nine days before the above

noted summons was issued by the burgh court against the deacons }’®
Further endeavours by the Convention followed but the negotiations

(which had involved both merchants and craft leaders in Glasgow

as well as representatives of the Convention) broke down in July

1598."°  The merchant oligarchy continued to stand firm and it is
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notable that the council still sought to appease craft opposition

by granting further seals of cause: the bonnetmakers were
incorporated in 1597 and the wrights in 1600 (the latter being an
interesting example as their incorporation effectively undermined the
masons with whom the wrights had previously been associated). 180

But craft opposition continued and it is against this background

that the deacons' refusal to agree to further alienations of the

commons in May 1600 may be viewed.

Eventually the hostility between merchants and craftsmen
became so serious that, in November 1604, commissioners from both
groups were appointed with a view to settling their respective
differences. " The result was the Letter of Guildry of 1605 whereby,
inter alia, the concept of a gild brethren was adopted, a solution
which satisfied some of the aspirations of the leading craftsmen.'82
Significantly the magistrates and council shortly afterwards issued
an act designed to end squabbles atwapinschaws between merchants

183 These were by no means immediately effective

and craftsmen.
as an incident in July 1605 demonstrated' and the burgh continued
to be embroiled in strife as political groupings sought to capitalise
on the remaining sources of discontent. 8> The crown Qés obliged

to intervene and 1in November 1606 it ordained that the council was
to be comprised of an equal number of craftsmen and merchants.!86

The leading craftsmen had finally attained a measure of political
equality with the most prominent merchants and even if this was of
little direct benefit to the lesser craftsmen they at least could

claim that they were no longer second class citizens.

Although the final culmination and resolution of the difficulties
between the Glasgow merchants and craftsmen fall outwith the main
period under consideration it is clear that their differences
existed during the 1570s and 1580s and could occasionally, as in
the disturbances ofIJuly 1583, emerge into the open. The furtherance
of the aspirations of the craftsmen was but one of several local

issues which were a feature of burgh politics at this time.

As has already been stated, burgh government was oligarchic in

its composition but its effectiveness rested on consent.'®” Thus
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the deacons and the community were sometimes involved alongside the
magistrates and council in the enactment of legislation. Nonetheless
there is evidence of open criticism and opposition to certain policies
which the administration adopted. This may be detected on the issues
of the alienation of commons (already discussed), '88 the level of

burgess entry fines and astriction to the town's mills.

In June 1574 burgess entry fines were set at £10 irrespective
of the applicants'status. This prompted, in September 1575 a
protest from 'burges sonnys' (that is, younger sons and sons-in-law,
but not burgess heirs who were always dealt with preferentially) that
they were being unfairly treated. The magistrates and council
decided to defer decision until it had been possible to determine
the practice of other burghs but their deliberations were forestalled
at the Summerhill court of June 1576. Although the bailies and
council were present with the 'commountie', three statutes were
adopted by the community alone, advocating the introduction of a
three tier system of fines. These proposals were to be 'resonit
befoir the prouest, and gif he consentis thairto to be concludit
and endit, wtherwayis nocht'. In fact the provost did not give his
assent (the accounts show that the old system remained in oﬁeration),but in
May 1577 a more sophisticated scheme was adopted by the provost,
bailies and council which seems to have met the objections raised
by the 'burges sonnys' three years earlier. '8 Thus, as regards this
issue (which was obviously close to the interests of all burgesses),
the administration showed itself willing, albeit slowly, to respond

to criticism.

More controversial was the decision taken in November 1576 to
astrict the inhabitants to the town mills. Unusually the councillors
who promulgated this act with the provost and bailies were
individually named. This in itself shows that the policy of
astriction or thirlage, which was designed to augment the income of
the common good, was expected to be unpopular, and it is not
surprising that the authorities attempted to secure this legislation
by stipulating that all new burgesses were to swear that they would
'promeis and be bund to cum to the commowne towne mylnes... witht

all thair cornes'.'?0
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The thirlage legislation resulted in the sole example during
this period of the formal abrogation of a burgh statute. 1In
June 1581 the provost, Esmé earl of Lennox, notified the bailies and
council that he wished this 'hurtful and pretendit statute maid
in thee tyme of Robert lord Boyd sum tyme provest, bee thee aduice
of the baillies and certane vtheris particularis vpoune counsale'
to be annulled.191 Accordingly the bailies, council and deacons
convened on 1 July to receive 'the complaynt maid be the inhabitantis
of this toun and haill communitie thairof', which had presumably
prompted Lennox's letter. Their petition argued that freemen and
burgesses ought not to be astricted to any mill and that the town
mills had been incapable of coping with the demands made on them.
The authorities in response abrogated the offending statute, as

being 'to the hurt of the commone weill'. 92

The formality of the procedure adopted on this occasion shows
that thirlage was a major local issue during the late 1570s, a
grievance which transcended other sources of contention such as the
spasmodic disagreements between merchants and craftsmen. Yet the
ruling oligarchy was not in itself threatened by any of the issues
thus far discussed. Recognising the wisdom of achieving a measure
of consensus, the bailies and council were prepared to respond
constructively to these internal pressures. A more serious threat
to the oligarchy arose from its dealings with, and the inter-
relationships between, the provosts, the superiors (ostensibly the

archbishops) and the crown.

A salient feature of the 1570s and 1580s was the manner whereby
the position of archbishops Boyd and Montgomery as superiors of the
burgh was undermined by the assumption of the superior's role in
the nomination of the burgh's provosts and bailies by a succession
of ruling court factions anxious to control this and other burghs.
Concurrent with this phenomenon was the continuation quite
independently of the burgesses' desire for a greater influence in the
appointment of the town bailies, an ambition which dated back
to the 1550s at least. Although the policy of the crown and the

pretensions of the burgesses were in fact incompatible both had
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an interest in circumventing the authority of the archbishops.
During the provostship of Robert Lord Boyd in the early 1570s, as
shall be demonstrated, there is some indication of, if not an
alliance, a tacit understanding between the leading burgesses

and the provost who was by that time, in effect, a crown nominee

rather than simply an appointee of the archbishop.w3

Although the erosion of the authority of the archbishops as
superiors of the burgh was a dominating feature of the 1570s and 1580s,
the beginnings of this process can be traced back to the opening
decade of the sixteenth century. The regality charter of 1476
emphasised that the provost was to be nominated by the archbishop.194
But in a letter of ¢1510 archbishop Beaton I informed the town
council that 'my lord of Levenax and I are condescendit that he

be chosen provost'.w5

Given the respective powers of the
archbishop and a local magnate such as Lennox, it is clear that the
legal superior would have little influence should a man such as the
earl wish to become provost. Archbishop Beaton II found himself

in a similar position. The Lennox interest had been eclipsed

in the mid 1540s after the battle of the Butts and earl Matthew's
exile. In 1545 the regent Arran, later duke of Chatelhérault,
became bailie of the regality and for almost twenty years the
Hamilton family dominated Glasgow's affairs. Following the death
of archbishop Dunbar in 1547, Arran's brother had been considered
for appointment to the see and although this manoceuvre proved
unsuccessful, several Hamiltons did obtain preferment to other
ecclesiastical positions in Glasgow. Beaton became archbishop in
1552 by which time the Hamilton family was entrenched not just in
the church but also in civic office. After 1544 the provostship
was held by a succession of Hamiltons, and Beaton can have had little
choice in retaining the services of Andrew Hamilton of Cochno
(provost since 1550 or 1551) throughout the remainder of the decade,
a man who was almost certainly nominated by Chatelherault. 196

Thus the superior's real influence was constrained by the powerful
influence of the duke. Yet Beaton's success in the dispute with
the burgh regarding the election of the town bailies suggests that
Chatelherault, if initially sympathetic to the claims of the burgh,
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was not prepared to see the superior's authority completely undermined.
Consequently if provost Cochno was indeed nominated by the duke
it is probable that the annual re-appointments were effected in such

a way as to ensure that the archbishop suffered no loss of dignity.

However Beatoﬁ, by his flight in July 1560, effectively
destroyed the remaining power and status of the archbishops as
superiors of the burgh of Glasgow. It would appear that the right
to appoint the provost was assumed by the crown, possibly in
conjunction with the bailie of the regality. Thus the appearance
of John Stewart of Minto as provost seems to have coincided with the
return to the country and to crown favour of Matthew, earl of
Lennox, and the appointment of the latter to the bailieship of the
regality in July 1565. However, in the absence of relevant
documentation, it is impossible to tell exactly how the crown coped
with the extraordinary situation which obtained after Beaton's
flight, for he definitely continued to enjoy some of his temporal
rights until he was formally forfeited in 1570. "7

After the forfeiture matters were more straightforward: the
archbishop's temporal powers, which included the appointment of
the magistrates of Glasgow, were then firmly vested with the crown.
The first protestant archbishop of Glasgow was John Porterfield
who was appointed by the crown sometime in 1571 but was never
elected or consecrated. As late as October 1573 the see was still
regarded as vacant when the regent Morton wrote to the burgh
nominating the baillies. The same month also saw the removal of
Stewart of Minto and the appointment by Morton of Robert Lord Boyd
as provost, and in November Lord Boyd's nephew, James Boyd of
Trochrague was consecrated archbishop and vested in the temporalities
of the see. '8 So far as the burgh constitution was concerned the
advent of archbishop Boyd marked a return to the situation which had
existed prior to Beaton's hasty departure in 1560 and for the
duration of the period under discussion the minutes show that, with
two or possibly three exceptions (all during the episcopate of
archbishop Montgomery in the early 15808)ﬂ99 the provosts were

appointed by the archbishops as superiors of the burgh. Nonetheless
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the reassertion of the archbishops' role was more apparent than real,
for their ability to make independent appointments was severely

limited by questions of kin and national politics.

Thus it is doubtful whether archbishop Boyd had much choice

in appointing his uncle Robert Lord Boyd to the provostship for
three more successive terms of office (1574-77) when the regent Morton
had determined to reward Boyd for his services to the king's cause
during the civil war. Indeed his own appointment to the see had
arisen from Morton's policy toward the Boyd family.200 At Lord
Boyd's reappointment in October 1574 the minute records that the
archbishop nominated his uncle 'prouest ... for this instant yeir
to cum and siclyk yeirlie in all tymes cumyng heireftir following
incaise it plese him to accept the samyn on him during all the
dayis of oure lyftime'. In 1575 and 1576 Lord Boyd was again made
provost by his nephew. On both occasions reference was made to this
nepotistic arrangement which had also averred, in a blatant attempt
to justify the removal of Minto from the office of bailie of the
regality by Lord Boyd in November 1573, that 'the office of
prouestre ... has newir or seyndill been separatit in sindry
persounes handis fra the baillierie of oure baronie foifsaid'.z01
More remarkable still was the archbishop's letter of 6 September 1577,
presented to the bailies and council on 1 October, intimating that
Lord Boyd had decided to stand down from the provostship. It narrated
that Lord Boyd

'hes dimittit ... office in our hand for this yeir,

quhairby we may nominat sic ane persoun as we think

best ... provyding alwayis that we sall nominat na

prouest this yeir nor in ony tyme cuming by the

said lordis avyse and consent during all the dayis

of his lyftyme nor yit sall retene ony prouest ..

langer nor ane yeir bot sall change the prouest

at the yeris end at the desyre and plesour of the

said lorde, and if we wald do the contrar (as God

forbid we suld) we be the tenor heirof ordanis ..

the baillies and counsall ... that thai pas nor

gif na commissioun to na persoun nor personis to the
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office of prouestrie ... by the consent and aduise

of the said lorde ... and als we be the tenour heirof
grantis and consentis- that it salbe lesum to the

said lorde to enter to the said office of prouestrie

of Glasgw agane quhenewir it pleses him'. 202

Archbishop Boyd clearly had little say in the affairs of his burgh so
long as his uncle remained influential. The new provost, Thomas
Crawford of Jordanhill, although ostensibly nominated by the
archbishop, was clearly chosen by Lord Boyd. However events were

now to take a turn unforeseen by Lord Boyd and if the archbishop

had found it difficult to resist family pressure still less easy to
ignore was the determination of a court faction to restore the

Lennox family to its former prominence.

On the death of the regent Matthew earl of Lennox in September 1571
the succession had passed firstly to his second son Charles and then,
on his death in 1576, to the regent's younger brother Robert who was
created earl of Lennox in June 1578. Even before this date
proceedings had been begun on behalf of the king (as heir to his
grandfather, the regent Lennox) to wrest the bailieship .of the Glasgow
regality from Lord Boyd. Boyd was obliged to relinquish that office
in July and the crown forthwith appointed Robert earl of Lennox
in his place.?03 Significantly all this had coincided with a
temporary eclipse in the power of Boyd's patron, the regent Morton,
in March and although Morton regained his place at the head of the
government in the autumn of 1578 several of his opponents were
retained on the Privy Council. The coup of March 1578 had an
immediate effect on the burgh administration in Edinburgh, namely
the removal of the provost and five of his councillors. 204 In
Glasgow the effect was delayed until September when Boyd's

protégé, Thomas Crawford of Jordanhill, was replaced by Lennox.

In view of the preceding year's contract with Lord Boyd it is
not surprising to find that the burgh viewed these proceedings
with some disquiet. The minutes of 30 September record that Lennox
(who had been made a burgess immediately beforehand) appeared

before provost Crawford, bailie Wallace, the council and (unusually)
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the 'communitie of the said cietie'. Equally unusual was the
presence of archbishop Boyd whose letter nominating Lennox was
read 'in oppin audiens'. The council then heard Boyd's 'nominatioun
of him be his awin moutht'. Only then was assent given. Nonetheless
Crawford entered an objection that the liberties of the town should
be protected. Yet neither he, Lord Boyd nor the archbishop was
in a position to oppose crown policy which aimed to reinstate the
Lennox interest.205

The bailies were then nominated by the archbishop and two days
later the council was chosen. This prompted another objection
from Crawford, alleging that he had been 'put of the counsale but
ony falt and vncallit thairfore' and tqiﬁufse new council had been
elected without either his or the oldbeilties? consent. A protest
by Mr Adam Wallace, one of Crawford's bailies, indicates that the

new council had indeed been chosen by Lennox and the new bailies,

'furtht of the counsalhous'. 206

Examination of the appointments shows that Crawford and
Wallace had reason to be concerned. Apart from Crawford (who
never again held burgh office) both of his bailies were displaced,
although they did become councillors. Of the council of 1577-78
(nineteen strong) ten men were not re-elected in October 1578. In
their stead nine new men were appointed, including several Grahams

and Stewarts, as might be expected under a Lennox regime.207

With the 1578 election it becomes possible to detect for the
first time definite divisions within the ruling oligarchy of the
burgh. The issues which lay behind the election, the tension
between the Morton-Boyd interest and that of Lennox was complicated

further by religious matters. Morton had achieved a modus vivendi

of sorts between church and state at the Convention of Leith in
January 1572 but the advent of Andrew Melville and his doctrine of
"two kingdoms' had initiated a period of conflict between the
increasingly presbyterian outlook of the church and the equally
determined view of the crown which stood by the new episcopacy
established in 1572 as a necessary pillar of government. In 1578

the General Assembly had adopted the presbyterian programme but if
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Morton was hostile to the church's aspirations so too was Lennox
and the crown declined to implement legislation which would transfer
the control of the church from crown nominated bishops to

presbyteries. 208

The men placed or retained by Lennox were probably sympathetic
to the crown's policy, suspicious of the presbyterians' radicalism and
perhaps relieved to see an end to the Boyd-Crawford regime which had
seen an involvement in burgh affairs by these two provosts which
would not be matched by any of their successors during this period.20?
Some of the Lennox men may well have been former supporters of Sir
John Stewart of Minto who, under the regent earl Matthew of Lennox,
had ruled the burgh until his removal by Lord Boyd in 1573. The
men displaced by earl Robert in October 1578 may have been more
sympathetic to the General Assembly, but even if they were not
(since the issue of church governance had yet to come to a head)
they were almost certainly supporters of Boyd. The divisions
apparent in 1578 would be magnified two years later and it is
notable that when earl Robert's successor, Esmé earl of Lennox,
purged the administration in 1580, many of the men he retained
were men whom earl Robert had placed or retained, while‘six of the ten
councillors he removed had also been displaced by earl Raobert.
Nonetheless the pressure groups which can be identified within the
ruling oligarchy in 1578 had yet to become fully formed. Although
earl Robert displaced many of his predecessors' councillors it is
notable that the bailies whom he appointed were men who had served
under Boyd either as bailies (George Elphinstone and William
Cunninghame) or as leading councillors (David Lindsay). Furthermore,
no doubt motivated by a desire to ensure stability, seven of the
ten councillors removed in October 1578 returned to the council in
1579 to serve alongside the 'new' men during earl Robert's second
term as provost. FEarl Robert appears to have appreciated, unlike
earl Esmé after him, that it would be dangerous to alienate men
who constituted an important section of the ruling oligarchy. One
side effect of earl Robert's desire for a balanced administration
was that the council increased in size: from fourteen seats in 1574-
75 it had grown to twenty-four by 1579. 210
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Archbishop Boyd, though powerless to oppose the government and
Lennox in 1578, may well in fact have welcomed the fall of his
uncle Lord Boyd who, as has been noted, had forced the archbishop in
1574 and again in 1577 to recognise and acknowledge publicly that he,
and not the archbishop, determined who should be provost.?'! After
his uncle's fall in 1578 archbishop Boyd was not able to exercise
any more effective a control over the appointment of the provost
than he had been able to do previously, but at least the Lennox
regime was more discreet in its treatment of the man who was, after
all, still the nominal superior. Lord Boyd had, furthermore, been
less than helpful to the archbishop on at least one occasion in
his efforts to maintain his control over the appointment of the

burgh bailies in the face of opposition from the council.

It will be recalled that in the 1550s the burgesses attempted
to take over theelection of the bailies but that eventually the
Lords of Council and Session (in May 1557) pronounced in favour of
archbishop Beaton's interpretation of the sett, namely that the
archbishop should receive from the burgh a leet of nominees from
which he would make the appointments to the bailieships for the
year.212 How matters were managed after Beaton's flighE>is unclear,
although it is known that in 1561 the provost and council, after
going to great lengths to obey the spirit of the 1557 decreet,
elected the bailies themselves. 2> It seems likely that, thereafter,
once the early traumas of the Reformation had passed, control must
have reverted to the crown, with or without the bailies of the
regality, so that appointments to the bailieshipswould follow the
same pattern as the provostship. Thus it is known that in 1573 the
leet for the bailies was sent to the regent Morton and he chose
who should serve. 2'* When James Boyd became archbishop the usual mode
of election, as specified in the decreet of 1557, was resumed.
However, although the burgesses accepted this state of affairs,
enough grey areas remained to allow for differences of opinion as
to the precise interpretation to be placed on the 1557 judgement,
resulting in disputes which indicate that the burgh still aspired
to a greater say in these elections. At the same time it is possible

to read into archbishop Boyd's responses to these incidents an
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endeavour by the superior to maintain his authority over the
appointment of the bailies in the face of the erosion of his

influence over the appointment of the chief magistrate, the provost.

The chief incident occurred in 1576. On 2 October the leet for
the bailies, comprising six names, was presented to archbishop Boyd,
who was found 'sittand in his cheptour ... with the copie of the
decrete gevin by the lordis of counsale at the last beschopis
instance aganis the toun for chesing of the baillies'. The archbishop
refused to accept the leet 'be resson that thair wes nocht viij lytis
given him and the auld baillies of thair nummer'. The next day a
deputation from the town, headed by George Herbertson, communed with
Boyd but he remained firm in his resolve and stated that, if he did
not receive a proper leet with eight nominees, the old bailies
would be reappointed. Herbertson argued that 'thai ar nocht
compellit to name ony certane nummer of aucht nor yit the auld
baillies bot onlie ane certane lytis of the auld counsale'. An
impasse having been reached, the deputation returned to their
colleagues and 'protestit that the prouest, baillies and auld
counsale mycht name twa of the said sax lytis thamselfis'. This was
accordingly done, by the provost (Robert Lord Boyd), Andrew Baillie
(one of the old bailies) and twelve named persons 'with wtheris diuers
than present'. Only William Cunninghame, the other old bailie,
expressed qualms but he agreed 'gif it may stand be law and aggre
with the decret'. 215

A number of points may be noted. The absence of the old bailies
from the leet concerned the archbishop but not the men involved,
Andrew Baillie and William Cunninghame, both of whom participated
in the burgh's unilateral action. Thus the question of power groups
within the burgh can be discounted at this time. Secondly there
was obviously a difference of opinion between the archbishop and
his uncle Lord Boyd, the provost, whom it will be recalled was in
effect a nominee of Morton, controlling the burgh on behalf of
the regent. Boyd supported the burgh against the archbishop, an
example of the suggested alliance of interests between the crown

(anxious to control the burgh, at the expense of the superior if
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need be) and the leading burgesses (who still desired a say in the
election of their bailies) which seems to have existed at this time.
Lastly, as has also been suggested, the archbishop seems to have
been all too aware that his position as superior was being eroded,
certainly as regards his right td chose the provost. Consequently
he was here trying, almost desperately, to assert his authority
over the election of the bailies for examination of the decreet
shows that the archbishop's demands were unfounded. 216 By the time
of the next election the burgh must have been aware of this fact,
for the archbishop was presented with another leet of only six
names 'for obedience of the decreit obtenit be the last bischop
aganis the towne'.?' On this occasion the archbishop did not

demur.

The removal of Robert Lord Boyd's influence from the burgh and
the advent of Lennox appears to have allowed the archbishop to
assert his independence as superior, at least in relation to the
election of the bailies.?'8 This phenomenon may well have been
caused in part by the govermment's anxiety regarding the rise of
presbyterianism. Unlike Lord Boyd, earl Robert would wish to
support the archbishop rather than diminish his power and status.
In the three elections, 1578-80, the leet was increased to eight
and the old bailies were included. No dissent was recorded until
4 October 1580 when Mr Adam Wallace (leeted but not appointed
bailie) protested 'in name of the baillies counsale and townschip'
that the inclusion of the old bailies on the leets 'be nocht
preiudiciall to thame to induce ony vse or practik of necessite
thairof in tyme cyming'.?2'?

All in all, archbishop Boyd was quite successful in resisting
these attacks. He was also able to emphasise his authority over
the burgh administration when, in October 1578, he insisted on the
appointment of Richard Todd as one of the burgh officers. Todd
had earlier been an officer but in 1577 he was dismissed for gross
maladministration. Clearly the burgh administration did not want
him and on his reappointment Mr Adam Wallace formally protested that

'the chesing of Richert Tode, or ony wther officiare at the requeist
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of my lorde archbischop of Glasgw, preiuge nocht the libertie of
the toun'. Despite this objection Todd, who clearly had friends
in high places, continued as a burgh officer, embarking on a career

in that post which spanned the remainder of this period.220

However the powerlessness of both the archbishop and the burgh
administration in the face of crown influence, seen in 1578, was
emphasised in 1580. Robert, earl of Lennox served two terms as
provost, from 1578 to 1580. By 1580 the king had a new favourite,
Esmé seigneur d'Aubigny, nephew of earl Robert. On 5 March 1580
Robert resigned his title and received in exchange the earldom
of March. On the same day Esmé became earl of Lennox (and in
?" 0n 4 October 1580

the bailies and council of Glasgow received the archbishop's

August 1581 was created duke of Lennox).2

'nomination' (in which he clearly had little choice) of Esmé as
the burgh's new provost 'glaidlie witht reuerance'.??? Compared
to the changes in the membership of the burgh administration
effected in 1578 when earl Robert became provost (which really
affected the council only), the changes that were to be made by

earl Esmé were to be far more dramatic in their scope and effect.

Lennox became provost on 4 October and on the same day three
bailies (George Elphinstone, William Cunninghame and Robert Rowat)
were appointed in the usual way, that is to say by the archbishop.
On 7 October the council was elected and on the following day the
water bailie, the officers, the common procurator, the liners and
the keepers of the keys were chosen in the normal fashion. However
on 19 October Matthew Stewart of Minto (probably in his capacity
as depute bailie of the regality)??> produced an act of the Privy
Council narrating that Elphinstone, Cunninghame and Rowat, the
bailies appointed on 4 October, had demitted office 'at the Kyngis
grace requeist but preiudice of election of the magistratis in
tymes cuming' and had been replaced by Robert Stewart, Hector
Stewart and John Graham (younger), with the approval of archbishop
Boyd. This was announced in the presence of 'the auld counsale
of the yeir preceding', that is the council of 1579-80, not the

council elected on 7 October. On the following day (20 October) a new
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council was chosen and several men were displaced. Unlike 1578,
the three displaced bailies did not cbtain council seats. The
other officials who had been appointed on 8 October were also
changed. Of the original appointees only the water bailie, the
officers (though not their cautioners) and the common procurator
remained in office. Furthermore the key position of common
clerk was also affected. No election was conducted at the next
Whitsun court, held on 16 May 1581, but one week later the then
clerk (Mr Henry Gibson) was displaced and Archibald Hegate entered
in his place, not by due process of election but through the direct
nomination of the earl of Lennox, backed by the authority of the
king.225

Before commenting on the reasons for these changes, and their
consequences, it is useful to put these events into perspective.
Very little is known about the immediate aftermath of the Reformation
and its effects on the administrative personnel of the burgh;
however it would appear that at no point were two sets of bailies
appointed. 226 Similarly although the extant minutes do not cover
the period in late 1573 when Robert Lord Boyd ousted John Stewart
of Minto from the bailieship of the regality and the pfbvostship
of the burgh such evidence as there is suggests a strong degree
of continuity. Mr Henry Gibson was retained in the key position of
common clerk while almost all of the bailies who had served with
Minto since 1565 continued as either bailies or councillors under
Boyd.227 The next major change in regime occurred in October 1578
when Thomas Crawford of Jordanhill, Lord Boyd's nominee, was replaced
by Robert earl of Lennox but, as has been seen, the changes then
made were limited to the council and largely reversed the

fallowing year.228

However the double election of 1580 was, in its comprehensive-
ness, unique in this period of Glasgow's development. It marked the
fulfilment of crown policy which had now confidently exerted its
will on the burgh at the expense of those leaders of the community
who wefe inimicel  to earl Esmés regime. All they could do was enter

protests in the minutes. On 20 October Elphinstone objected that
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'quhatsumevir thing beis done in chesyng of counsale or officiaris
or any wtheris by thame ellis chosin and maid of befoir preiuge
nocht the libertie of the toun and als ... for himself and in name
of the rest of the auld baillies protestit alsua that their new
chesing preiuge nocht thame becaus thair wer nocht requyrit not sutit
thairto'. 222 Elphinstone and his colleagues had obviously been
unimpressed by the crown's assurance that they (the ousted bailies)
had in the past 'behavit thameselffis honestlie and done gude and
thankfull service to his Maiestie ... and the wele of the said
citie'.2%0

What lay behind the purge of October 15807 Broadly speaking
the issues were the same as those which had been behind the events
of 1578 (a fact confirmed by the correlation between the men favoured
by both Lennoxes and those whom the Lennoxes displaced).?31 Just as
earl Robert had been suspicious of Boyd's men so too was earl Esmé
because of Boyd's connection with Morton. At court Esmé provided
a focal point for those nobles who had already tried to oust
Morton in 1578. In June 1580 Esmé was admitted to the Privy
Council where he soon assumed a dominant position at the expense of
Morton whose regime the young king, now in his mid-teens, had
been finding increasingly irksome. Esmé on the other hand had the
trust and affection of the king and was able to have Morton arrested
in December for his part in the murder of Darnley; Morton was
executed in June 1581. 232 It was natural therefore that when
Esmé became provost of Glasgow he should seek to pre-empt any
local difficulties which might arise through his prosecution of
Morton by removing officials who might prove troublesome through
their association with the Morton-Boyd regime. Significantly
none of the men removed had first obtained office under earl Robert:
all had been inherited from either Boyd or from his protége,

Crawford.

Since 1578 the crown and the church had been viewing each other
with growing distrust. The arrival of Esmé from France did nothing
to reassure the presbyterians who regarded him, despite his apparent

conversion to Protestantism, as a Catholic.233 How devout Esmé
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actually was is open to conjecture but he appears to have been

almost forced into a Catholic position by the accusations of the
presbyterians. Certainly he had no sympathies with their aspirations
and instead followed the episcopalian policy adopted by Morton.

Thus the purge of the bailies and councillorsundertaken in Glasgow on.
his arrival may also be regarded as an attempt on his part to secure
the support of moderate Protestants, who might be amenable to
episcopacy, and crypto-Catholics against those leading burgesses

likely to espouse the presbyterian cause.

Certainly some of the men whomhe favoured were sympathetic to
the old faith. John Graham, elder, one of Esmé's appointees, was
probably the same John Graham whose assistance to the Friars Preachers
of Glasgow in the post Reformation period was formally acknowledged
by those men when they conveyed several parcels of their former
property to him in November 1560. Whether or not he retained his
allegiance to Catholicism, he had reasons to dislike Andrew Melville
and by implication all he and his supporters stood for because he
had been forced by Melville (while he was principal of the university)

34 However if there is some

to give up these lands to the college.2
doubt about John Graham the same does not apply to Archibald Hegate,
the new clerk, and Gavin Graham both of whom were convicted of

23> Hegate was again excommunicated by

harbouring Jesuits in 1588.
the presbytery in 1592 as an 'intercommuner with Papists',??6 and
his feelings towards the new regime were clearly expressed when

he wrote in his protocol book of 'monstruous Luther and Calvin with
all thair discipillis' as being 'worthee of deth as furious wolfis
and baris cled in lambis skinnis'.?27 His father, Willaim Hegate,
was of a similar persuasion and was threatened with excommunication
by the kirk session in 1586 for slandercus comments made about the
ministers.?23®  |astly, Convell Struthers, another Lennox man, was
convicted by the presbytery in 1593 for having commented, 'God give

ws grace to leif na wtherwise nor the waye King James the fyft deit
in'. 239

The effects of earl Esmé's purge of the bailies and council

were manifold. The events of October 1580 saw the eclipse of the
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archbishop's authority as superior. He had neither appointed

the provost nor the new bailies. Similarly any hopes which the
burgesses had had that they might obtain a greater say in the
election of the burgh's bailies were, for the time being, thwarted.
More importantly, the double set of 'elections' marked the end of the
apparent reconciliation which earl Robert had effected in 1579.

Esmé opened the wounds anew and split the established burgh

oligarchy into two factions. 240

For convenience the magistracy and council of 1580-81 may be
termed the Lennox faction, men who were expected to be amenable
to earl Esmé's policies. Several had served under his predecessor
earl Robert and a few had political careers which stretched back to
the time of Robert Lord Boyd. Significantly almost 50% of these men
were new to burgh politics, a fact which underlines how Esmé, in
his desire to obtain a sympathetic council, was prepared to break
the power of the existing burgh oligarchy. The need to obtain support
may explain the slight increase in craft representation on the cocuncil
which is notable from 1580-81 onwards, although it must be conceded
that ths increase may be more apparent than real because the
occupétions of several councillors remain unidentified.24? Certainly
the size of the council increased marginally,?*?2 but the clearest
instance of the Lennox regime courting support occurred in July 1581
when the unpopular thirlage legislation introduced under Lord Boyd
(whose role in the thirlage acts was specifically mentioned) was
formally rescinded.?4® Furthermore, in an effort perhaps to retain
an air of legitimacy, several men of what might be termed a middle
party were kept in office. These individuals were among the
established leaders of the administration and included several who
were prominent in the 'inner group' which dominated high office in the
burgh during the 1570s and 1580s. 244  They were acceptable to every
regime of this period including Esmé's administration and the
presbyterian administration which replaced it in 1582. Thus
Robert Stewart, one of the middle party, served both regimes
as a bailie. The middle party probably comprised moderate

Protestants who viewed the episcopalian policies of Lennox
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and the presbyterian opposition to him with a degree of indifference.
So long as neither faction drove its policies home to excess, so long

as their livelihood and status remained secure, they were satisfied.

The men whom earl Esmé displaced, the three bailies (William
Cunninghame, George Elphinstone and Robert Rowat) and ten councillors,
were removed for their strong associations with the Morton-Boyd régime
and their suspected presbyterian sympathies. In fact it is probable
that their presbyterian sympathies were created by Esmé's clumsy
action and that initially their views were akin to those of the
middle party. After all, Morton had supported the bishops while
Boyd out of a similar self interest (the profits liable to accrue
from nepotistic and simoniacal pacts with sympathetic bishops) 242
followed the lead of his patron. It was only after Morton's death
that Boyd embraced presbyterianism by supporting the Ruthven raid. 246
It is likely that the politicisation of the men displaced by Lennox
followed a similar course. At first they had little in common save
a sense of grievance arising from their treatment in October 1580.
However, Esmé effectively created the nucleus of an opposition
group which, even if it did not fully support the presbyterians'
policies, came to identify with their opposition to Leanox and
to his nominee to the archbishopric Mr Robert Montgomery who, in
1581, succeeded James Boyd. For convenience these men will be
styled the presbyterian faction. Some were probably committed to
the doctrine of 'two kingdoms', but for the majority presbyterianism
was a cause to be supported as a means to an end, namely their
return to office. Nonetheless it is noteworthy that many are found
as kirk session members after November 1583 (the session records before
then do not survive) whereas comparatively few of their opposite

numbers of the Lennox faction appeared on that body.247

It is possible to detect the first signs of resistance to the
Lennox regime at the Whitsun elections of 16 May 1581. As the
treasurership always changed hands, the political outlook of William
Symmer, the new treasurer, can not be determined. However it is
significant that Gavin Graham, who had been master of work since 1579

and can be identified as a prominent member of the Lennox faction,
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failed to be re-elected to this post in May 1581. Instead it went

to Matthew Wilson, one of the councillors removed by Lennox in
October 1580. Whereas the Michaelmas appointments were easily
subjected to the provost's will because of the nature of the sett,
the Whitsun elections appear to have involved the community of
burgesses and were thus less open to manipulation. Wilson's election
may therefore reflect the beginnings of resistance to the Lennox
regime. This may also explain why Lennox did not risk an election
for the key post of clerk and instead, as already noted, appointed
Archibald Hegate by direct nomination to that office one week

later. 248

However, so far as can be judged, there was no further opposition
to Lennox during this year. This fact and the apparent reliability of
Matthew Stewart of Minto who had (with his father, Sir John Stewart
of Minto) been acting as depute bailie of the regality for the
Lennox family since 1578, seem to have encouraged earl Esmé to hand
over the provostship to the younger Minto in October 1581.24°  The
Michaelmas elections were conducted in the normal fashion. Leets
were presented to archbishop Montgomery who chose the new bailies who
then, with the old bailies, chose the council. There was a considerable
degree of continuity in the appointments reflecting the maintenance of
the Lennox faction's strong grip on the administration. However there
were already indications of a problem which was to become a dominant

issue in both national and local politics.250

Archbishop Boyd had died in June 1581 2°! and the king had
gifted the see to Mr Robert Montgomery, minister of Stirling, in

52 1t was widely believed that Montgomery,

August while in Glasgow.2
a former supporter of the anti-episcopal party, had entered into a
simoniacal pact with Esmé, now duke of Lennox, whereby as soon as

he was elected and consecrated 'he should dispone the lands, lordships
and whatsoever belonged to that prelacy to the duke and his heirs

for the yearly payment of one thousand pounds Scots ... a vile

bargain it was'.?>> He thus personified to the presyterians
everything that was wrong with crown interference inchurch affairs.

The crown, in anticipation of trouble, formally wrote to the Glasgow
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magistrates and council at the October elections requiring them to

'acknowlege and recognosce and vse his Hienes trusty
and weilbelouit Robert now bischop of Glasgow nocht
onlie in presenting of the lytis [of the bailies]
to him for his electioun and admissioun ... bot
alswa in all other thingis coq@rning thair dewitie
to the bischop as thai wald answer to his hienes
vpon thair obedience ... as to him to quhome our
soueraine lord had conferrit and gifin the said
archbischoprik'.

They responded 'that with thair hart thai wald accept and obey the
254

said lettir in all poyntis’.
One similarity with the 1570s was already apparent: even

assuming that Lennox and Montgomery had not come to a financial

understanding, the choice of Matthew Stewart of Minto as provost

lay not with the new archbishop but with the crown and Lennox. Minto,

as subsequent events were to show was not, however, an ideal choice

from Lennox's point of view. Indeed Lennox may well have been

suspicious of his true leanings for although Minto was” depute

bailie of the regality, he was one of the councillors whom Lennox

had displaced in October 1580. When Lennox had a change of heart

and appointed him provost in 1581 he can not have foreseen that, one

year later, Minto would lead the presbyterian faction in the burgh

to power. Yet examination of the council appointed in October 1581

shows that, although the Lennox faction was still very much in

control, certain prominent men who had been displaced by Esmé

obtained seats, most notably William Cunninghame (one of the deposed

bailies) and Mr Henry Gibson (the former common clerk). For the

moment, however, Minto, an astute politician, remained loyal to

his powerful patron.

The controversy regarding Montgomery's appointment to the see

became manifest at the General Assembly of 17 October 1581 which
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ordered him to remain at
Stirlimg and not to attempt to enter the bishopric on pain of

excommunication. 2%°

However Montgomery, supported by the crown and Lennox, forced
the issue. In March 1582 he attempted to enter the high kirk and
remove the minister, Mr David Wemyss, who was then preaching. On
this occasion a disturbance was prevented by provost Minto who

® The following month he tried again but

restrained the archbishop.25
was opposed by the students led by Mr Thomas Smeaton, their
principal, and Mr Andrew Hay, their rector, together with a group
of sympathatic gentry and burgesses, among them William Cunninghame,
'all bodin in feir of weir with jakkis, steilbonettis, hagbuttis,
pistolettis'. Nonetheless he obtained entry, removed Wemyss and
gave his sermon. 22/ The local presbytery and the General Assembly,
after some attempts at negotiations with Montgomery, found him
intractable and came to the conclusion that excommunication of the
pretended archbishop was the only course left open to them.258
The crown, on the other hand, was still anxious to obtain his
election and consecration, but the cathedral chapter (which had been
reconstituted in 1572 and was now comprised of men of the reformed
faith including leading opponents of Montgomery such as Smeaton

and Hay) refused and was summoned before the Privy Council for

its recalcitrance. 2*?

Matters came to a head locally on 8 June when the magistrates
and council, acting on the instructions of the crown, broke up a
meeting of the Glasgow presbytery which had been convened for the
purpose of excommunicating archbishop Montgomery. Mr John Howeson,
moderator, was assaulted and warded in the tolbooth. This

provoked the students who rioted. 290

The burgh act book refers to this incident eight days later when
it records that a letter had been received from Lennox 'as ane
sufficiente warrande to the baillies and towne to resiste the
violence and bosting of the college incace thai incure ony skaithe

be the toun throw thair awin occatioun'. A considerable space was
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left in the act book for the engrossing of the letter but this was
never done. However the 'tenour' of the duke's letter was recorded:
the king, with regard to the recent disturbances 'be the colleigis
mouit be the ministeris', had ordered the college 'nocht to do the
lyke of it agane' under pain of disobedience and had enjoined the
magistrates and council to keep the peace. They for their part, with
the advice of the craft deacons, agreed that the burgesses who had
taken up arms against their authority were to be summoned to attend
the burgh court on 19 June, an injunction which shows that the
presbyterian opposition had not been confined to the students.
Typically the minutes are silent as to what transpired on that date
or thereafter. They also make no mention of the fact that the
magistrates and several councillors were summoned before the General
Assembly to answer for their attacks on the presbytery and the

students. 267

By the time that the General Assembly dealt with their case there
was a third charge to answer. Shortly after the violent events in
June, archbishop Montgomery had been excommunicated?62 but despite
this several of the Glasgow men had continued to consort with him.

The men accused on all these points were the leaders of-the

Lennox faction: provost Minto, bailies Campbell and Graham (but
significantly not Robert Stewart who belonged to the middle party),
Archibald Hegate (the common clerk) and councillors Gavin Graham,

John Graham elder, William Hegate, John Muir, Hector Stewart and
Malcolm Stewart. Proceedings began on 27 June and it was agreed

that they should be excommunicated. However pronouncement of sentence
was delayed because the Assembly hoped that the crown would drop the
proceedings raised against the Glasgow 'brethren' and others for

their part in Montgomery's excommunication.?6® Then in August 1582
there occurred the revolution known as the Ruthven raid. The earls of
Mar and Gowrie seized the king and compelled Lennox to flee to the
west and, finally, France(where he died in May 1583.264 The Ruthven
lords were sympathetic to the presbyterians and they for their part
endorsed the lords' action at a General Assembly held in October.26?
Archbishop Montgomery's position was now impossible and the Glasgow

Lennox party could no longer count on the Privy Council to protect
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them from the wrath of the presbyterians.

The astute Minto was however able to disassociate himself from
his Lennox colleagues. He appears to have been loyal to Lennox so
long as that noble had been able to support him. The event which
almost certainly decided him in his resolve to quit his allegiance
(over and above the difficulties his loyalty to Lennox and Montgomery
had brought him to with regard to the General Assembly) occurred
in July 1582 when he andothers(including George Elphinstone, one
of the bailies whom Lennox had deposed in 1580) were ordered to
pay their rents owing to archbishop Montgomery on pain of being

66 By the time of the revolution of

warded at Inverness castle.?
August 1582 he must have been eager to embrace the presbyterian cause.
His change of allegiance was facilitated by the fact that his half-
brother, Walter Stewart, commendator of Blantyre, was favoured by the
Ruthven lords and later became a privy councillor during their

regime. 267

Thus he was able to retain the provostship, and the magistracy
and council which was appointed in October 1582 shows the lengths
to which he was prepared to go in order to court favour with the

presbyterians and hence the Ruthven government.

On 2 October the old council, still dominated by men of the
Lennox faction, prepared the leets for the bailieships. As the
archbishop was not at the castle it proceeded to elect John Graham
elder, Hector Stewart and Mr Adam Wallace as bailies. Nonetheless
on the next day Graham and Stewart appeared before the Lennox council
and asked to berelieved of office. What had happened was made clear
when Graham protested that 'the quhilk he haide at the requeist of
Sir Mathow Stewarde of Mynto'. Minto then, with the advice of his
brother Walter Stewart 'direct from the Kingis Maiestie' (that is,
the Ruthven lords) presented a commission for the election of
William Cunninghame, Robert Stewart and Mr Adam Wallace. Thus Wallace,
who had not been involved in the troubles of the preceding summer,
survived but John Graham and Hector Stewart, whose cases before the

General Assembly were still pending, were dismissed. Just as earl
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Esmé had purged the senior officials, the presbyterian faction which
was now in the ascendant adopted the same approach. The two displaced
bailies entered a formal protest on 4 October that 'na thing done heir
sould preiuge thame in nominatioun of baillies becaus thee maiste
parte of the pluralite was wyth theme in woting'. Even their
replacements were concerned for it was clear to all that, questions

of 'party' apart, the liberties of the burgh were being steadily
eroded by the interference of successive court factions. Thus
Cunninghame and Wallace also protested 'in name and behalfe of the
haill toun' that these actions should not be prejudicial to the
burgh's 'auld ancient libertie'.?%® Evidently, whatever feelings

the burgesses had previously had regarding the archbishop's control
over the appointment of the bailies, there was a growing awareness
that the burgh was impotent in the face of crown involvement.
Archbishop Montgomery, now an excommunicant, politically and

socially isolated, played no part whatsoever in these events.

Minto did not stop with the bailies. The new council was
elected on 4 October and the turnover in membership in this election
surpassed all other elections in this period, including the purge
effected by Esmé in October 1580. Whereas Lennox displaced three
bailies and ten councillors, Minto removed two bailies and seventeen
councillors. In fact the double elections of 1580 make Lennox's
action appear more extreme than it actually was for he retained 63%
of the first council in senior posts. Only 37% of the 1581-82
council survived the 1582 election?25®  The Lennox faction was now
deposed and had been replaced by the presbyterian faction which
was comprised of two groups of men: those whom Lennox had removed
in 1580 and new appointees. The former included several very
prominent burgesses who, like the middle party, dominated the
magistracy and council during the 1570s and 1580s. Thus in one
respect the coup of 1582 saw a return to the status quo, a
reconstruction of the ruling oligarchy of the Boyd period. These
men seem to have used the aspirations of the presbyterians to
regain their position, although some were probably genuinely
committed to the presbyterian cause. The new appointees show how

far Minto was determined to establish his credibility with the
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General Assembly for they included in their number Mr Andrew Hay
and Mr Thomas Smeaton, the rector and principal of the college,
who had led the opposition to archbishop Montgomery earlier in the
year and who were also prominent on the General Assembly. 270

It only remained for Minto to make his peace with the Assembly
and this he did by shifting the blame for the attacks on the
presbytery and the students onto his former colleagues, the Lennox
faction men, all of whom had been removed from the council on &
October. On 9 October the Assembly met at Edinburgh and the
guilt for the events of June was largely borne by Gavin Graham who,
despite his denials, was held responsible 'for the counsel given to the
laird of Minto in the violence used against Mr John Howesone'. Minto
appeared personally and agreed to submit to the kirk. Both his case
and the case against John Graham elder were referred to the local
presbytery for punishment and in the case of Minto at least it
seems that he was not excommunicated, as he continued to act as provost.
All the others who had been involved in the events of June were
sentenced to be excommunicated in the high kirk of Glasgow by Mr
David Wemyss and were 'to satisfie the iniunctiouns usit against
murtherers, incestuous persons ... before they be absoluit'. 277
Archibald Hegate, the common clerk, appears to have been absolved
(assuming he was ever in fact excommunicated) because there is no
indication that he lost his office. Hegate's retention is in
itself significant for he undoubtedly was a leading Lennox supporter
and a crypto-Catholic. His survival may be accounted for by the
fact that the clerk was not chosen by the bailies and councillors
at Michaelmas but by the whole community of burgesses at the Whitsun
perambulation. Only earl Esmé, in 1581, had ignored this process.
Minto and his colleagues did not and at Whitsun 1583 Hegate was re-
elected from a leet of three by the burgesses, which would suggest
that there was still support for the Lennox cause, or at least some

opposition to the presbyterians, from the wider community.

The presbyterian hegemony was short-lived, both at the national
level and in local affairs. In June 1583 the king escaped from the

Ruthven lords and a new government was formed headed by James Stewart,
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earl of Arran. At first the new regime moved slowly, avoiding

a full confrontation with the church over the Montgomery issue.

Indeed it settled a long standing grievance of the General Assembly

by forcing the archbishop to settle the stipend of Stirling parish

not on his son but on his successor in the parish.?’2 The archbishop .
remained in the political wilderness and for the second successive

year the provost of Glasgow was appointed by the group then uppermost

at court without reference to Montgomery. Minto was removed from office

and replaced by John Graham earl of Montrose. 273

As to continuity, the three bailies (Cunninghame, Wallace and
Robert Stewart) remained as bailies and twelve councillors were
retained representing 58% of the administration which had served
Minto. More significantly a small number of Lennox men returned
while among those removed were the more extreme presbyterians,

Mr Andrew Hay and Mr Thomas Smeaton. In terms of the 'parties',
the administration of 1583-84 represented a balance between middle
party men (the moderate Protestants who had not become embroiled
in the excesses of the preceding period) and the moderates of the
Lennox and presbyterian pressure groups. The extreme members of

the two factions had now been displaced.274

The crown's policy now envisaged the return to power of the
Lennox interest in the person of the nine year old Ludovick, son

3. 275 In December 1583 Montrose

of Esmé, who became duke in July 158
resigned the bailieship into the hands of duke Ludovick and his
guardian and grand-uncle Robert earl of March (the former earl of

Lennox) . 276

Although archbishop Montgomery's excommunication had almost
immediately been declared null by the Privy Council (in July 1582) 277
he had remained in the eyes of all a social outcast, particularly
during the rule of the Ruthven lords. When Ludovick became duke
of Lennox in July 1583 he had obtained control of the fruits of
the temporalities of the see,?278 thus effecting the aims of the supposed
simoniacal pact which Montgomery and Ludovick's father had concluded
in 1580. The archbishop was now even more of a political embarrassment,

having outlasted his usefulness. Nonetheless the crown could hardly
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remove him since the Arran regime, like that of Lennox, remained
committed to the maintenance of episcopacy. Thus the Black Acts

of May 1584 which bapnned unauthorised kirk assemblies and confirmed
the crown's control of the church through its bishops, also included
a formal annulment of Montgomery's excommunication.?’? In July the
king wrote to the magistrates and council of Glasgow anncuncingthat
Montgomery had been 'reponit to his former estait' and ordering

them to assist him in the execution of his duties.?80  Thus
Montgomery was able to function as superior of the burgh and in

both 1584 and 1585 his role in the nomination of the provost was
recorded and he did choose the bailies from leets presented to
him.287 In the case of the former's appointment Montgomery was of
course merely a mouthpiece for the government but at least his

position was acknowledged.z82

The new provost in 1584 was Sir William Livingstone of Kilsyth
who, 1ike Montrose, was associated with the Lennox interest which

3 Montrose, no doubt

Arran and the king were intent on promoting.28
because of pressures of state business,